
 www.ofallon.org Broadcast “live” on Charter Ch. 993 and AT&T U-Verse Ch. 99 

 
 

 

CITY OF O’FALLON 
 

GARY L. GRAHAM  ALDERMAN    
Mayor  Gene McCoskey Ward 1 Matt Smallheer Ward 4 

  Richie Meile Ward 1 Michael Bennett Ward 5 
PHILIP A. GOODWIN DAVID H. HURSEY Jerry Albrecht Ward 2 Courtney Marsh Ward 5 
City Clerk City Treasurer Robert Kueker Ward 2 Ray Holden Ward 6 

  Kevin Hagarty Ward 3 Ned Drolet Ward 6 
Walter Denton  Matthew Gilreath Ward 3 David Cozad Ward 7 
City Administrator  Herb Roach Ward 4 Harlan Gerrish Ward 7 

 
CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

A G E N D A 
Monday, June 20, 2016 

7:00 P.M. – Council Chambers 
          
I. CALL TO ORDER 
 
II.    PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 
III.   ROLL CALL 
 
IV.   APPROVAL OF MINUTES – June 6, 2016 
 
V. PUBLIC HEARING  
    
VI.   REPORTS 

A. Residents of O’Fallon – This portion of the City Council meeting is reserved for any 
resident wishing to address Council. The Illinois Open Meetings Act (5 ILCS 120/1) 
mandates NO action shall be taken on matters not listed on this agenda, but Council 
may direct staff to address the topic or refer the matter to a committee. Please 
provide City Clerk with name & address; speak into microphone; limit presentation to 
3 minutes; and avoid repetitious comments. Thank you.  

   
B. Clerk’s Report  

1. Request from Random Acts to conduct a Split the Pot at St. Clair Bowl on June 
25, 2016  

2. Request from Hands to Help NFP to conduct a Split the Pot at St. Clair Bowl on 
July 16, 2016  
 

 
C. Mayor’s Report 
1. Appointment of Library Board members: Larry Morrison, Linda Kahley and Betty 

Reed to three year terms; Nancy Clark and Suzanne Rupright (New member) to two 
year terms; Harriet Baker, Doug Distler and Dennis Grimmer to one year terms 

2. Proclamation declaring June 20, 2016 as Milkhelia Flores Day, Mexico Rotary 
Exchange Student 

3. Announcement that this month’s meeting of the Southwestern Illinois Council of 
Mayors will be held June 23rd at the Swansea Moose Lodge  

http://www.ofallon.org/


 
VII. RESOLUTIONS – 

ITEM 1 – Resolution authorizing the Mayor to sign an Illinois Department of 
Transportation (IDOT) local agency agreement for Federal participation for the 
construction of the Hinchcliffe, Schaefer and Kampmeyer Elementary School Sidewalks 
Project in the amount of $241,000.00, Section 15-00070-00-SW 
ITEM 2 – Resolution authorizing the Transfer of Funds from General Fund Reserves to 
be used for equipment and building updates for the 9-1-1 Consolidation Center in the 
amount of $250,000 
ITEM 3 – Resolution authorizing the City of O’Fallon to enter into a Mutual Aid 
Agreement with the Illinois Law Enforcement Alarm System (ILEAS) 

 
VIII.  ORDINANCES   

A. 1st reading – 
ITEM 4 – Ord. amending Chapter 77, Stop Sign – Hesse and N. Madison  
ITEM 5 – Ord. authorizing the execution of the Redevelopment Agreement with Metro 
Inflatables, LLC (Fezziwig’s) 
ITEM 6 – Ord. approving the Final Plat of Milburn Estates, 1st Addition  
ITEM 7 – Ord. approving the Final Plat of Parkview Meadows – Phase 1  
ITEM 8 – Ord. amending Development known as Lincoln Park Villas PUD, located at 
1159 Lincoln Avenue 
ITEM 9 – Ord. amending Section 158.037 (6) of Chapter 158: Zoning  
 
B. 2ND Reading –  
ITEM 10 – Ord. amending Chapter 30 “City Council regarding Rules of Order and 
Procedure” of the Code of Ordinances  
ITEM 11 – Ord. amending Chapter 77, Traffic Schedules, Schedule III, Stop/Through 
Street Intersections  

 
IX.   STANDING COMMITTEES 

1. Community Development – Minutes attached 
2.  Public Works  
3.  Public Safety – Minutes attached - Motion to reinstate the School Crossing Guard 
Program  
4.  Finance and Administration  

  a) Motion to approve Warrant #352 in the amount of $559,066.87 
5.  Parks/Environment  
 

X. EXECUTIVE SESSION – Occasionally, the Council may go into closed session in order 
to discuss such items covered under 5 ILCS 120/2 (b) which are as follows:  Legal Matters; 
Purchase, Lease or Sale of Real Estate; Setting of a price for sale or lease of property owned 
by the public body; Employment/appointment matters; Business matters or Security/criminal 
matters and may possibly vote on such items after coming out of closed session. 
 
XI.   ACTION TAKEN ON EXECUTIVE SESSION ITEMS 
 
XII.  ADJOURNMENT 



O’FALLON CITY COUNCIL 
MINUTES OF THE REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING 

Draft June 6, 2016 
 
The regular meeting was called to order at 7:00 p.m. by Mayor Graham who led the 
Council in reciting “The Pledge of Allegiance.”   
 
Maryanne Fair, Deputy City Clerk, called the roll: Gene McCoskey, present; Richie 
Meile, present; Jerry Albrecht, present; Robert Kueker, present; Kevin Hagarty, present; 
Herb Roach, present; Matthew Smallheer, present; Michael Bennett, present; Courtney 
Marsh, present; Ray Holden, present; Ned Drolet, present; David Cozad, present; 
Harlan Gerrish, present.  A quorum was declared present. 
 
APPROVAL OF MINUTES:  Mayor Graham asked for approval of the minutes.  Motion 
was made by J. Albrecht and seconded by K. Hagarty to approve the minutes of May 
16, 2016.  All ayes.  Motion carried. 
 
PUBLIC HEARING – Mayor Graham opened the Public Hearing at 7:01 p.m. for an 
annexation agreement with Randolph L. and Tammi R. Patterson for approximately 5.23 
acres located at 8717 Oak Hill School Road, Lebanon, Parcel 04-22.0-400.011.  He 
called three times for input but no one came forward.  He closed the meeting at 7:02 
p.m. 
 
REPORTS:   
 
Clerk’s Report:  Deputy City Clerk Fair read the following requests: 
 

1. Request from O’Fallon Kiwanis Club to conduct a roadblock on Friday, 
October 21 from 4 – 6 p.m. and Saturday, October 22, 2016 from 8:00 
a.m. – 12:00 p.m. at the intersections of State and Lincoln and State and 
Smiley 
 

2. Request from O’Fallon Kiwanis Club to conduct a raffle for alcohol from 
June 15 – August 20, 2016  
 

3. Request from Hearts ‘n’ Hands Quilt Guild to conduct a raffle for a quilt 
from June 7 – December 13, 2016  

 
N. Drolet asked that the roadblock be voted on separately.  Motion by M. Bennett and 
seconded by R. Meile to approve the roadblock request.   
 
ROLL CALL: McCoskey, aye; Meile, aye; Albrecht, aye; Kueker, aye; Hagarty, aye; 
Roach, aye; Smallheer, aye; Bennett, aye; Marsh, aye; Holden, aye; Drolet, no; Cozad, 
aye, Gerrish, aye.  Ayes: 12; no: 1.  Motion carried. 
 



City Council Meeting  Page 2 of 4 
June 6, 2016 
 

Motion by H. Roach and seconded by K. Hagarty to approve request #2. All ayes. 
Motion carried. 
 
Motion by M. Bennett and seconded by K. Hagarty to approve request #3. All ayes. 
Motion carried. 
 
RESIDENTS:  Mayor Graham asked if anyone wished to come forward to speak to the 
Council. No one came forward. 
 
Mayor’s Report:   Mayor Graham asked Paul Evans, Chamber President, and Debbie 
Arell-Martinez, Chamber Director to come forward.  He read a Proclamation declaring 
June 11, 2016 as Salute to Scott Appreciation Day. 
 
Mayor Graham introduced Matthew Gilreath as his recommendation for alderman for 
Ward 3.  Motion by D. Cozad and seconded by J. Albrecht to appoint Matthew Gilreath 
as Ward 3 Alderman.   
 
ROLL CALL: McCoskey, aye; Meile, aye; Albrecht, aye; Kueker, aye; Hagarty, aye; 
Roach, aye; Smallheer, aye; Bennett, aye; Marsh, aye; Holden, aye; Drolet, aye; Cozad, 
aye, Gerrish, aye.  All ayes.  Motion carried. 
 
Mayor Graham swore Alderman Gilreath in and he assumed his seat. 
 
RESOLUTIONS:  Motion by J. Albrecht and seconded by G. McCoskey to consider 
resolution, items 1 – 4 under the Omnibus agreement.  All ayes. Motion carried. 
 
J. Albrecht read the resolutions: 
 

Item 1 – Resolution authorizing the Mayor to sign an annexation agreement with 
Randolph and Tammi Patterson for 8717 Oak Hill School Road 
 
Item 2 – Resolution ascertaining the Prevailing Rate of Wages for laborers, 
workmen, and mechanics employed by contractors or subcontractors in the 
performance of Public Works contracts from June 1, 2016 to May 31, 2017 
 
Item 3 – Resolution authorizing the Mayor to execute an agreement with Ehret, 
Inc. for the Green Mount Road water main relocation in an amount of 
$126,208.20, based on the unit prices bid 
 
Item 4 – Resolution authorizing the mayor to execute agreements Thouvenot, 
Wade & Moerchen, Inc. (TWM) for the design of the Simmons and Bethel Road 
water main extension in an amount of $61,500.00 

 
Motion by J. Albrecht and seconded by G. McCoskey to approve resolution, items 1 – 4 
under the previously approved Omnibus agreement.   
 



City Council Meeting  Page 3 of 4 
June 6, 2016 
 

ROLL CALL: McCoskey, aye; Meile, aye; Albrecht, aye; Kueker, aye; Hagarty, aye; 
Gilreath, aye; Roach, aye; Smallheer, aye; Bennett, aye; Marsh, aye; Holden, aye; 
Drolet, aye; Cozad, aye, Gerrish, aye.  All ayes.  Motion carried. 
 
ORDINANCES:  
 
1st Reading –  
 
Motion by J. Albrecht and seconded by M. Bennett to consider 1st reading, Item 5, an 
Ordinance amending Chapter 30 “City Council regarding Rules of Order and Procedure” 
of the Code of Ordinances. 
 
After reading Item 6:  ROLL CALL: McCoskey, aye; Meile, aye; Albrecht, aye; Kueker, 
aye; Hagarty, aye; Gilreath, aye; Roach, aye; Smallheer, aye; Bennett, aye; Marsh, aye; 
Holden, aye; Drolet, aye; Cozad, aye, Gerrish, aye.  All ayes.  Motion carried. 
 
Motion by J. Albrecht and seconded by G. McCoskey to consider 1st reading, Item 6, an 
Ordinance amending Chapter 77, Traffic Schedules, Schedule III, Stop/Through Street 
Intersections. 
 
ROLL CALL: McCoskey, aye; Meile, aye; Albrecht, aye; Kueker, aye; Hagarty, aye; 
Gilreath, aye; Roach, aye; Smallheer, aye; Bennett, aye; Marsh, aye; Holden, aye; 
Drolet, aye; Cozad, aye, Gerrish, aye.  All ayes.  Motion carried. 
 
2nd Readings – Motion by J. Albrecht and seconded by G. McCoskey to consider on 
2nd Reading, Items 7 –  10 under the Omnibus agreement.  All ayes. Motion carried. 
 
J. Albrecht read the following: 
 

Item 7 – Ord. amending Chapter 77, Schedule VI - Truck Routes 
 
Item 8 – Ord. amending Chapter 75, regarding Vehicle weight and load limits, 
permits and penalties 
 
Item 9 – Ord. amending Chapter 70, General Provisions on weight 
 
Item 10 – Ord. establishing an Administrative Hearing Procedure to determine 
eligibility under the Public Safety Employee Benefits Act 

 
Motion by J. Albrecht and seconded by G. McCoskey to approve on 2nd Reading, Items 
7 – 10 under the previous Omnibus agreement.   
 
ROLL CALL: McCoskey, aye; Meile, aye; Albrecht, aye; Kueker, aye; Hagarty, aye; 
Gilreath, aye; Roach, aye; Smallheer, aye; Bennett, aye; Marsh, aye; Holden, aye; 
Drolet, aye; Cozad, aye, Gerrish, aye.  All ayes.  Motion carried. 
 



City Council Meeting  Page 4 of 4 
June 6, 2016 
 

STANDING COMMITTEES –  
 
Community Development:  J. Albrecht stated they will meet next Monday. 
 
Public Works:  G. McCoskey stated they will meet June 27th at 7:00 p.m. at the Public 
Safety Building. 
 
Public Safety:  C. Marsh said they will meet next Monday at 5:00 p.m. at the Public 
Safety Building.   
 
Finance/Administration:  M. Bennett said they met prior to this meeting. M. Bennett 
made a motion seconded by J. Albrecht to approve Warrant #351 in the amount of 
$1,376,500.73. 
 
ROLL CALL: McCoskey, aye; Meile, aye; Albrecht, aye; Kueker, aye; Hagarty, aye; 
Gilreath, aye; Roach, aye; Smallheer, aye; Bennett, aye; Marsh, aye; Holden, aye; 
Drolet, aye; Cozad, aye, Gerrish, aye.  All ayes.  Motion carried. 
 
Parks and Environment:  R. Holden said they would meet in July. 
 
Mayor Graham announced that the work on Simmons Road is due to be completed on 
August 29th and possibly before school starts. They are moving utilities now per the City 
Engineer.  D. Cozad said there are updates on the website. 
 
EXECUTIVE SESSION:   Mayor Graham stated there is no closed session. 
 
ADJOURNMENT:  Motion by J. Albrecht and seconded by R. Kueker to adjourn.  All 
ayes.  Motion carried.  
 
The meeting was adjourned at 7:20 p.m. 
 
Submitted by, 
 
 
 
__________________________ 
Philip A. Goodwin 
City Clerk            
              
Minutes recorded by 
Maryanne Fair, Deputy City Clerk 
Proper notice having been duly given 



https://ofallonil-my.sharepoint.com/personal/mfair_ofallon_org/Documents/Documents/mfdocs/Staff Reports^J Letters^J and Memos 
2016/160620SidewalksHinchEKMarieS.docx 

CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEMS 

To:  Mayor Graham and City Council 

From:  Jeff Taylor, Director of Public Works 

Walter, Denton, City Administrator 

Date:  June 20, 2016 

Subject: RESOLUTION – IDOT Local Agency Agreement for Federal Participation for 
the Hinchcliffe, Schaefer and Kampmeyer Elementary School Sidewalks 
Project. 

 
List of committees that have reviewed: Public Works 
 
Background:   The Hinchcliffe, Schaefer and Kampmeyer Elementary School Sidewalk Project 
was on the IDOT letting last week. The approval of this agreement is needed prior to awarding of 
the contract by IDOT. This document is the construction funding agreement which stipulates the 
ITEP and Local Public Agency MFT funds allocated for the project.  
 
Legal Considerations, if any:  None beyond providing IDOT the documentation needed to 
show support of the agreement.  
 
Budget Impact:  Funding is provided by the local MFT and ITEP. 
 
Staff recommendation:  Staff recommends executing the Agreement with IDOT, providing the 
paperwork they need for administration of the project. 



CITY OF O’FALLON, ILLINOIS 
RESOLUTION 2016 - 

 
AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO SIGN AN ILLINOIS DEPARTMENT OF 

TRANSPORTATION (IDOT) LOCAL AGENCY AGREEMENT FOR FEDERAL 
PARTICIPATION FOR THE CONSTRUCTION OF THE HINCHCLIFFE, SCHAEFER 

AND KAMPMEYER ELEMANTARY SCHOOL SIDEWALKS PROJECT IN THE 
AMOUNT OF $241,000.00, SECTION 15-00070-00-SW 

 
WHEREAS, the City of O’Fallon, a municipal corporation, has a need to construct 

sidewalks at Hinchcliffe, Schaefer and Kampmeyer Elementary School and, 
 

WHEREAS, the City of O’Fallon, a municipal corporation, needs a formal agreement with 
IDOT to carry out that work. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL OF 
THE CITY OF O’FALLON, ST. CLAIR COUNTY, ILLINOIS AS FOLLOWS: 

 
The City of O’Fallon authorized its appropriate representatives to sign the IDOT Local Agency 
Agreement for Federal Participation for the construction of the Milburn School Road Sidewalk & 
Pedestrian Bridge project. 
 
 
Passed and approved this 20th day of June 2016. 

 

 

ATTEST:      Approved: 
 

 
 
 
__________________________   ______________________________ 
Philip A. Goodwin, City Clerk   Gary L. Graham, Mayor 
 



Printed 4/28/2016 Page 1 of 5 BLR 05310 (Rev. 06/12/15) 

 

Local Public Agency 
 

City of O'Fallon 

State Contract 
 
XX 

Day Labor 
 
      

Local Contract 
 
      

RR Force Account 
 
      

Local Public Agency Agreement 
for Federal Participation 

Section 
 
15-00070-00-SW 

Fund Type 
 
ITEP 

ITEP, SRTS, or HSIP Number(s)  
 
8T2305 

 
Construction Engineering Right-of-Way 

Job Number Project Number Job Number Project Number Job Number Project Number 

C-98-309-15 TE-00D8(210)                         
 
This Agreement is made and entered into between the above local public agency, hereinafter referred to as the “LPA”, and the State of 
Illinois, acting by and through its Department of Transportation, hereinafter referred to as “STATE”.  The STATE and LPA jointly 
propose to improve the designated location as described below.  The improvement shall be constructed in accordance with plans 
prepared by, or on behalf of the LPA, approved by the STATE and the STATE’s policies and procedures approved and/or required by 
the Federal Highway Administration, hereinafter referred to as “FHWA”. 

Location 

Local Name Various sidewalks around schools Route Various Length 0.76 mi 
 
Termini Hinchcliffe, Schaefer and Kampmeyer elementary school sidewalks 
 
      
 
Current Jurisdiction City of O'Fallon, State of IL  TIP Number 6539-15  Existing Structure No N/A 
 

Project Description 
The project consists of building sidewalks (4' to 6' wide) around schools and all necessary work to complete the project. 

Division of Cost 
 

Type of Work ITEP  %    % LPA % Total 
Participating Construction 173,912 ( * )       (     ) 67,088 ( BAL ) 241,000 
Non-Participating Construction       (     )       (     )       (     )  
Preliminary Engineering       (     )       (     )       (     )  
Construction Engineering       (     )       (     )       (     )  
Right of Way       (     )       (     )       (     )  
Railroads       (     )       (     )       (     )  
Utilities       (     )       (     )       (     )  
Materials                                      
TOTAL $ 173,912  $   $ 67,088  $ 241,000 

 *80% ITEP Funds not to exceed $173,912  

        
 
NOTE: 

  
 

 

 

The costs shown in the Division of Cost table are approximate and subject to change.  The final LPA share is dependent on the final Federal 
and State participation.  The actual costs will be used in the final division of cost for billing and reimbursment.  

 

If funding is not a percentage of the total, place an asterisk in the space provided for the percentage and explain above. 

Local Public Agency Appropriation 
 

By execution of this Agreement, the LPA attests that sufficient moneys have been appropriated or reserved by resolution or ordinance 
to fund the LPA share of project costs.  A copy of the authorizing resolution or ordinance is attached as an addendum (required for 
State-let contracts only) 
 Method of Financing (State Contract Work Only) 

 

METHOD A---Lump Sum (80% of LPA Obligation)        
METHOD B---       Monthly Payments of        due by the       of each successive month. 
METHOD C---LPA’s Share BALANCE divided by estimated total cost multiplied by actual progress payment. 
 
 (See page two for details of the above methods and the financing of Day Labor and Local Contracts)  

  



Printed 4/28/2016 Page 2 of 5 BLR 05310 (Rev. 06/12/15) 

Agreement Provisions 
 
 

THE LPA AGREES: 

 

(1) To acquire in its name, or in the name of the STATE if on the STATE highway system, all right-of-way necessary for this project in 
accordance with the requirements of Titles II and III of the Uniform Relocation Assistance and Real Property Acquisition Policies Act 
of 1970, and established State policies and procedures.  Prior to advertising for bids, the LPA shall certify to the STATE that all 
requirements of Titles II and III of said Uniform Act have been satisfied.  The disposition of encroachments, if any, will be 
cooperatively determined by representatives of the LPA, and the STATE and the FHWA, if required. 

(2) To provide for all utility adjustments, and to regulate the use of the right-of-way of this improvement by utilities, public and private, in 
accordance with the current Utility Accommodation Policy for Local Agency Highway and Street Systems. 

(3) To provide for surveys and the preparation of plans for the proposed improvement and engineering supervision during construction 
of the proposed improvement. 

(4) To retain jurisdiction of the completed improvement unless specified otherwise by addendum (addendum should be accompanied 
by a location map).  If the improvement location is currently under road district jurisdiction, an addendum is required. 

(5) To maintain or cause to be maintained, in a manner satisfactory to the STATE and the FHWA, the completed improvement, or that 
portion of the completed improvement within its jurisdiction as established by addendum referred to in item 4 above. 

(6) To comply with all applicable Executive Orders and Federal Highway Acts pursuant to the Equal Employment Opportunity and 
Nondiscrimination Regulations required by the U.S. Department of Transportation. 

(7) To maintain, for a minimum of 3 years after final project close-out by the STATE, adequate books, records and supporting 
documents to verify the amounts, recipients and uses of all disbursements of funds passing in conjunction with the contract; the 
contract and all books, records and supporting documents related to the contract shall be available for review and audit by the 
Auditor General and the department; and the LPA agrees to cooperate fully with any audit conducted by the Auditor General and 
the STATE; and to provide full access to all relevant materials. Failure to maintain the books, records and supporting documents 
required by this section shall establish a presumption in favor of the STATE for the recovery of any funds paid by the STATE under 
the contract for which adequate books, records and supporting documentation are not available to support their purported 
disbursement. 

(8) To provide if required, for the improvement of any railroad-highway grade crossing and rail crossing protection within the limits of 
the proposed improvement. 

(9) To comply with Federal requirements or possibly lose (partial or total) Federal participation as determined by the FHWA. 

(10) (State Contracts Only)  That the method of payment designated on page one will be as follows: 
Method A - Lump Sum Payment.  Upon award of the contract for this improvement, the LPA will pay to the STATE within thirty 

(30) calendar days of billing, in lump sum, an amount equal to 80% of the LPA’s estimated obligation incurred under 
this Agreement.  The LPA  will pay to the STATE the remainder of the LPA’s obligation (including any nonparticipating 
costs) within thirty (30)  calendar days of billing in a lump sum, upon completion of the project based on final costs. 

Method B - Monthly Payments.  Upon award of the contract for this improvement, the LPA will pay to the STATE, a specified 
amount each month for an estimated period of months, or until 80% of the LPA’s estimated obligation under the 
provisions of the Agreement has been paid, and will pay to the STATE the remainder of the LPA’s obligation 
(including any nonparticipating costs) in a lump sum, upon completion of the project based upon final costs. 

Method C -  Progress Payments.  Upon receipt of the contractor’s first and subsequent progressive bills for this improvement, the 
LPA will pay to the STATE within thirty (30) calendar days of receipt, an amount equal to the LPA’s share of the 
construction cost divided by the estimated total cost, multiplied by the actual payment (appropriately adjusted for 
nonparticipating costs) made to the contractor until the entire obligation incurred under this Agreement has been paid. 

Failure to remit the payment(s) in a timely manner as required under Methods A, B, or C, shall allow the STATE to internally offset, 
reduce, or deduct the arrearage from any payment or reimbursement due or about to become due and payable from the STATE to 
LPA on this or any other contract.  The STATE, at its sole option, upon notice to the LPA, may place the debt into the Illinois 
Comptroller’s Offset System (15 ILCS 405/10.05) or take such other and further action as my be required to recover the debt.   

(11) (Local Contracts or Day Labor)  To provide or cause to be provided all of the initial funding, equipment, labor, material and services 
necessary to construct the complete project.  

(12) (Preliminary Engineering)  In the event that right-of-way acquisition for, or actual construction of, the project for which this 
preliminary engineering is undertaken with Federal participation is not started by the close of the tenth fiscal year following the fiscal 
year in which the project is federally authorized, the LPA will repay the STATE any Federal funds received under the terms of this 
Agreement. 

(13) (Right-of-Way Acquisition)  In the event that the actual construction of the project on this right-of-way is not undertaken by the close 
of the twentieth fiscal year following the fiscal year in which the project is federally authorized, the LPA will repay the STATE any 
Federal Funds received under the terms of this Agreement. 

 



Printed 4/28/2016 Page 3 of 5 BLR 05310 (Rev. 06/12/15) 

(14) (Railroad Related Work Only)  The estimates and general layout plans for at-grade crossing improvements should be forwarded to 
the Rail Safety and Project Engineer, Room 204, Illinois Department of Transportation, 2300 South Dirksen Parkway, Springfield, 
Illinois, 62764.  Approval of the estimates and general layout plans should be obtained prior to the commencement of railroad 
related work.  All railroad related work is also subject to approval be the Illinois Commerce Commission (ICC).  Final inspection for 
railroad related work should be coordinated through appropriate IDOT District Bureau of Local Roads and Streets office. 
Plans and preemption times for signal related work that will be interconnected with traffic signals shall be submitted to the ICC for 
review and approval prior to the commencement of work.  Signal related work involving interconnects with state maintained traffic 
signals should also be coordinated with the IDOT’s District Bureau of Operations. 
The LPA is responsible for the payment of the railroad related expenses in accordance with the LPA/railroad agreement prior to 
requesting reimbursement from IDOT.  Requests for reimbursement should be sent to the appropriate IDOT District Bureau of Local 
Roads and Streets office. 
Engineer’s Payment Estimates shall be in accordance with the Division of Cost on page one. 

(15) And certifies to the best of its knowledge and belief its officials: 
(a) are not presently debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment, declared ineligible or voluntarily excluded from covered 

transactions by any Federal department or agency; 
(b) have not within a three-year period preceding this Agreement been convicted of or had a civil judgment rendered against them 

for commission of fraud or a criminal offense in connection with obtaining, attempting to obtain, or performing a public (Federal, 
State or local) transaction or contract under a public transaction; violation of Federal or State antitrust statutes or commission of 
embezzlement, theft, forgery, bribery, falsification or destruction of records, making false statements receiving stolen property; 

(c) are not presently indicted for or otherwise criminally or civilly charged by a governmental entity (Federal, State, local) with 
commission of any of the offenses enumerated in item (b) of this certification; and 

(d) have not within a three-year period preceding the Agreement had one or more public transactions (Federal, State, local) 
terminated for cause or default. 

(16) To include the certifications, listed in item 15 above, and all other certifications required by State statutes, in every contract, 
including procurement of materials and leases of equipment. 

(17) (State Contracts)  That execution of this agreement constitutes the LPA’s concurrence in the award of the construction contract to 
the responsible low bidder as determined by the STATE. 

(18) That for agreements exceeding $100,000 in federal funds, execution of this Agreement constitutes the LPA’s certification that: 

(a) No Federal appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid, by or on behalf of the undersigned, to any person for influencing 
or attempting to influence an officer or employee of any agency, a Member of Congress, an officer or employee of Congress or 
any employee of a Member of Congress in connection with the awarding of any Federal contract, the making of any 
cooperative agreement, and the extension, continuation, renewal, amendment or modification of any Federal contract, grant, 
loan or cooperative agreement; 

(b) If any funds other than Federal appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid to any person for influencing or attempting to 
influence an officer or employee of any agency, a Member of Congress, an officer or employee of Congress or an employee of 
a Member of Congress, in connection with this Federal contract, grant, loan or cooperative agreement, the undersigned shall 
complete and submit Standard Form-LLL, “Disclosure Form to Report Lobbying”, in accordance with its instructions; 

(c) The LPA shall require that the language of this certification be included in the award documents for all subawards at all ties 
(including subcontracts, subgrants and contracts under grants, loans and cooperative agreements) and that all subrecipients 
shall certify and disclose accordingly. 

(19) To regulate parking and traffic in accordance with the approved project report. 

(20) To regulate encroachments on public right-of-way in accordance with current Illinois Compiled Statutes. 

(21) To regulate the discharge of sanitary sewage into any storm water drainage system constructed with this improvement in 
accordance with current Illinois Compiled Statutes. 

(22) To complete this phase of the project within three (3) years from the date this agreement is approved by the STATE if this portion of 
the project described in the Project Description does not exceed $1,000,000 (five years if the project costs exceed $1,000,000). 

(23) To comply with the federal Financial Integrity Review and Evaluation (FIRE) program, which requires States and subrecipients to 
justify continued federal funding on inactive projects.  23 CFR 630.106(a)(5) defines an inactive project as a project which no 
expenditures have been charged against Federal funds for the past twelve (12) months.   

To keep projects active, invoicing must occur a minimum of one time within any given twelve (12) month period.  However, to 
ensure adequate processing time, the first invoice shall be submitted to the STATE within six (6) months of the federal authorization 
date.  Subsequent invoices will be submitted in intervals not to exceed six (6) months.   

(24) The LPA will submit supporting documentation with each request for reimbursement from the STATE.  Supporting documentation is 
defined as verification of payment, certified time sheets or summaries, vendor invoices, vendor receipts, cost plus fix fee invoice, 
progress report, and personnel and direct cost summaries.and other documentation supporting the requested reimbursement 
amount (Form BLRS 05621 should be used for consultant invoicing purposes).  LPA invoice requests to the STATE will be 
submitted with sequential invoice numbers by project. 



Printed 4/28/2016 Page 4 of 5 BLR 05310 (Rev. 06/12/15) 

The LPA will submit to the STATE a complete and detailed final invoice with applicable supporting documentation of all incurred 
costs, less previous payments, no later than twelve (12) months from the date of completion of this phase of the improvement or 
from the date of the previous invoice, which ever occurs first.  If a final invoice is not received within this time frame, the most recent 
invoice may be considered the final invoice and the obligation of the funds closed. 
 

(25) The LPA shall provide the final report to the appropriate STATE district within twelve months of the physical completion date of the 
project so that the report may be audited and approved for payment.   If the deadline cannot be met, a written explanation must be 
provided to the district prior to the end of the twelve months documenting the reason and the new anticipated date of completion.  If 
the extended deadline is not met, this process must be repeated until the project is closed.  Failure to follow this process may result 
in the immediate close-out of the project and loss of further funding. 
 

(26) (Single Audit Requirements)  That if the LPA expends $750,000 or more a year in federal financial assistance they shall have an 
audit made in accordance with 2 CFR 200.  LPAs expending less than $750,000 a year shall be exempt from compliance.  A copy 
of the audit report must be submitted to the STATE (Office of Finance and Administration, Audit Coordination Section, 2300 South 
Dirksen Parkway, Springfield, Illinois, 62764), within 30 days after the completion of the audit, but no later than one year after the 
end of the LPA’s fiscal year.  The CFDA number for all highway planning and construction activities is 20.205. 
 
Federal funds utilized for constructon activities on projects let and awarded by the STATE (denoted by an “X” in the State Contract 
field at the top of page 1) are not included in a LPA’s calculation of federal funds expended by the LPA for Single Audit purposes. 
 

(27) That the LPA is required to register with the System for Award Management or SAM (formerly Central Contractor Registration 
(CCR)), which is a web-enabled government-wide application that collects, validates, stores, and disseminates business information 
about the federal government’s trading partners in support of the contract award and the electronic payment processes.   To register 
or renew, please use the following website: https://www.sam.gov/portal/public/SAM/#1. 

 
The LPA is also required to obtain a Dun & Bradstreet (D&B) D-U-N-S Number.  This is a unique nine digit number required to 
identify subrecipients of federal funding.  A D-U-N-S number can be obtained at the following website: 
http://fedgov.dnb.com/webform.  

 
THE STATE AGREES: 

 

(1) To provide such guidance, assistance and supervision and to monitor and perform audits to the extent necessary to assure validity 
of the LPA’s certification of compliance with Titles II and III requirements. 

(2) (State Contracts)  To receive bids for the construction of the proposed improvement when the plans have been approved by the 
STATE (and FHWA, if required) and to award a contract for construction of the proposed improvement, after receipt of a 
satisfactory bid. 

(3) (Day Labor)  To authorize the LPA to proceed with the construction of the improvement when Agreed Unit Prices are approved, and 
to reimburse the LPA for that portion of the cost payable from Federal and/or State funds based on the Agreed Unit Prices and 
Engineer’s Payment Estimates in accordance with the Division of Cost on page one. 

(4) (Local Contracts)  For agreements with Federal and/or State funds in engineering, right-of-way, utility work and/or construction 
work: 
(a) To reimburse the LPA for the Federal and/or State share on the basis of periodic billings, provided said billings contain 

sufficient cost information and show evidence of payment by the LPA; 
(b) To provide independent assurance sampling, to furnish off-site material inspection and testing at sources normally visited by 

STATE inspectors of steel, cement, aggregate, structural steel and other materials customarily tested by the STATE. 

 
IT IS MUTUALLY AGREED: 

 

(1) Construction of the project will utilize domestic steel as required by Section 106.01 of the current edition of the Standard 
Specifications for Road and Bridge Construction and federal Buy America provisions.   
 

(2) That this Agreement and the covenants contained herein shall become null and void in the event that the FHWA does not approve 
the proposed improvement for Federal-aid participation within one (1) year of the date of execution of this Agreement. 
 

(3) This Agreement shall be binding upon the parties, their successors and assigns. 
 
(4) For contracts awarded by the LPA, the LPA shall not discriminate on the basis of race, color, national origin or sex in the award and 

performance of any USDOT – assisted contract or in the administration of its DBE program or the requirements of 49 CFR part 26.  
The LPA shall take all necessary and reasonable steps under 49 CFR part 26 to ensure nondiscrimination in the award and 
administration of USDOT – assisted contracts.  The LPA’s DBE program, as required by 49 CFR part 26 and as approved by 
USDOT, is incorporated by reference in this Agreement.  Upon notification to the recipient of its failure to carry out its approved 
program, the STATE may impose sanctions as provided for under part 26 and may, in appropriate cases, refer the matter for 

https://www.sam.gov/portal/public/SAM/#1
http://fedgov.dnb.com/webform


Printed 4/28/2016 Page 5 of 5 BLR 05310 (Rev. 06/12/15) 

enforcement under 18 U.S.C. 1001 and/or the Program Fraud Civil Remedies Act of 1986 (31U.S.C. 3801 et seq.).  In the absence 
of a USDOT – approved LPA DBE Program or on State awarded contracts, this Agreement shall be administered under the 
provisions of the STATE’s USDOT approved Disadvantaged Business Enterprise Program. 
 

(5) In cases where the STATE is reimbursing the LPA, obligations of the STATE shall cease immediately without penalty or further 
payment being required if, in any fiscal year, the Illinois General Assembly or applicable Federal Funding source fails to appropriate 
or otherwise make available funds for the work contemplated herein. 

(6) All projects for the construction of fixed works which are financed in whole or in part with funds provided by this Agreement and/or 
amendment shall be subject to the Prevailing Wage Act (820 ILCS 130/0.01 et seq.) unless the provisions of that Act exempt its 
application. 

 
 

ADDENDA 
 
Additional information and/or stipulations are hereby attached and identified below as being a part of this Agreement. 

Number 1- Location Map,  Number 2 – LPA Appropriation Resolution   , Number 3 - Jurisdiction and Maintenance Agreement 
(Insert Addendum numbers and titles as applicable) 

  

 
 
 

The LPA further agrees, as a condition of payment, that it accepts and will comply with the applicable provisions set forth in this Agreement 
and all Addenda indicated above. 

 APPROVED APPROVED 
  Local Public Agency State of Illinois 
 Department of Transportation 
 

 Gary L. Graham   
 Name of Official  (Print or Type Name)  Randall S. Blankenhorn, Secretary Date 
 
 
 Mayor  By: 
 Title  (County Board Chairperson/Mayor/Village President/etc.)  Aaron A. Weatherholt, Deputy Director of Highways Date 
 
  
   Omer Osman, Director of Highways/Chief Engineer Date 
 (Signature) Date  

 
  

The above signature certifies the agency’s TIN number is William M. Barnes, Chief Counsel Date 
 37-6001979 conducting business as a Governmental 

Entity. 
 

DUNS Number 100970073  Jim Ofcarcik, Acting Chief Fiscal Officer (CFO) Date 

 

NOTE:  If the LPA signature is by an APPOINTED official, a resolution authorizing said appointed official to execute this 
agreement is required. 

 



Proposed Project Locations 

City of O’Fallon 
Sec. 15-00070-00-SW 
Addendum 1 - Location Map 



ADDENDUM #2 

Local Appropriation Resolution 

 

 

 

PLACEHOLDER 

To be replaced for final Joint Agreement by Local Agency 



ADDENDUM #3 

City of O’Fallon 

15-00070-00-SW 
C-98-309-15 

 

JURISDICTION AND MAINTENANCE AGREEMENT 

 

The City of O’Fallon agrees to maintain the sidewalk and any other appurtenances constructed within 
State Right of Way as part of this project. 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

https://ofallonil-my.sharepoint.com/personal/mfair_ofallon_org/Documents/Documents/mfdocs/Staff Reports^J Letters^J and Memos 2016/160620FundReservesPSAPConsolidation.docx 

 

CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEMS 

 To:  Mayor Graham and City Council  

From:  Eric Van Hook, Chief of Police 

Walter Denton, City Administrator 

Date:  June, 20, 2016 

Subject:  Transfer from Reserves for the FVH and O’Fallon dispatch consolidation. 
 
List of committees that have reviewed:  Public Safety 
 
Background:   
The City of O'Fallon is in the process of consolidating 9-1-1 centers with the City of Fairview 
Heights, Illinois.  The City of O’Fallon has already incurred certain costs with regard to the 
consolidation of the 9-1-1 centers.  The requested transfer of $250,000.00 will be used for the 
following, along with any additional unforeseen costs:  
 

 Electric – This includes the underfloor electrical rewiring and additional power required 
for six positions as well as all data cable required.  This does not include a 10% 
contingency for incidentals. 

 Console Furniture – six positions, inclusive of all monitor, keyboard and mouse 
extensions and monitor mounts. 

 AT&T – for removal, relocation and reinstallation of our 9-1-1 Positions 
 NICE Voice Logger Software and Licensing 
 NICE Voice Logger Server 
 22” PC Monitors for six workstations 
 Shoretel Telephones with Side Buttons 
 Microwave Connectivity from the PSB to the N 7 Hills Water Tower 
 Video Camera/Closed Circuit Television Server/Monitors/Installation 
 Replacement Carpet tiles – Comm Center and EOC  
 Replacement Ceiling tiles – Comm Center and EOC  
 redundant radio system connectivity 
 connectivity to the ETSB for recorder and ICJ 
 microwave to FHPD 
 additional headsets, telephone/radio connectivity for headsets 

 



 

https://ofallonil-my.sharepoint.com/personal/mfair_ofallon_org/Documents/Documents/mfdocs/Staff Reports^J Letters^J and Memos 2016/160620FundReservesPSAPConsolidation.docx 

 
  
 
Legal Considerations, if any: City Attorney, Dale Funk 
 
Budget Impact:  $250,000.00 
 
Staff recommendation:  Approval.   
 



CITY OF O’FALLON, ILLINOIS 
RESOLUTION  2017 - 

 
A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE TRANSFER OF FUNDS FROM 
GENERAL FUND RESERVES TO BE USED FOR EQUIPMENT AND 
BUILDING UPDATES FOR THE 9-1-1 CONSOLIDATION CENTER 

 
WHEREAS, the City of O'Fallon is in the process of consolidating 9-1-1 centers 

with the City of Fairview Heights, Illinois; and 
 

WHEREAS, the City of O’Fallon has already incurred certain costs with regard 
to the consolidation of the 9-1-1 centers 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE MAYOR AND CITY 
COUNCIL, OF THE CITY OF O’FALLON, ST. CLAIR COUNTY, ILLINOIS AS 
FOLLOWS: 
 
 That the City of O’Fallon’s Director of Finance is hereby authorized to do a one-

time transfer of $250,000 from the General Fund Reserves to the General Fund Police 

Department Operating account and to do all necessary budget amendments for FY 2017.    

 This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon its adoption by City 

Council. 

Passed by the City Council this _______ day of __________ 2016. 

 
******************************* 

 
ATTEST:                                                                  Approved by the Mayor this ___ day 

  (seal)                                                                        of __________, 2016. 

 
____________________________                         _______________________________ 
Philip A. Goodwin, City Clerk                                Gary L. Graham, Mayor 



CITY OF O’FALLON, ILLINOIS 
RESOLUTION  2016 - 

 
A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE TRANSFER OF FUNDS FROM 
GENERAL FUND RESERVES TO BE USED FOR EQUIPMENT AND 
BUILDING UPDATES FOR THE 9-1-1 CONSOLIDATION CENTER 

 
WHEREAS, the City of O'Fallon is in the process of consolidating 9-1-1 centers 

with the City of Fairview Heights, Illinois; and 
 

WHEREAS, the City of O’Fallon has already incurred certain costs with regard 
to the consolidation of the 9-1-1 centers 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE MAYOR AND CITY 
COUNCIL, OF THE CITY OF O’FALLON, ST. CLAIR COUNTY, ILLINOIS AS 
FOLLOWS: 
 
 That the City of O’Fallon’s Director of Finance is hereby authorized to do a one-

time transfer of $250,000 from the General Fund Reserves to the General Fund Police 

Department Operating account and to do all necessary budget amendments for FY 2017.    

 This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon its adoption by City 

Council. 

Passed by the City Council this _______ day of __________ 2016. 

 
******************************* 

 
ATTEST:                                                                  Approved by the Mayor this ___ day 

  (seal)                                                                        of __________, 2016. 

 
____________________________                         _______________________________ 
Philip A. Goodwin, City Clerk                                Gary L. Graham, Mayor 



 

https://ofallonil-my.sharepoint.com/personal/mfair_ofallon_org/Documents/Documents/mfdocs/Staff Reports^J Letters^J and Memos 2016/160620ILEAS.docx 

 

CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEMS 

 To:  Mayor Graham and City Council  

From:  Eric Van Hook, Chief of Police 

Walter Denton, City Administrator 

Date:  June, 20, 2016 

Subject:  Illinois Law Enforcement Alarm System Resolution 
 
List of committees that have reviewed:  Public Safety 
 
Background:   
The Illinois Law Enforcement Alarm System is a mutual aid system that can support, centralize, 
coordinate and organize law enforcement mutual aid among participating Public Agencies.  In 
order for Public Agencies to assist one another in a time of an emergency or disaster, the Public 
Agencies need a Law Enforcement Mutual Aid Agreement as recognized by the Illinois Law 
Enforcement Alarm System. 
 
  
 
Legal Considerations, if any: City Attorney, Dale Funk 
 
Budget Impact:  None 
 
Staff recommendation:  Approval.   
 



CITY OF O’FALLON, ILLINOIS 
RESOLUTION 2016 - 

 
AUTHORIZING THE CITY OF O’FALLON, ILLINOIS TO ENTER INTO A MUTUAL 
AID AGREEMENT WITH THE ILLINOIS LAW ENFORCEMENT ALARM SYSTEM 

(ILEAS) 
 

WHEREAS, the Illinois Law Enforcement Alarm System is a mutual aid system that can 
support, centralize, coordinate and organize law enforcement mutual aid among participating 
Public Agencies; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Illinois Law Enforcement Alarm System recognizes the fact that natural 

or man-made occurrences may result in emergencies or disasters that exceed the resources, 
equipment and/or law enforcement personnel of a given Public Agency; and,  

 
WHEREAS, an order for Public Agencies to assist one another in time of an emergency 

or disaster, the Public Agencies need a Law Enforcement Mutual Aid Agreement as recognized 
by the Illinois Law Enforcement Alarm System; and  

 
WHEREAS, the City of O’Fallon, as a Public Agency participant in a Law Enforcement 

Mutual Aid Agreement will, in the event of an emergency or disaster, be able to provide assistance 
to and receive assistance from other Public Agency participants in the form of law enforcement 
personnel and or equipment.  

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL OF 
THE CITY OF O’FALLON, ST. CLAIR COUNTY, ILLINOIS AS FOLLOWS: 

 
That the City of O’Fallon’s Director of Public Safety is hereby authorized to enter into a Law 
Enforcement Mutual Aid Agreement with other participating Public Agencies. 
 
Passed and approved this _______  day of ___________, 2016. 

 

 

ATTEST:      Approved: 
 

 
 
 
__________________________   ______________________________ 
Philip A. Goodwin, City Clerk   Gary L. Graham, Mayor 

















































 

https://ofallonil-my.sharepoint.com/personal/mfair_ofallon_org/Documents/Documents/mfdocs/Staff Reports^J Letters^J and Memos 2016/160620HesseStopSign.docx 

 

CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEMS 

 To:  Mayor Graham and City Council  

From:  Eric Van Hook, Chief of Police 

Walter Denton, City Administrator 

Date:  June 20, 2016 

Subject:  Ordinance Chapter 77, Schedule III – Stop Sign Addition 
 
List of committees that have reviewed:  Public Safety 
 
Background:   
The City of O’Fallon does not currently have a stop sign on Hesse Way and North Madison as 
exit Hesse Park westbound.  Due to the proximity to Hinchcliffe Elementary School and O’Fallon 
Hesse Park, it is in the best interest of public safety to add the stop sign at this location.   
 
 Legal Considerations, if any: City Attorney, Dale Funk 
 
Budget Impact:  Cost of the stop sign. 
 
Staff recommendation:  Approval.   
 



CITY OF O’FALLON, ILLINOIS 
ORDINANCE NO.     
 
 
 
AN ORDINANCE AMENDING 
THE CODE OF ORDINANCES  
OF THE CITY OF O’FALLON, 
CHAPTER 77, TRAFFIC  
SCHEDULES, SCHEDULE III, 
STOP/THROUGH STREET 
INTERSECTIONS  
 
 
 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF O’FALLON, 
ST. CLAIR COUNTY, ILLINOIS AS FOLLOWS: 
 
 
SECTION 1: STOP STREET DESIGNATIONS:  
 
An Ordinance to amend the Code of Ordinances of the City of O'Fallon, Chapter 77, Schedule “III” be 

amended to include the following: 

 
Stop Street(s) Intersections: 

 Stop Street Through Street Direction 
1) Hesse Way North Madison Westbound 
    
    
    

 

SECTION 2:  RESPONSIBILITIES: 

The City is responsible for the posting of said stop signs at named intersections above. 

  



Upon its passage and approval, this Ordinance shall be in full force and effect ten (10) days after 
its publication in pamphlet form as required by law.   
 

Passed by the City Council this ______ day of _______, 2016. 
 

*************************** 
 

 
ATTEST:      Approved by the Mayor this _____ day  

 
(seal)       of ________, 2016.  

 
          
__________________________   ______________________________ 
Philip A. Goodwin, City Clerk   Gary L. Graham, Mayor 
 
   

ROLL 
CALL: 

McCoskey Meile Albrecht Kueker Hagarty Gilreath Roach SUB 
TOTALS 

Aye         
Nay         
Absent         

 
 

ROLL 
CALL: 

Smallheer Bennett Marsh Holden  Drolet
  

Cozad Gerrish SUB 
TOTALS 

SUM OF 
TOTALS 

Aye          
Nay          
Absent          

 
  

 
 
 

 
 





https://ofallonil-my.sharepoint.com/personal/mfair_ofallon_org/Documents/Documents/mfdocs/Staff Reports^J Letters^J and Memos 
2016/160620Fezziwigs.docx 

CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

To:   Mayor Graham and City Council   
 
From:   Ted Shekell, Community Development Director 
  Walter Denton, City Administrator 
 
Date:   June 20, 2016 
 
Subject:  Redevelopment Agreement for Fezziwig’s / Metro Inflatables, LLC (1st Reading) 
 
List of committees that have reviewed: At the June 13, 2016 Community Development Committee 
meeting, the committee reviewed the redevelopment agreement.  The committee discussed the final 
plat and recommended approval with a vote of 5-0.  
 
Background 
Attached is the proposed TIF redevelopment agreement for 225 West First Street.  The property is 
owned by Greg Muren of Metro Inflatables, LLC and the tenant is Fezziwig’s Marketplace. Fezziwig’s 
was looking for new locations for their business while the City of O’Fallon was in the process of creating 
the new Central City TIF district. At the time, they inquired about receiving financial assistance from the 
TIF district and they were told their project would be eligible, pending the creation of the TIF district and 
City Council approval of their agreement. As this is the first TIF redevelopment agreement in the Central 
City TIF district, it took some time for both parties to get the agreement in place. It provides for 75% of 
increment generated by the property to be returned to the property owner, not to exceed the total cost 
as shown in the budget of $113,170.12 The property owner must then provide proof that Fezziwig’s is 
reimbursed for the percentage of the improvements they paid for. 
 
Legal Considerations, if any: None 
 
Budget Impact: The project is not expected to cause any specific expenses to the City, other than the 
normal cost of providing services such as police protection, etc.  The Commercial Project is, however, 
expected to generate sale tax to the City. 
 
Staff Recommendation: Staff recommends approving the Central City Redevelopment Area TIF 
Redevelopment Agreement as proposed. 
 
 

 



CITY OF O’FALLON, ILLINOIS 

ORDINANCE NO. _____ 
 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE 
CITY OF O’FALLON WHICH  
AUTHORIZES THE EXECUTION OF 
THE REDEVELOPMENT  
AGREEMENT WITH  
METRO INFLATABLES, LLC 

 
 

 
 
 
 
WHEREAS,  the City of O’Fallon, St. Clair County, Illinois (the “City”) has the authority to 

adopt tax increment allocation financing pursuant to the Tax Increment Allocation 
Redevelopment (“TIF”) Act, constituting Section 65 ILCS 5/11-74.4-1, et. seq., as 
amended (the “TIF Act”), to share a portion of the incremental tax revenue 
generated by the redevelopment project with the developer of such project to 
induce the developer’s undertaking and performance of such project; and 

 
WHEREAS,  the City authorized preparation of a redevelopment plan entitled “City of O’Fallon, 

Illinois Tax Increment Financing Redevelopment Plan – Central City 
Redevelopment Area” (“Redevelopment Plan”), with established geographic 
boundaries (hereinafter the “Redevelopment Project Area”) for the City of 
O’Fallon, St. Clair County, Illinois; and 

 
WHEREAS,  in accordance with the TIF Act, the City (i) convened a joint review board which 

performed all actions required under the TIF Act, and (ii) held and conducted a 
public hearing with respect to the Redevelopment Plan and Redevelopment Project 
Area described in such Redevelopment Plan at a meeting of the Mayor and City 
Council (the “Council”) held on May 4, 2015, notice of such hearing having been 
given in accordance with the TIF Act; and 

 
WHEREAS,  the Council, after giving all notices required by law, and after conducting all public 

hearings required by law, adopted the following ordinances: 
 

(1) Ordinance No. 3885, approving the Redevelopment Plan and Project, 

(2) Ordinance No. 3886, designating the Redevelopment Project Area, and 

(3) Ordinance No. 3887, adopting Tax Increment Financing for the 
Redevelopment Project Area and establishing a special tax allocation fund 
therefore (“Special Tax Allocation Fund”); and 

 
WHEREAS,  Metro Inflatables, LLC (“Developer”) has submitted a Redevelopment Proposal 

providing for a redevelopment project to be undertaken by the Developer within a 
portion of the Redevelopment Project Area (the “Project Area”). The City and 
Developer reasonably expect that completion of the redevelopment project (as 



defined in the Redevelopment Agreement to be approved by this Ordinance) will 
generate additional tax revenues and economic activity in furtherance of the goals 
of the Redevelopment Plan; and  

 
WHEREAS,  the Council desires to enter into an agreement (“Redevelopment Agreement”) with 

the developer to implement certain portions of the Redevelopment Plan and to 
enable the developer to carry out the development project; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City is desirous of having the Project Area developed for such uses as identified 

in the Redevelopment Proposal in order to serve the needs of the community, to 
create jobs, to further the development of O’Fallon, and to produce increased tax 
revenues and enhance the tax base of the City and the various taxing districts which 
are authorized to levy taxes within the Redevelopment Area; and the City, in order 
to stimulate and induce the development of the Project, has agreed to apply TIF 
revenues under the TIF Act and the Redevelopment Plan to finance the 
reimbursable redevelopment project costs (as defined in the Redevelopment 
Agreement) with the Developer; and 

 
WHEREAS, pursuant to the TIF Act, the City is authorized to enter into a Redevelopment 

Agreement with the Developer. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED, by the Mayor and City Council of the City of 

O’Fallon, St. Clair County, Illinois, as follows: 
 

1. That the preceding recitations in the upper part of this Ordinance are 
realleged, restated and adopted as paragraph one (1) of this Ordinance; and 

 
2. The Council finds and determines that it is necessary and desirable to enter 

into an agreement with the Developer to implement certain portions of the 
Redevelopment Plan and to enable the Developer to carry out the 
Development Project; and 

 
3. The Council hereby approves the Redevelopment Agreement in 

substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit “A” (“Redevelopment 
Agreement”). 

 
4. The Mayor is hereby authorized and directed to execute, on behalf of the 

City, the Redevelopment Agreement between the City and Developer, and 
the City Clerk is hereby authorized and directed to attest to the 
Redevelopment Agreement and to affix the seal of the City thereto. The 
Redevelopment Agreement shall be in substantially the form attached 
hereto as Exhibit A, with such changes therein as shall be approved by the 
officers of the City executing the same, such official signatures thereon 
being conclusive evidence of their approval and the City’s approval 
thereof; and 

 
5. The City shall, and the officials, agents and employees of the City are 

hereby authorized and directed to, take such further action and execute 
such other documents, certificates and instruments as may be necessary or 
desirable to carry out and comply with the intent of this Ordinance; and 

 



6. The sections, paragraphs, sentences, clauses and phrases of this Ordinance 
shall be severable. In the event that any such section, paragraph, sentence, 
clause or phrase of this Ordinance is found by a court of competent 
jurisdiction to be invalid, the remaining portions of this Ordinance are 
valid; and  

 
7. This Ordinance shall be governed exclusively by, and construed in 

accordance with, the applicable laws of the State of Illinois; and 
 

8. The Mayor is hereby authorized and directed to execute and deliver on 
behalf of the City, and the City Clerk is hereby authorized and directed 
where appropriate to attest, all certificates, documents, agreements or 
other instruments, and the Mayor or his designated representative is hereby 
authorized and directed to take any and all actions, as may be necessary, 
desirable, convenient or proper to carry out and comply with the 
provisions of all agreements or contracts, necessary or reasonable 
incidental to the implementation of this Ordinance; and 

 
9. All Ordinances, motions or orders in conflict herewith shall be, and the 

same hereby are, repealed to the extent of such conflict, and this Ordinance 
shall take effect and be in full force from and after the date of its passage 
by the City Council and approval by the Mayor as provided by law. 

 
 
PASSED and APPROVED this ____ day of ___________________, 2016. 
 
 
 
      ______________________________ 
      Gary Graham, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
____________________________ 
Phil Goodwin, City Clerk 
 

 
ROLL 
CALL: 

McCoskey Meile Kueker Albrecht Hagarty Gilreath Smallheer 
 

SUB 
TOTALS 

Aye         
Nay         
Absent         

 
ROLL 
CALL: 

Roach Bennett Marsh Drolet Holden Cozad Gerrish SUB 
TOTALS 

SUM OF 
TOTALS 

Aye          
Nay          
Absent          

 



1 
 

REDEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
 

 This Redevelopment Agreement (including the Exhibits) (“Agreement”) is entered into on 
the date and by execution shown hereafter, by and between the City of O’Fallon, Illinois, an Illinois 
Municipal Corporation, (hereinafter referred to as “City”) and Metro Inflatables, LLC, an Illinois 
corporation doing business under the assumed name Metro Inflatables, LLC (hereinafter 
collectively referred to as “the Developer”). 
 

PREAMBLE 
 

 WHEREAS, the municipality has the authority to promote health safety and welfare, 
including to prevent the spread of blight and deterioration and inadequate public facilities by 
promoting the development of and private investment in industry, business and housing and 
enhancing the marketability of real property, thereby increasing the tax base of the municipality 
and reducing unemployment; and  
 

WHEREAS, the Developer owns the following described real estate located in the City of 
O’Fallon, St. Clair County (the “Property”) on which is situated a certain building: 
 
Parcels consisting of parts of Lot 10 and Lot 11 of O’Fallon Original Town, City of O’Fallon, St. 
Clair County, Illinois, described as follows: 
 
Permanent Parcel Nos. 04-30.0-403-005, 04-30.0-403-006, and 04-30.0-403-007; 
 

WHEREAS, the City desires to encourage the Developer to renovate the existing building 
for a retail business in the City of O’Fallon (which renovation is hereinafter referred to as the 
“Project”); and 
 
 WHEREAS, pursuant to the Tax Increment Allocation Redevelopment Act, 65 ILCS 5/11-
74.4 et seq., as amended (the “TIF Act”), the City has the authority to provide incentives to owners 
or prospective owners of real property to redevelop, rehabilitate and/or upgrade such property by 
reimbursing the owner for certain costs from the resulting increases in real estate tax revenues; and  
 
 WHEREAS, on June 1, 2015, recognizing the need to foster the development, expansion 
and revitalization of certain real properties, which are vacant, underutilized or obsolete or a 
combination thereof, a City approved a Tax Increment Redevelopment Plan, designated a 
Redevelopment Area and adopted Tax Increment Financing as provided under the TIF Act 
(“Central City TIF District”); and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Developer’s proposed project is consistent with the Central City TIF 
District Redevelopment Plan for the Redevelopment Project Area (the “Redevelopment Plan”) and 
further conforms to the land uses of the City as adopted; and  
 
 WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 5/11-74.4-4(b) of the TIF Act, the City may make and 
enter into all contracts with property owners, developers, tenants, over lapping taxing bodies, and 



2 
 

others necessary or incidental to the implementation and furtherance of the Redevelopment Plan; 
and 
 
 WHEREAS, pursuant to section 5/11-74.4-4(j) of the TIF Act, the City may incur Project 
Redevelopment Costs and reimburse developers who incurred redevelopment project costs 
authorized by a Redevelopment Agreement and further defined in Section 5/11-74.4-3(q) of the 
TIF Act including those Estimated TIF Eligible Project Cost as herein listed in the attached Exhibit 
“A” of this Redevelopment Agreement; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Developer has informed the City, and the City hereby specifically finds, that 
without the financial support that may be provided pursuant to the TIF Act to reimburse some of the 
Project costs, the Project is not financially feasible and the Project will not move forward; and 
  
 WHEREAS, financing the construction of the renovated retail building is consistent with 
the objectives of the City’s Comprehensive Plan; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the parties acknowledge the City, in extending incentives for this Project, is 
relying on the representations of the Developer contained herein to substantially complete the 
Project as set forth herein. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and agreements set forth below, 
the parties, for and in consideration of the representations relative to the proposed improvements 
of said real property owned by the Developer, hereby agree as follows: 
 
 Section 1. Incorporation of Recitals. The Parties agree that all of the recitals contained 
in the Preambles to this Agreement are true and correct, and said recitals are hereby incorporated 
into the Agreement as though they were fully set forth in this Section 1. 
 
 Section 2. Contingency. The performance of the Developer set forth in this agreement is 
premised on the Developer receiving timely approval by the City Council of all planning approvals 
required to accommodate the Concept Plan, including uses requested by the Developer for the 
Developer’s Development Project and the timely review and issuance by the City of all 
Governmental Approvals within its control.  Performance hereunder is also premised on the receipt 
by the Developer, with a copy to the City, of an opinion of the City Attorney as to the validity and 
enforceability under Illinois law of this Agreement. 
 
 Section 3. Obligations/Representations of the Developer.   

a. Upon the approval by the City of the Development Agreement, the Developer shall 
proceed with the Project as described above. The Project shall be substantially complete 
within one (1) year of the date of execution of this Development Agreement. 
 

b. The Developer represents and warrants that it has sufficient funds or financing as 
necessary to construct the Project. 

 
c. The Developer shall at all times undertake the Developer’s Development Project, 

including any related activities in connection therewith, in conformance with this 



3 
 

Agreement, all applicable federal and state laws, rules and regulations and all City 
Codes. To the extent that the construction of the Developer’s Development Project 
under this Agreement is a “public work” within the meaning of the Prevailing Wage 
Act of the State of Illinois (820 ILCS 130/0.01 et seq., the “PW Act”), the Developer 
shall assume the risk of compliance with the PW Act. The PW Act requires 
contractors and subcontractors performing work on behalf of Developer on the public 
works portion of the Developer’s Development Project to pay laborers, workers and 
mechanics no less than the current “prevailing rate of wages” (hourly cash wages plus 
fringe benefits) in the county where the work is performed. IDOL publishes the 
prevailing wage rates on its website at http://labor.illinois.gov/. IDOL revises the 
prevailing wage rates and any contractor/subcontractor on the Project has an 
obligation to check the IDOL’s website for revisions to the prevailing wage rates. The 
Developer shall require all contractors and subcontractors performing such work on 
the Developer’s Development Project to comply with all requirements of the PW Act, 
including, but not limited to, all wage requirements and all notice, record keeping and 
monthly filing duties. Any agreement of the Developer related to the Developer’s 
Development Project with any contractor or subcontractor shall, to the extent 
applicable, contain provisions substantially similar to those required of the Developer 
under this Agreement. 
 

d. Within fifteen (15) days of receipt of the TIF reimbursement from the City, Developer 
shall provide proof that Fezziwig’s has been reimbursed for its project costs in an 
amount no less than 89% of what the Developer receives from the City through this 
Agreement. 
 

 Section 4. Obligation of the City. In consideration of the Developer’s undertaking of the 
Project, including the incurring of Reimbursable Redevelopment Project Costs under the 
Redevelopment Plan, the City hereby pledges and agrees to apply the Incremental Property 
Taxes generated from Project and deposited into the Special Tax Allocation Fund in accordance 
with this Agreement to pay Reimbursable Project Costs incurred by the Developer, subject to the 
following:  
 

a. The City will reimburse 75% of the incremental EAV generated by the development of 
this Property until the expiration of this TIF District on June 1, 2038, or until the 
maximum funding amount is reached, whichever comes first. The developer must 
supply proof of tax payments, showing the EAV each year. 

    
b. Eligible Costs City will consider – 

   
Land Acquisition, Renovation of Existing Building, Site Improvements, Legal, 
Architectural & Engineering Fees 

    
   Total Estimated Eligible Costs $113,170.12 
 

c. The Developer shall submit to the City’s Director of Finance a request for payment 
consisting of a sworn written statement setting forth the amount of costs incurred by 



4 
 

the Developer for completion of the Project. Each Request shall be accompanied by 
such bills, invoices, lien waivers or other evidence as the City may reasonably require 
for documenting the Developer’s costs incurred for the Project. These Requests shall 
be submitted after January 1st of each year until the total eligible cost tallies to at least 
$113,170.12. The Developer may continue to provide Requests until all Project costs 
have been incurred and the Project is completed. 
 

d. The City’s finance director (or designee as the case may be), shall approve or 
disapprove a request for payment by written notice to the Developer within 30 days 
after receipt of the request. Approval of a request will not be unreasonably withheld. If 
a request is disapproved, the reasons for disapproval will be set forth in writing; and 
the Developer shall resubmit the request with such additional information as may be 
required, and the same procedures as set forth herein for the initial submission shall 
apply for such resubmittals. 

 
e. Reimbursement of approved Project costs shall be made annually within sixty days 

upon receipt from the County of the property tax proceeds for the applicable tax year. 
Approved Project costs shall only be reimbursed to the extent that tax increment is 
generated by the Property and if there are monies available for such purpose. To the 
extent money is not available to reimburse the Developer for approved Project costs, 
such costs shall be reimbursed in subsequent years. 

 
f. The City and the Developer acknowledge that the determination of the qualification of 

Eligible Redevelopment Project Costs, the TIF Area and the Redevelopment Plan and 
Project and, therefore, qualification for payment and/or reimbursement under this 
Agreement are subject to changes made by amendments to the TIF Act, administrative 
rules and judicial interpretations during the term of this Agreement. The City has no 
obligation to the Developer to attempt to modify those decisions but will assist the 
Developer as to obtaining approval of Eligible Redevelopment Project Cost. The 
Developer assumes all risk related to qualification of Eligible Redevelopment Project 
Cost, the Area and the Redevelopment Plan and Project or the Development Project.  

 
g. Except as otherwise expressly provided herein, the City shall not be obligated to make 

any payments to any person other than the Developer, nor shall the City obligated to 
pay any contractor, sub-contractor, mechanic, material man providing services or 
materials to the Developer for or in respect of the Development Project. 

 
h. Prior to making an annual payment to the Developer for reimbursement of approved 

redevelopment project costs, the Developer shall provide evidence that the latest real 
property tax bill for the Property for the applicable tax year has been paid in full. 

 
i. The City’s Finance Department shall maintain an account of all payment Developer 

under this Agreement and may set up sub-accounts to track the tax increment, and 
payments made to the Developer for this Property.  

 



5 
 

j. THE CITY’S OBLIGATIONS TO REIMBURSE THE DEVELOPER UNDER THIS 
AGREEMENT IS A LIMITED OBLIGATION PAYABLE SOLELY FROM 
INCREMENTAL TAXES GENERATED BY THE PROJECT ON THE PROPERTY 
AND DEPOSITED IN THE CITY’S FUNDS FROM TIME TO TIME AND SHALL 
NOT BE A GENERAL OBLIGATION OF THE CITY OR SECURED BY THE FULL 
FAITH AND CREDIT OF THE CITY. 

 
k. The City’s obligations to reimburse the Developer for eligible TIF Project Costs, 

pursuant to Section 4 of this agreement, shall terminate upon the occurrence of any of 
the following:  

 
1. Developer’s voluntary or involuntary bankruptcy; 
2. Fezziwig’s voluntary or involuntary closure of its business; 
3. Substantial change in the nature of the Fezziwig’s business without the City’s prior 

written approval; 
4. Sale of the Developer’s building without the City’s prior written approval; 
5. Sale of Fezziwig’s business without the City’s prior written approval; or  
6. Relocation of Fezziwig’s business. 

 
l. The failure of the Developer to provide any information required in this Agreement 

shall be considered a material breach of this Agreement and shall be sufficient cause 
for the City to deny payments under this Agreement to or in respect of the Developer, 
which payments are expressly conditioned upon the receipt of such information.  

    
Section 5. Indemnification. The Developer shall indemnify and hold harmless the City, 

its agents, officers and employees against all injuries, deaths, losses, damages, claims, suits, 
liabilities, judgments, costs and expenses (including any liabilities, judgments, costs and expenses 
and reasonable attorney’s fees) which may arise directly or indirectly from acts or omissions in 
connection with the Development Project, the Development Area and this Agreement, whether or 
not a lawsuit is filed. The Developer shall, at its own cost and expense, appear, defend and pay all 
charges of attorneys, costs and other expenses arising therefrom or incurred in connection 
therewith. If any judgment shall be rendered against the City, its agents, officers, officials or 
employees in any such action, the Developer shall, at its own expense, satisfy and discharge the 
same. This paragraph shall not apply, and the Developer shall have no obligation whatsoever, with 
respect to any acts of negligence or reckless or willful misconduct on the part of the City or any of 
its officers, agents, employees or contractors. 
 

In no way limiting the foregoing, the Developer shall also indemnify and hold harmless 
the City, its agents, officers and employees against all damages, claims, suits, liabilities, 
judgments, fines, penalties, costs and expenses (including reasonable attorney’s fees) which may 
arise directly or indirectly from any violation of the Illinois Prevailing wage Act, 820 ILCS 
130/0.01 et. seq., in connection with the Project. 

 
Section 6. Default and Remedies. Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, in the 

event of any default in or breach of any term or conditions of this Agreement by either party or 
any successor or assign, the defaulting or breaching party (or successor or assign) shall, upon 



6 
 

written notice from the other party, proceed immediately to cure or remedy such default or breach 
as follows: (a) in the event of a nonmonetary default, within thirty (30) days after receipt of notice, 
commence to cure or remedy such default, and (b) in the event of a monetary default, within ten 
(10) days after receipt of notice, commence to cure or remedy such default. In case such cure or 
remedy is not taken or not diligently pursued, or the default or breach shall not be cured or 
remedied within a reasonable time, the aggrieved party may institute such proceedings as may be 
necessary or desirable in its opinion to cure and remedy such default or breach, including without 
limitation proceedings to compel specific performance by the defaulting or breaching party. If 
either party shall prevail in any court proceeding to enforce any term, covenant or condition hereof, 
the non-prevailing party shall reimburse the prevailing party its costs and reasonable attorneys’ 
fees on account of such proceeding. 

 
Section 7. Termination. In the event that the Developer does not commence construction 

of the addition within six (6) months of the execution of this Agreement, the City may terminate 
this Agreement. If the City terminates this Agreement in accordance with this paragraph, 
Developer shall not be entitled to any financial assistance from the City. 

 
In the event that the Project is not substantially completed within one (1) year after the 

execution of this Agreement, the City may terminate this Agreement. If the City terminates this 
Agreement in accordance with this paragraph, Developer shall not be entitled to any further 
financial assistance from the City. In addition, if the Developer fails to complete the Project, the 
Developer shall reimburse the City for any monies it received pursuant to this Agreement 

 
Section 8. Assignment. This Agreement may not be assigned by the Developer without 

prior written approval of the City, which shall not be unreasonably withheld. 
 
Section 9. Partial Invalidity. If any section, subsection, term or provision of this 

Agreement or the application thereof to any party or circumstance shall, to any extent, be invalid 
or unenforceable, the remainder of said section, subsection, term or provision of this Agreement 
or the application of the same to parties or circumstances other than those to which it is held invalid 
or unenforceable, shall not be affected thereby. 

 
Section 10. Waiver. Any party to this agreement may elect to waive any remedy it may 

have hereunder, provided that no such waiver shall be deemed to exist unless the party waiving 
such right or remedy, does so in writing. No such waiver shall obligate such party to wave any 
other right or remedy hereunder, or shall be deemed to constitute a waiver of other rights and 
remedies hereunder, or shall be deemed to constitute a waiver of other rights and remedies pursuant 
to this Agreement.  

 
Section 11. Severability. If any section, sub-section, term or provision of this Agreement 

or the application thereof to any party or circumstance shall, to any extent, be invalid or 
unenforceable, the remainder of such section, sub-section, term or provision of this Agreement or 
the application of same, to parties or circumstance other than those to which it is held invalid or 
unenforceable, shall not be affected thereby.  

 



7 
 

Section 12. Conflict of Interest. No member of the Corporate Authorities, the Joint 
Review Board, or any branch of the City’s government who has any power of review or approval 
of any of Developer’s undertakings, or of the City’s contracting for goods or services for the 
Property, shall participate in any decisions relating thereto which affect that member’s personal 
interests or the interests of any corporation or partnership in which that member is directly or 
indirectly interested. As provided in the TIF Act, any person having such interest shall 
immediately, upon knowledge of such possible conflict, disclose, in writing, to the City Council 
the nature of such interest and seek a determination by the City Council with respect to such 
interest and, in the meantime, shall not participate in any actions or discussions relating to the 
activities herein proscribed. 
 
  Section 13. Force Majeure. The time the Developer is to perform any act under this 
Agreement shall be extended by a period of time equal to the number of days during which 
performance of such act is delayed by strikes, lockouts, acts of God, failure or inability to secure 
materials or labor in a timely fashion or any other cause beyond the reasonable control of the 
Developer.  
 
 Section 14. Agreement Binding on Successors. This Agreement shall be binding on the 
Developer’s permitted successors and assigns. 
 
 Section 15. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in multiple counterparts, 
each of which shall constitute one and the same instrument. 
 
 Section 16. Entire Agreement; Amendment. The parties agree that this Agreement 
constitutes the entire agreement between the parties and that no other agreements or 
representations other than those contained in this Agreement have been made by the parties. This 
Agreement shall be amended only in writing and effective when signed by the authorized 
representatives of both parties. 

 
Section 17. Miscellaneous. Developer represents that signee has the authority to enter into 

this Agreement.  
 
Section 18. Notices. All notices, demands, requests, consents, approvals or other 

instruments required or permitted by this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be executed by 
the party or an officer, agent or attorney of the party, and shall be deemed to have been effective 
as of the date of actual delivery, if delivered personally, or as of the third (3rd) day from and 
including the date of posting, if mailed by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, 
with postage prepaid, addressed as follows: 

 
To the Developer:     To the City: 

Attention: Gregory Muren     Attention: City Clerk 
  Metro Inflatables, LLC    City of O’Fallon 
  114 North Vine Street     255 South Lincoln Avenue 
  O’Fallon, IL 62269     O’Fallon, IL 62269 
        

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the City and Developer have caused this Agreement to be 



8 
 

executed in their respective names and caused their respective seals, if applicable, to be affixed 
thereto, and attested as to the date first above written. 

 
(SEAL) CITY OF O’FALLON, ILLINOIS 
 

 
____________________________________ 
Gary L. Graham, Mayor Date 

Attest: 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Philip A. Goodwin, City Clerk Date 

 Developer: 
METRO INFLATABLES, LLC 

 
 

____________________________________ 
Gregory Muren, Manager Date 



Attachment A



https://ofallonil-my.sharepoint.com/personal/mfair_ofallon_org/Documents/Documents/mfdocs/Staff Reports^J Letters^J and Memos 
2016/160620MilburnEstates1stAdd.docx 

CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

To:   Mayor Graham and City Council   
 
From:   Ted Shekell, Community Development Director 
  Walter Denton, City Administrator 
 
Date:   June 20, 2016 
 
Subject:  Milburn Estates 1st Addition, Final Plat (1st Reading) 
 
List of committees that have reviewed: At the June 13, 2016 Community Development Committee 
meeting, the committee reviewed the final plat.  The committee discussed the final plat and 
recommended approval with a vote of 5-0.  
 
Background 
The applicant, Milburn Road, LLC, is proposing a Final Plat of the 1st Addition of Milburn Estates 
subdivision, consisting of 20 single-family homes on 17.04 acres.  This is 1st Addition of a larger 
development located south of Milburn School Road, south of the Milburn Campus of OTHS.    
 
The proposed final plat is consistent with the approved preliminary plat and improvement plans.   
 
Legal Considerations, if any: None 
 
Budget Impact: There will be an annexation fee paid to the City of $2,250 per lot.    
 
 
Staff Recommendation: Community Development and Public Work staff recommend the 1st Addition 
of Milburn Estates Final Plat for approval, subject to final review of the improvements plans. 
 
 
 

 



h t t p s : / / o f a l l o n i l - m y . s h a r e p o i n t . c o m / p e r s o n a l / m f a i r _ o f a l l o n _ o r g / D o c u m e n t s / D o c u m e n t s / m f d o c s / O r d i n a n c e s  
2 0 1 6 / M i l b u r n E s t a t e s 1 s t A d d . d o c x  

 

CITY OF O’FALLON, ILLINOIS 
ORDINANCE NO. _____________ 

 
AN ORDINANCE APPROVAL THE 
FINAL PLAT OF MILBURN ESTATES  
1st ADDITION 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
WHEREAS, the City of O’Fallon Community Development and Public Work 

Departments have reviewed and subsequently recommend the Final Plat and associated 
improvement plans for the Milburn Estates 1st Addition subdivision; and 

 
WHEREAS, on June 13, 2016, the Community Development Committee of the City 

Council reviewed the final plat and recommended approval with a vote of 5-0; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City Council has reviewed the Final Plat and finds it acceptable and to 

the public benefit. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE MAYOR AND CITY 

COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF O’FALLON, ST. CLAIR COUNTY, ILLINOIS AS FOLLOWS: 
 
Section 1. That the final plat of Milburn Estate 1st Addition attached hereto as Exhibit A, 

be accepted and approved. 
 

Section 2. That the City Clerk be and is hereby directed to file with the Recorder of 
Deeds of St. Clair County, Illinois, a copy of this Ordinance, along with a copy of the plat. The 
recording expense shall be borne by the person(s) requesting approval of the plat.   

 
Upon its passage and approval, this Ordinance shall be in full force and effect ten (10) 

days after its publication in pamphlet form as required by law.   
 

Passed by the City Council this ______ day of _______ 2016. 
 

  



 2 

*************************** 
 
ATTEST:      Approved by the Mayor this _____ day  

 
(seal)       of __________________ 2016.  

 
          
__________________________   ______________________________ 
Philip A. Goodwin, City Clerk   Gary L. Graham, Mayor 

 
 
 
 
 
   
 

ROLL 
CALL: 

McCoskey Meile Kueker Albrecht Hagarty Gilreath Drolet 
 

SUB 
TOTALS 

Aye         
Nay         
Absent         

 
 
 

ROLL 
CALL: 

Roach Bennett Marsh Smallheer    Holden
  

    Cozad Gerrish SUB 
TOTALS 

SUM OF 
TOTALS 

Aye          
Nay          
Absent          

 
 



MILBURN SCHOOL RD

HERITAGE CREST CT

LAURELWOOD CT

ME
RR

IA
M 

PK
WY

PORTSMITH PLACE DR

WILLOWBROOK WAY
MI

LB
UR

N
ES

TA
TE

S
DR

ROYAL CREST WAY

Provided by East-West Gateway Council of Governments, imagery flown by
SURDEX

Subject
Property

0 230 460 690 920115
Feet .

S16-04: Milburn Estates 1st Addition - Final Plat





0

GRAPHIC SCALE

1 inch =  50  ft.

30 1206060 240

ph: 618-228-7816

fax: 618-228-7900

Netemeyer Engineering
Associates, Inc.

3300 Highline Road

Aviston, IL  62216

Netemeyer Engineering
Associates, Inc.

PROJECT NO: 20070157  REV: 03/02/16 PAGE 1 OF 1



 

https://ofallonil-my.sharepoint.com/personal/mfair_ofallon_org/Documents/Documents/mfdocs/Staff Reports^J Letters^J and Memos 
2016/160620ParkviewMeadows.docx 

CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

To:   Mayor Graham and City Council   
 
From:   Ted Shekell, Community Development Director 
  Walter Denton, City Administrator 
 
Date:   June 20, 2016 
 
Subject:  Parkview Meadows – Phase 1 - Final Plat (1st Reading) 
 
List of committees that have reviewed: At the June 13, 2016 Community Development Committee 
meeting, the committee reviewed the final plat.  The committee discussed the final plat and 
recommended approval with a vote of 5-0.  
 
Background 
The applicant, Fulford Homes, is proposing a Final Plat of Parkview Meadows – Phase 1, consisting of 
24 single-family homes on 7.76 acres.  This is first final plat of an 18.18-acre, 49 lot subdivision located 
0.25-mile north of State Street on the east side of Obernuefemann Road (just north of the Family Sports 
Park entrance).  
 
The proposed final plat is consistent with the approved preliminary plat and improvement plans.   
 
Legal Considerations, if any: None 
 
Budget Impact: There will be a fee of $865 per lot will be paid to the City by the developer as a fee in 
lieu of park land.    
 
 
Staff Recommendation: Community Development and Public Work staff recommends the Parkview 
Meadows Phase 1 Final Plat for approval. 
 
 

 



h t t p s : / / o f a l l o n i l - m y . s h a r e p o i n t . c o m / p e r s o n a l / m f a i r _ o f a l l o n _ o r g / D o c u m e n t s / D o c u m e n t s / m f d o c s / O r d i n a n c e s  
2 0 1 6 / P a r k v i e w M e a d o w s P h a s e 1 . d o c x  

 

CITY OF O’FALLON, ILLINOIS 
ORDINANCE NO. _____________ 

 
AN ORDINANCE FOR THE  
APPROVAL THE FINAL PLAT OF 
PARKVIEW MEADOWS PHASE 1 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
WHEREAS, the City of O’Fallon Community Development and Public Work 

Departments have reviewed and subsequently recommend the Final Plat and associated 
improvement plans for the Parkview Meadows Phase 1 subdivision; and 

 
WHEREAS, on June 13, 2016, the Community Development Committee of the City 

Council reviewed the final plat and recommended approval with a vote of 5-0; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City Council has reviewed the Final Plat and finds it acceptable and to 

the public benefit. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE MAYOR AND CITY 

COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF O’FALLON, ST. CLAIR COUNTY, ILLINOIS AS FOLLOWS: 
 
Section 1. That the final plat of Parkview Meadows Phase 1 attached hereto as Exhibit A, 

be accepted and approved. 
 

Section 2. That the City Clerk be and is hereby directed to file with the Recorder of 
Deeds of St. Clair County, Illinois, a copy of this Ordinance, along with a copy of the plat. The 
recording expense shall be borne by the person(s) requesting approval of the plat.   

 
Upon its passage and approval, this Ordinance shall be in full force and effect ten (10) 

days after its publication in pamphlet form as required by law.   
 
  



 2 

Passed by the City Council this ______ day of _______ 2016. 
 

*************************** 
 
ATTEST:      Approved by the Mayor this _____ day  

 
(seal)       of __________________ 2016.  

 
          
__________________________   ______________________________ 
Philip A. Goodwin, City Clerk   Gary L. Graham, Mayor 

 
 
 
 
 
   
 

ROLL 
CALL: 

McCoskey Meile Kueker Albrecht Hagarty Gilreath Drolet 
 

SUB 
TOTALS 

Aye         
Nay         
Absent         

 
 
 

ROLL 
CALL: 

Roach Bennett Marsh Smallheer    Holden
  

    Cozad Gerrish SUB 
TOTALS 

SUM OF 
TOTALS 

Aye          
Nay          
Absent          

 
 



OB
ER

NU
EF

EM
AN

N RD

DE
RR

IC
K 

DR

NIXON DR

MADISON ST

ER
IN 

LE
E S

T

JENNA LEE LN

BRADLEY ST

WESTBROOK CT

STEVEN DEE DR

NATASHA CIR

SA
VA

NN
AH NOEL ST

Provided by East-West Gateway Council of Governments, imagery flown by
SURDEX

Subject
Property

0 140 280 420 56070
Feet .

S16-05: Parkview Meadows Phase 1 - Final Plat





MONTEBELLO LANE

D
ER

R
I C

K
D

R
I V

E

CURVE TABLE

PARKVIEW MEADOWS PHASE 1
FINAL PLAT OF

A PART OF THE NORTHWEST QUARTER OF SECTION 30,

ST. CLAIR COUNTY, ILLINOIS.
TOWNSHIP 2 NORTH, RANGE 7 WEST OF THE 3RD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN,

SU
B

D
IV

IS
IO

N
 P

LA
T

1 of 2

W
O

O
LP

ER
T,

 IN
C.

FA
X:

 6
30

.4
95

.3
73

1
63

0.
42

4.
90

80
O

ak
br

oo
k 

Te
rr

ac
e,

 IL
 6

01
81

Su
ite

 1
20

18
15

 S
ou

th
 M

ey
er

s 
R

oa
d,



PARKVIEW MEADOWS PHASE 1
FINAL PLAT OF

A PART OF THE NORTHWEST QUARTER OF SECTION 30,

ST. CLAIR COUNTY, ILLINOIS.
TOWNSHIP 2 NORTH, RANGE 7 WEST OF THE 3RD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN,

SU
B

D
IV

IS
IO

N
 P

LA
T

2 of 2

W
O

O
LP

ER
T,

 IN
C.

FA
X:

 6
30

.4
95

.3
73

1
63

0.
42

4.
90

80
O

ak
br

oo
k 

Te
rr

ac
e,

 IL
 6

01
81

Su
ite

 1
20

18
15

 S
ou

th
 M

ey
er

s 
R

oa
d,



 

https://ofallonil-my.sharepoint.com/personal/mfair_ofallon_org/Documents/Documents/mfdocs/Staff Reports^J Letters^J and Memos 
2016/160620LincolnParkVillas.docx 

CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

To:   Mayor Graham and City Council   
 
From:   Ted Shekell, Community Development Director 
  Walter Denton, City Administrator 
 
Date:   June 20, 2016 
 
Subject:  P2016-03: Lincoln Park Villas – MR-2 Zoning Amendment & Planned Use (1st Reading) 
 
List of committees that have reviewed: At the June 13, 2016 Community Development Committee 
meeting, the committee reviewed the proposed senior living community.  The committee discussed 
the final plat and recommended approval with a vote of 5-0.  
 
Background 

 Property located on the west side of Lincoln Road, just south of GCS Credit Union and 
O’Fallon Public Library. 

 Senior Living Development consisting of 6.98 acres. 
 13 proposed buildings ranging from 4 units to 8 units. 
 Community Building, with a fitness area, gathering space and offices for the development 

and special outside services. 
 Zoned B-1(P) – Planned Community Business District. 
 Requested to be rezoned to MR-2(P), Planned Multi-Family Residential Dwelling District. 
 Connecting Civic Plaza to the drive just south of GCS Credit Union. 
 The gross density is 11.3 units per acre. 
 The developer will be tying into the City of O’Fallon water and sanitary sewer services. 
 Planned Use is also approving preliminary plat, location of street and new utilities. 
 A final plat will need to be filed prior to final approval. 

 
The applicant, RCH Development, Inc., is proposing to create a 72 unit multi-family community for 
seniors 55 years of age or old, including a clubhouse facility with fitness equipment, open gathering 
areas, and offices.  The developer has stated the property will be deed/plat restricted to limit the age of 
renters to 55 year of age and older.  The property is located on the west side of Lincoln Avenue, just 
south of GCS Credit Union and O’Fallon Public Library. The 72 unit senior living community has a 
calculated density of 11.3 units / acre and provides 162 parking spaces for the development.  There is 
a proposed detention pond in the northwest corner of the development, which will tie into the detention 
basins behind the library and an existing detention pond that will serve a portion of the development and 
the GCS Credit Union site.  
 
The development will connect the existing Civic Plaza that ends at the library parking lot to the street 
providing access to GCS Credit Union. The proposed extension of Civic Plaza will be consistent with 
the existing Civic Plaza, maintaining the 60-foot right-of-way and 30-foot of pavement face of curb to 

 



 

 

face of curb.  The development will only have access to Civic Plaza. Civic Plaza will have two 
connections to Lincoln Avenue.  There are no other connections to the south or west due to existing 
development. Sidewalks have been incorporated into the preliminary site plan on both sides of Civic 
Plaza, along Lincoln Avenue and throughout the development.   
 
The developer will be tying into the City of O’Fallon sanitary sewer and water system. Electric and gas 
services are available to the site and owned by Ameren IP. Telephone and internet service is available 
through AT&T and cable and internet is available through Charter. 
 
The property is currently zoned B-1(P), Planned Community Business District and the developer is 
requesting the property to be rezoned to MR-2, Multi-Family Residential Dwelling District. Although multi-
family is allowed in the B-1 district, MR-2 is the more appropriate zoning district due to the residential 
developments to the east and west of the site. The development will have a park land fee of $510 per 
unit. Additionally, the extension of Civic Drive, a public street, will create two lots for the development.  
The Planned Use is approving two lots, the location of the street/right-of-way width and utility extensions. 
This project only functions if all buildings and lots stay under one common ownership, which can be 
accomplished with a note on the final plat.  Since the development will be extending a city street and 
public utilities, there will be a need for subdivision improvement plans and a final plat approved by the 
City Council. 
 
Please see the attached Plan Commission Project Report for more detailed information on the proposal. 
 
Legal Considerations, if any: None 
 
Budget Impact: There will be a fee of $510 per unit will be paid to the City by the developer as a fee in 
lieu of park land.    
 
 
Staff Recommendation: Staff recommends approval of Lincoln Park Villas with the following 
conditions: 

1. There will be a park land dedication requirement of 0.72 acre, with the requirement being 
fulfilled through a fee in lieu of land in the amount of $36,720, $510.00 per unit. 

2. A revised landscaping plan is required to including street trees and fencing. 
3. A final plat is required with a note restricting the limit the age of the renters to 55 or older 
4. A final plat is required with a note restricting the sale of individual lots and buildings. 
5. The lots along the Woodgate subdivision are required to be setback 20 feet from the property 

line. 
 
 
 



ORDINANCE NO. ______ 
 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING 
ORDINANCE 623, ZONING  
DISTRICTS OF THE CITY OF 
O’FALLON, ILLINOIS 
(DEVELOPMENT KNOWN AS 
“LINCOLN PARK VILLAS”)  
LOCATED AT 1159 LINCOLN 
AVENUE, PARCEL NUMBER 
04-31.0-216-037 

 
 
 
 
WHEREAS, the applicant, Chad Hartle of RCH Development, Inc., has filed an 

application requesting approval of a planned use rezoning to authorize construction of a 72-unit 
senior living community at 1159 Lincoln Avenue in O’Fallon; and 

 
WHEREAS, the applicant has filed an application with the City of O’Fallon, Illinois 

pursuant to the requirements of all applicable laws, including City Ordinance 3471, “Planned 
Uses”; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Planning Commission of the City of O’Fallon, Illinois held a public 

hearing on May 23, 2016, in accordance with state statute, and recommended to approve the 
petitioner’s request to obtain a MR-2(P) Planned Multi-Family Residential Dwelling District 
zoning for the property with a vote of 5 ayes to 1 nays as outlined in the adopted Planning 
Commission Report, attached hereto and declared to be an inseparable part hereof (Exhibit A); 
and 

 
WHEREAS, on June 13, 2016 the Community Development Committee of the City 

Council reviewed the rezoning and recommended approval with a vote of 5 ayes to 0 nays. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE MAYOR AND CITY 

COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF O’FALLON, ST. CLAIR COUNTY, ILLINOIS AS 
FOLLOWS: 

 
Section 1. That upon the effective date of this Ordinance, the described property, known 

as “Lincoln Park Villas”, be henceforth classified as zoning district MR-2(P) Planned Multi-
Family Residential Dwelling District with the following conditions: 

 
1. There will be a park land dedication requirement of 0.72 acre, with the requirement being 

fulfilled through a fee in lieu of land in the amount of $36,720, $510.00 per unit. 
2. A revised landscaping plan is required to including street trees and fencing. 
3. A final plat is required with a note restricting the limit the age of the renters to 55 or older 
4. A final plat is required with a note restricting the sale of individual lots and buildings. 



 2 

5. The lots along the Woodgate subdivision are required to be setback 20 feet from the 
property line. 
 
Section 2. A Certified Copy of this ordinance, with all referenced attachments, shall be 

filed with the City Clerk’s office of the City of O’Fallon, Illinois.  
 
Upon its passage and approval, this Ordinance shall be in full force and effect ten (10) 

days after its publication in pamphlet form as required by law.   
 

Upon its passage and approval, this Ordinance shall be in full force and effect ten (10) 
days after its publication in pamphlet form as required by law.   
 

Passed by the City Council this ______ day of _______ 2016. 
 

*************************** 
 
ATTEST:      Approved by the Mayor this _____ day  

 
(seal)       of __________________ 2016.  

 
          
__________________________   ______________________________ 
Philip A. Goodwin, City Clerk   Gary L. Graham, Mayor 

 
 
   
 

ROLL 
CALL: 

McCoskey Meile Kueker Albrecht Hagarty Gilreath Drolet 
 

SUB 
TOTALS 

Aye         
Nay         
Absent         

 
 
 

ROLL 
CALL: 

Roach Bennett Marsh Smallheer    Holden
  

    Cozad Gerrish SUB 
TOTALS 

SUM OF 
TOTALS 

Aye          
Nay          
Absent          

 
 

 



 

C o m m u n i t y  D e v e l o p m e n t  D e p a r t m e n t  
2 5 5  S o u t h  L i n co l n  A ve n u e  O ’ F a l l o n ,  I L   6 2 2 6 9    P :  6 1 8 . 6 2 4 . 4 5 0 0  x  4    F :  6 1 8 . 6 2 4 . 4 5 3 4  

 
I : \ P  &  Z \ Z O N E F I L E \ P e t i t i o n e r  F i l e s \ 2 0 1 6 \ L i n c o l n  P a r k  V i l l a s  ( P 2 0 1 6 - 0 3 ) \ L i n c o l n  P a r k  V i l l a s  P C  R e p o r t  5 - 2 4 - 1 6 . d o c x  

 

 
 
 

P R O J E C T  R E P O R T  
 

TO:   Planning Commission 
FROM:  Justin Randall, Senior City Planner 
THRU:  Ted Shekell, Community Development Director 
DATE:  May 24, 2016 
SUBJECT:   P2016-03: Lincoln Park Villas – MR-2 Zoning Amendment & Planned Use
 
Applicant:  Chad Hartle 
  RCH Development, Inc. 
  2201 Walton Drive 
  Jackson, MO 63755 
  
Owner:  GCS Federal Credit Union 
  3970 Maryville Road 
  Granite City, IL 62040 
 
Submitted:  April 18, 2016 
 
 
Project Summary 
• Property located on the west side of Lincoln Road, just south of GCS Credit Union and O’Fallon Public Library. 
• Senior Living Development consisting of 6.98 acres. 
• 13 proposed buildings ranging from 4 units to 8 units. 
• Community Building, with a fitness area, gathering space and offices for the development and special outside 

services. 
• Zoned B-1(P) – Planned Community Business District. 
• Requested to be rezoned to MR-2(P), Planned Multi-Family Residential Dwelling District. 
• Connecting Civic Plaza to the drive just south of GCS Credit Union. 
• The gross density is 11.3 units per acre. 
• The developer will be tying into the City of O’Fallon water and sanitary sewer services. 
• Planned Use is also approving preliminary plat, location of street and new utilities. 
• A final plat will need to be filed prior to final approval. 
 
Background & Executive Summary 
The applicant, RCH Development, Inc., is proposing to create a 72 unit multi-family community for seniors 55 years of 
age or old, including a clubhouse facility with fitness equipment, open gathering areas, and offices.  The developer has 
stated the property will be deed/plat restricted to limit the age of renters to 55 year of age and older.  The property is 
located on the west side of Lincoln Avenue, just south of GCS Credit Union and O’Fallon Public Library. The 72 unit 
senior living community has a calculated density of 11.3 units / acre and provides 162 parking spaces for the 



C o m m u n i t y  D e v e l o p m e n t  D e p a r t m e n t  
2 5 5  S o u t h  L i n co l n  A ve n u e  O ’ F a l l o n ,  I L   6 2 2 6 9    P :  6 1 8 . 6 2 4 . 4 5 0 0  x  4    F :  6 1 8 . 6 2 4 . 4 5 3 4  

 

development.  There is a proposed detention pond in the northwest corner of the development, which will tie into the 
detention basins behind the library and an existing detention pond that will serve a portion of the development and the 
GCS Credit Union site.  
 
The development will connect the existing Civic Plaza that ends at the library parking lot to the street providing access 
to GCS Credit Union. The proposed extension of Civic Plaza will be consistent with the existing Civic Plaza, maintaining 
the 60-foot right-of-way and 30-foot of pavement face of curb to face of curb.  The development will only have access 
to Civic Plaza. Civic Plaza will have two connections to Lincoln Avenue.  There are no other connections to the south 
or west due to existing development. Sidewalks have been incorporated into the preliminary site plan on both sides of 
Civic Plaza, along Lincoln Avenue and throughout the development.   
 
The developer will be tying into the City of O’Fallon sanitary sewer and water system. Electric and gas services are 
available to the site and owned by Ameren IP. Telephone and internet service is available through AT&T and cable and 
internet is available through Charter. 
 
The property is currently zoned B-1(P), Planned Community Business District and the developer is requesting the 
property to be rezoned to MR-2, Multi-Family Residential Dwelling District. Although multi-family is allowed in the B-1 
district, MR-2 is the more appropriate zoning district due to the residential developments to the east and west of the 
site. The development will have a park land fee of $510 per unit. Additionally, the extension of Civic Drive, a public 
street, will create two lots for the development.  The Planned Use is approving two lots, the location of the street/right-
of-way width and utility extensions. This project only functions if all buildings and lots stay under one common 
ownership, which can be accomplished with a note on the final plat.  Since the development will be extending a city 
street and public utilities, there will be a need for subdivision improvement plans and a final plat approved by the City 
Council. 
 
Existing Conditions 
Surrounding Zoning:    Surrounding Land Use: 

North: B-1(P) & SR-1    North: GCS Credit Union, O’Fallon Public Library 
US Post Office. 

East: SR-2     East:  Single-family residential development of  
Southview Gardens subdivision. 

South: B-1 & B-1(P)    South: Multiple office buildings along Springfield  
Court. 

West: MR-2/PUD    West: Multi-family residential development of  
Woodgate subdivision. 

 
The site is currently used for agriculture purposes.  The site is generally flat, with a slight grade from Lincoln Avenue to 
the northwest corner. The site does not have any floodplain, nor any areas identified as a riparian area. There are no 
known environmental hazards on the site. 
 
 
Applicable Ordinances, Documents and Reports 
O’Fallon Comprehensive Plan:   
The O’Fallon Comprehensive Plan Future Land Use Map depicts the subject property as Office. Within the Office 
District, Nursing Homes are identified as an allowed use.  While this is not a nursing home, the development of senior 
housing community is comparable and consistent with the Office designation. 
 
Code of Ordinances:   
The proposed subdivision is subject to Chapter 154 (Subdivision) Chapter 155 (Development Manual) and Chapter 
158 (Zoning) of the Code of Ordinance and must meet the Area-Bulk requirements for lot dimensions.  The property is 
also subject to the MR-2, Multi-Family Residence Dwelling District requirements.   
 



C o m m u n i t y  D e v e l o p m e n t  D e p a r t m e n t  
2 5 5  S o u t h  L i n co l n  A ve n u e  O ’ F a l l o n ,  I L   6 2 2 6 9    P :  6 1 8 . 6 2 4 . 4 5 0 0  x  4    F :  6 1 8 . 6 2 4 . 4 5 3 4  

 

Public Notice:  
Public Notice of this project has been fulfilled in accordance with Section 158.255 and158.256 of the City of O’Fallon 
Zoning Regulations. More specifically, the applicant has notified property owners within 250 feet of the subject 
property via certified mail of the filing of the zoning amendment. Additionally, the City has notified property owners 
within 250 feet of the subject parcel of the public hearing at least 15 days prior to the hearing and published notice of 
the public hearing in a local newspaper at least 15 days in advance. Proof of notification is on file with the City’s 
Community Development Department. 
 
 
Discussion Points/Issues 
General Discussion:  
The Lincoln Park Villas senior community development consists of 6.98 acres with 72 units in a requested MR-2 
zoning district.  The developer has stated the property will be deed/plat restricted to limit the age of renters to 55 year 
of age and older.  The proposed development will have an overall density of 11.3 units per acre, well under the 16 
units allowed under the MR-2 zoning district.  Additionally, the proposed development meets all the other area/bulk 
requirements of the MR-2 district.  The 72 units will be built to meet the Green Building Standards to reduce utility 
costs and all units will include high efficiency appliances.  The units will be a mixture of one and two bedrooms.  The 
one bedroom units are approximately 750 square feet and the two bedrooms are approximately 865 square feet.  In 
addition to the 72 units, a clubhouse facility will be constructed with a fitness area, gathering space and offices.  The 
intent is for third party services be able to use an office, such as nurses, tax return prepares, educational providers 
and other services to be provided for the residences. This project only functions if all buildings and lots stay under one 
common ownership, which can be accomplished with a note on the final plat.   
 
Access, Circulation and Parking:  
The proposal will extend the existing Civic Plaza (a public street), which provides access to the library and access for 
GCS Credit Union.  The completed Civic Plaza will create two points of access for the development (and the library) 
to Lincoln Avenue.  The proposal will have four points of access onto Civic Plaza.  Civic Plaza is proposed to be 
constructed within a 60-foot right of way and a width of 30 feet, face of curb to face of curb.  This is consistent with the 
existing street segments of Civic Plaza from Lincoln Avenue to the library parking lot and Lincoln Avenue to the rear 
of the GCS Credit Union property. 
 
Within the development, the access to the buildings is comprised of 24-foot wide drive aisles with parking spaces.  
The layout provides sufficient on- and off-site circulation.  The site is required to provide 2 parking spaces per unit, 
totaling 144 parking spaces.  The site is designed with 162 parking spaces to accommodate the residents and their 
guest.  The development has provided sidewalks along both sides of Civic Plaza and sidewalks that connect all of the 
units to the parking lot, as well as to Civic Plaza. Additionally, sidewalks will be provided along Lincoln Avenue. 
 
Drainage and Detention:  
The site topography shows two drainage sub-basin areas for the property.  Generally, the eastern portion of the site 
flows to the south towards an existing detention basin, designed to collect stormwater for the eastern portion of the 
subject property and the GCS Credit Union development.  The remainder of the subject property generally drains to the 
northwest corner of the property, where a large detention basin is proposed. Actual detention pond sizes, grading, pipe 
sizes, and inlets will be engineered for the final plat phase.  All drainage plans must be reviewed and approved by the 
Public Works Department. 
 
Utilities: 
The developer will be tying into the City of O’Fallon water system.  The development will complete a loop of two 8” lines 
that stub at the end of the library property and the end of the GCS Credit Union Property.  Within the development 8” 
water lines will be utilized to provide water to the units.  Additionally, the developer will be utilizing the City of O’Fallon 
sanitary sewer system, tying the proposed development into the existing sanitary sewer main that runs through the 
subject property. Electric and gas services are available to the site and owned by Ameren IP. Telephone and internet 
service is available through AT&T and cable and internet is available through Charter. 



C o m m u n i t y  D e v e l o p m e n t  D e p a r t m e n t  
2 5 5  S o u t h  L i n co l n  A ve n u e  O ’ F a l l o n ,  I L   6 2 2 6 9    P :  6 1 8 . 6 2 4 . 4 5 0 0  x  4    F :  6 1 8 . 6 2 4 . 4 5 3 4  

 

 
Street Trees, Landscape Berms, and Buffers: 
A preliminary landscape plan has been submitted for the parking lot areas and open spaces.  The developer will be 
required to install street trees in the 7’ wide lawn between the curb and sidewalk every 50 feet along the streets in the 
development. The regulations will require a vinyl fence along the eastern property line that adjoins the GCS Credit 
Union property.  A berm along Civic Plaza and Lincoln Avenue is not required because the buildings will be oriented 
so the front evaluations are facing the streets. 
 
Building Elevations and Signage: 
The developer has provided building elevations for the senior living facility that are consistent with other residential 
and multi-family developments within the city.  The elevations are constructed of varying building materials, including 
fiber cement siding, stone veneer, brick veneer, columns and varying roof pitches.  The development has proposed 
as many front elevations as possible to be seen from Lincoln Avenue and Civic Plaza.  However Building 2 and 
Building 3 will have highly visible rear elevations.  Building 2 adjoins the parking lot of the library and Building 3 
adjoins the rear of GCS Credit Union, both will be aided by the vinyl fence required in the landscaping package. 
 
The developer has provided an area near the intersection of Lincoln Avenue and Civic Plaza to construct a monument 
sign. The City and developer are in discussions to create a sign that will provide a space for the O’Fallon Public 
Library, however final design and sizing has not be finalized. 
 
Open Space: 
As detailed in Article 4 of Chapter 155 (Subdivisions), park lands are required to be constructed, or a fee in-lieu-of 
paid, whenever new residential developments are constructed. Based on the average density of 1.66 persons per 
apartment unit, the development’s 72 units requires a total of 0.72 acre of park lands dedication. This is based on the 
6 acres of park space per 1000 people. The subdivision’s population estimate is 120 (72 x 1.66).  A fee of $36,720 
(based on a construction cost of $51,000 for one acre of park land) will be required for the 0.72 acre of park space, 
totaling $510 per unit.   
 
 
Criteria for considering General Rezoning applications: 
In considering any application for rezoning, the Commission and the Governing Body may give consideration to the 
criteria stated below to the extent they are pertinent to the particular application.  The Commission and Governing 
Body also may consider other factors that may be relevant to a particular application.  The rezoning of the Lincoln 
Park Villas project appears to meet each of the following zoning criteria: 

a) the existing uses and zoning of nearby property;   
b) the extent to which property values are diminished by the particular zoning restrictions; 
c) the extent to which the destruction of property values of plaintiff promote the health, safety, morals or 

welfare of the public;  
d) the relative gain to the public as compared to the hardship imposed upon the individual property owner;  
e) the suitability of the subject property for the zoned purposes;  
f) the length of time the property has been vacant as zoned considered in the context of land development in 

the area in the vicinity of the subject property;  
g) the care that the community has taken to plan its land use development, and  
h) the community need for the proposed use. 

 
 
Conclusion and Recommendation 
Staff recommends approval of Lincoln Park Villas with the following conditions: 

1. There will be a park land dedication requirement of 0.72 acre, with the requirement being fulfilled through a 
fee in lieu of land in the amount of $36,720, $510.00 per unit. 



C o m m u n i t y  D e v e l o p m e n t  D e p a r t m e n t  
2 5 5  S o u t h  L i n co l n  A ve n u e  O ’ F a l l o n ,  I L   6 2 2 6 9    P :  6 1 8 . 6 2 4 . 4 5 0 0  x  4    F :  6 1 8 . 6 2 4 . 4 5 3 4  

 

2. A revised landscaping plan is required to including street trees and fencing. 
3. A final plat is required with a note restricting the limit the age of the renters to 55 or older 
4. A final plat is required with an note restricting the sale of individual lots and buildings. 

 
Attachments 

1. Project Application & Narrative 
2. Zoning Map 
3. Surrounding Land Use Map 
4. Site Plans 
5. Building Elevations 







LI
N

C
O

LN
 A

VE

DARTMOUTH DR

W
EL

LE
SL

EY
 D

R
WESTMINSTER DR

HARVARD DR

WHITE PINE AVE

DARTMOUTH DR

SOUTHVIEW PLZ

D
A

LE
 A

VE

NANCY
D

R

RUTH DR

SPRINGFIELD CT

VA
N

D
ER

B
IL

T 
PL

A
M

H
U

R
ST

D
R

W
OO

DG
AT

E 
DR

WOODGATE DR

CIVIC PLZ

C
IV

IC
 P

LZ

MR-2/PUD

MR-2/PUD

B-1(P)

B-1

B-1

B-1

B-1

B-1(P)

SR-2 SR-2

SR-2

SR-2

SR-2

SR-2

SR-2

SR-2

SR-2

SR-2

SR-2

SR-2

SR-1

SR-1

SR-1

SR-1

SR-1

SR-1
SR-1

SR-2

SR-1

SR-1

Provided by East-West Gateway Council of Governments, imagery flown by
SURDEX

Subject
Property

0 130 260 390 52065
Feet .

P2016-03: Lincoln Park Villas - Zoning Map



LI
N

C
O

LN
 A

VE

WESTMINSTER DR

HARVARD DR

D
A

LE
 A

VE

W
EL

LE
SL

EY
 D

R

NANCY
D

R

WHITE PINE AVE

DARTMOUTH DR

RUTH DR

VA
N

D
ER

B
IL

T 
PL

SPRINGFIELD CT A
M

H
U

R
S T

DR

W
OO

DG
AT

E 
DR

WOODGATE DR

CIVIC PLZ

C
IV

IC
 P

LZ

SOUTHVIEW PLZ

Provided by East-West Gateway Council of Governments, imagery flown by
SURDEX

Subject
Property

0 120 240 360 48060
Feet .

P2016-03: Lincoln Park Villas - Land Use Map

Southview Gardens
Subdivision

US Post Office
O'Fallon Public Library

GCS
Credit
Union

Lincoln Park
Office Development

Woodgate
Subdivision









1

9 12

6

5

7
4

2

10

C

8

13

11

PRELIMINARY LANDSCAPE  PLAN

1

LINCOLN PARK SENIOR VILLAS 9 Design, 
A0.2



A2.0

LINCOLN PARK SENIOR VILLAS 9 Design, 

EXTERIOR FRONT ELEVATION  -  4 UNIT BUILDING 

1

EXTERIOR FRONT ELEVATION  -  6 UNIT BUILDING - TYPE A

2



A2.1

LINCOLN PARK SENIOR VILLAS 9 Design, 

EXTERIOR FRONT ELEVATION - 6 UNIT BUILDING - TYPE B

1

EXTERIOR FRONT ELEVATION  -  6 UNIT BUILDING - TYPE C

2



A2.2

LINCOLN PARK SENIOR VILLAS 9 Design, 

1

EXTERIOR FRONT ELEVATION  -  8 UNIT BUILDING - PARTIAL

2

EXTERIOR FRONT ELEVATION  -  8 UNIT BUILDING - PARTIAL

EXTERIOR FRONT ELEVATION  -  COMMUNITY BUILDING

3





https://ofallonil-my.sharepoint.com/personal/mfair_ofallon_org/Documents/Documents/mfdocs/Staff Reports^J Letters^J and Memos 
2016/160620ZoningSR-3.docx 

CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

 
 To:   Mayor Graham and City Council 
   
From:  Ted Shekell, Director of Community Development 
  Walter Denton, City Administrator  
 
Date:   June 20, 2016 
 
Subject:  P2016-04: Text Amendment – Permitted Principal Structures in SR-3 Zone 

District (1st Reading) 
 ____________________________________________________________________________ 
 
List of committees that have reviewed: At its meeting on June 13, 2016, the Community 
Development Committee reviewed the proposed changes to the permitted principal structures in 
the SR-3 Zone District.  The committee discussed the changes and recommended them for 
approve via a vote of 5 ayes and 0 nays. 
 
 
Project Summary: 
Current Issue 
City staff is proposing a text amendment to prohibit new modular homes in the SR-3 Single Family 
Residence Dwelling District, which will not affect existing modular homes currently in an SR-3 
zone district.  There has not been a problem with the regulations as currently drafted until recently, 
a modular home was placed on a lot in an SR-3, Single-Family Residence Dwelling District that 
is inconsistent with the stick built homes surrounding the modular home.  The home is not oriented 
towards the street and appears to look like a manufactured home.  Modular and manufactured 
homes are homes that are constructed in a factory and brought to the site as a whole home or in 
large modules and are regulated by the State of Illinois.  The City’s Code differentiates between 
modular homes (placed on a permanent foundation) and manufactured homes (able to be 
relocated easily), however the City’s regulations do not regulate orientation or style of the modular 
homes.  The home was approved by city staff as it met all current codes, however, this new 
structure has spurred discussion on how to regulate the vast differences between the design 
characteristics of modular homes.   
 
Proposal 
There are two potential options to regulate modular homes in the SR-3 zone districts; prohibit 
modular homes or require a special use permit. Staff has evaluated surrounding communities and 
each takes a different approach, between what residential districts they are permitted and whether 
a special use is required.  Staff also researched modular home options that could be purchased.  
There is a vast difference in the design characteristics offered by different modular home 
manufactures, from the basic double-wide home with very little character and minimum roof pitch 
to a very ornate two-story home.  Due to the wide variety of options available, staff believes it 



https://ofallonil-my.sharepoint.com/personal/mfair_ofallon_org/Documents/Documents/mfdocs/Staff Reports^J Letters^J and Memos 
2016/160620ZoningSR-3.docx 

would be very difficult to regulate the aesthetics and design of the home. Therefore, the proposed 
text amendment would prohibit a modular home in the SR-3 zone district. Modular homes would 
still be allowed in the MR-1, MR-2, MH-1 and MH-2 zone districts.  This will cause some non-
conforming structures throughout the city, but will not affect existing modular home and only 
prohibit any new ones to be place in the SR3 zone district. The following are the proposed 
changes to the City’s Code of Ordinances: 
 

 §158.037 (6) SR-3, Single-Family Residence Dwelling District. 
o (a) Permitted principal structures.   Building structures of the following 

classes:  Class 1, conventionally-built building structures; and Class 2, 
prefabricated building structures; and Class 3, modular building structures. 

 
 
Legal Considerations, if any:  None 
 
Budget Impact: None 
 
Staff Recommendation:  Staff recommends adopting the text amendment to prohibit a modular 
building structure in the SR-3 zone district. 
 
 



1 
 

 
 
 
 
 

ORDINANCE NO.  _______ 
 
 
AN ORDINANCE AMENDING 
SECTION 158.037 (6) OF  
CHAPTER 158: ZONING OF  
THE CITY CODE OF ORDINANCES 
 
 

 
WHEREAS, Section 158.037 (6) of Chapter 158 of the City Code of 

Ordinances currently provides for the permitted structures in the SR-3, Single-
Family Residence Dwelling District; and 
 

WHEREAS, the City Code of Ordinances defines and permits modular 
homes in the SR-3, Single-Family Residence Dwelling District; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City Code of Ordinances does not regulate the orientation 

or style of modular homes; and 
 
WHEREAS, there is vast variation of design characteristics, making 

regulating the installation of a modular difficult in areas zoned SR-3, Single-Family 
Residence Dwelling District. 

 
 NOW THEREFORE BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF 
THE CITY OF O’FALLON, ILLINOIS, as follows: 
   
 Section 1. The forgoing recitals are incorporated herein as findings of the 
City Council. 
 
 Section 2.  Section 158.037 (6) of Chapter 158 of the O’Fallon Code of 
Ordinances is amended by way of amending the code to the following: 
 

§158.037 (6) SR-3, Single-Family Residence Dwelling District. 
(a) Permitted principal structures.   Building structures of the following 
classes:  Class 1, conventionally-built building structures; and Class 2, 
prefabricated building structures; and Class 3, modular building 
structures. 



2 
 

 
 This Ordinance shall be in full force affect, from and after its passage, 
approval and publication in pamphlet form as provided by law.  
 
 PASSED this _____ day of __________, 2016, pursuant to a roll call vote as 
follows: 
 
 
 
 

APPROVED by me this ____ day of 
_____________________2016. 

 
 

______________________________ 
Gary L. Graham, Mayor 

ATTESTED 
 
 
_______________________________ 
Philip A. Goodwin, City Clerk 
 
 
 

ROLL 
CALL: 

McCoskey Meile Kueker Albrecht Hagarty Gilreath Drolet 
 

SUB 
TOTALS 

Aye         
Nay         
Absent         

 
 
 

ROLL 
CALL: 

Roach Bennett Marsh Smallheer    Holden
  

    Cozad Gerrish SUB 
TOTALS 

SUM OF 
TOTALS 

Aye          
Nay          
Absent          

 
 



C:\Users\mfair\OneDrive - City of O'Fallon\Documents\mfdocs\Staff Reports, Letters, and Memos 2016\160606CouncilRules.docx 

CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

 To:  Mayor and City Council 

From:  Walter Denton, City Administrator 

Date:  June 6, 2016 

Subject: An ordinance amending Chapter 30 establishing rules for City Council and 
Committee meetings 

 
List of committees that have reviewed: Finance and Administration 
 
Background: The Open Meetings Act requires that cities establish rules for public comment at 
meetings. The City currently does not have any rules. This ordinance establishes rules on civil 
behavior for public comment at City Council and Committee meetings. 
 
Legal Considerations, if any: Reviewed by City Attorney Dale Funk. 
 
Budget Impact: None. 
 
Staff recommendation: Approval. 



CITY OF O’FALLON, ILLINOIS 
ORDINANCE NO. ________ 
 
AN ORDINANCE AMENDING  
CHAPTER 30 “CITY COUNCIL” 
OF THE CITY  
CODE OF ORDINANCES 
RULES OF ORDER 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
WHEREAS, Chapter 30 of the City Code of Ordinances currently provides for meetings 

(Section 30.05) and Rules of Order and Procedure (Section 30.07) for the City Council; and 
 

WHEREAS, Section 30.05 and Section 30.07 do not pertain to committees of the City 
Council; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Rules of Order and Procedure, specifically Section 30.07(D), does not 

provide sufficient guidance or regulation with regard to the conduct of the general public at 
Council and Committee meetings. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL OF 

THE CITY OF O’FALLON, ST. CLAIR COUNTY, ILLINOIS AS FOLLOWS: 
 
Section 1. The forgoing recitals are incorporated herein as findings of the City 

Council.  
 
Section 2. Chapter 30 Section 30.05 MEETINGS, is here by amended by addition of 

the following: 
 

§30.05 (C) Committee meetings shall be scheduled on days and times as determined by the City 
Council. In all respects, committee meetings shall comply with the Open Meetings Act 5 ILCS 
120/1 et. seq. 
 
 Section 3. Chapter 30, Section 30.07 Rules of Order and Procedure is amended as 
follows; The introductory paragraph is deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following. 
 
 All rules of Order and Procedure shall govern the deliberations and meetings of both the 
City Council and its Committees except as to Committee meetings Sub-Section (AA(1)) 
Reconsideration, shall apply only to a vote or question considered at any time during the same 
Committee meeting.  
 



 2 

 Except as otherwise provided, all references in Section 30.07 Rules of Order and Procedure 
to the terms City Council, Council and Alderman shall include and apply to Committee Members 
and committee Chairman as applicable.  

 
 Section 4.  Chapter 30, Section 30.07, Sub-Section (D) VISITORS, is deleted in its 
entirety and replaced with the following. 
 

(D) Public Comment 
 
1. City Council Meetings 
 

a. City Council meetings are deliberative sessions by members of the governing body. 
Civility and decorum are expected at all times. Public comment is encouraged at all 
public meetings, but the primary purpose of the meetings are for the aldermen to 
discuss and determine public policy for the City of O’Fallon. 

 
b. Speakers will be acknowledged by the Mayor and shall address the City Council in 

a respectful manner from the podium and not approach the City Council. Speakers 
will begin their statement by first stating their name and whether or not they are a 
resident of the City of O’Fallon. A speaker who represents an organization or other 
person, must identify the organization or person. 

 
c. Statements are to be directed to the City Council as a whole and not to individual 

Council members or individual City staff.  
 

d. A speaker shall speak no longer than five (5) minutes on any subject matter and 
shall only speak once on the same subject matter. A speaker may speak for longer 
than five (5) minutes if given permission by the Mayor. 

 
e.  After a speaker has made his/her statements, he/she shall be seated with no further 

comments. 
 

f. Public comment is not intended to require the City Council members or City Staff 
to provide any answer to the speaker.  

 
      g. Discussions between speakers and members of the audience will not be allowed.  

 
h.  The Mayor reserves the right to stop or remove, from the Council chambers meeting 

room, any speaker or member of the audience who uses profanity, makes threats or 
is otherwise disruptive.  

   
i.  The public has the right to distribute written materials, including copies of 

comments which material shall be presented to the City Clerk. 
 
j.  The general public shall not be permitted to bring signs, banners or other display 

materials into the Council chambers.  



 3 

   
   k.   Cellular telephones, electronic beepers and pagers that emit a paging or telephone      

sound, shall be allowed in the Council chambers, provided the device is turned off 
or on “silent” mode.    

 
l.  The Mayor reserves the right to override the above rules in the case of an emergency 

or other unforeseen circumstances.  
 

 2. Committee Meetings. 
 

a. Council Committee meetings are deliberative sessions by members of the 
governing body. Civility and decorum are expected at all times. Public comment is 
encouraged at all public meetings, but the primary purpose of the meetings are for 
the Committee Members to discuss and determine public policy for the City of 
O’Fallon. 

 
b. Speakers will be acknowledged by the Committee Chairman and shall address the 

Committee in a respectful manner from the podium and not approach the 
Committee. Speakers will begin their statement by first stating their name and 
whether or not they are a resident of the City of O’Fallon. A speaker who represents 
an organization or other person, must identify the organization or person. 

 
c. Statements are to be directed to the Committee as a whole and not to individual 

Committee members or individual City staff.  
 

d. A speaker shall speak no longer than five (5) minutes on any subject matter and 
shall only speak once on the same subject matter. A speaker may speak for longer 
than five (5) minutes if given permission by the Committee Chairman. 

 
e. If the Committee Chairman or a Committee Member has a question of any person 

who has previously addressed the Committee, that person may answer and address 
the specific question even though he or she has previously addressed the 
Committee. 

 
f. The Committee Chairman reserves the right to stop or remove, from the committee 

meeting room, any speaker or member of the audience who uses profanity, makes 
threats or is otherwise disruptive.  

   
g. The public has the right to distribute written materials, including copies of 

comments which material shall be presented to the Committee Chairman.   
 

h. The general public shall not be permitted to bring signs, banners or other display 
materials into the Committee meeting room.  

   



 4 

i. Cellular telephones, electronic beepers and pagers that emit a paging or telephone 
sound, shall be allowed in the Committee meeting room, provided the device is 
turned off or on “silent” mode.  

 
j. The Committee Chairman reserves the right to override the above rules in the case 

of an emergency or other unforeseen circumstances.  
 
 
 

Passed by the City Council this______ day of _________ 2016. 
 

*************************** 
 
ATTEST:      Approved by the Mayor this__ day  

 
(seal)       of _____________ 2016.  
          
__________________________   ______________________________ 
Philip A. Goodwin, City Clerk   Gary L. Graham, Mayor 
   
 

ROLL 
CALL: 

McCoskey Meile Kueker Albrecht  Hagarty Drolet 
 

SUB 
TOTALS 

Aye         
Nay         
Absent         

 
 
 

ROLL 
CALL: 

Roach Bennett Marsh Smallheer    Holden
  

    Cozad Gerrish SUB 
TOTALS 

SUM OF 
TOTALS 

Aye          
Nay          
Absent          

 



C:\Users\mfair\OneDrive - City of O'Fallon\Documents\mfdocs\Staff Reports, Letters, and Memos 2016\160606StopSignWindsorCreek.docx 

CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEMS 

To:  Mayor Graham and City Council 

From:  Jeff Taylor, Director of Public Works 

Walter Denton, City Administrator 

Date:  June 6, 2016 

Subject: ORDINANCE – Stop Signs, Windsor Creek Subdivisions 
 
List of committees that have reviewed:  Public Works  
 
Background:  Due to the completion of another phase of the Windsor Creek Subdivision, stop 
sign installation has been accomplished requiring supporting ordinance passage to allow police 
enforcement.   
 
Legal Considerations, if any: None, traffic control per accepted standards. 
 
Budget Impact:  None, the signs will be provided by the developer of the subdivision. 
 
Staff recommendation:  Staff recommend passage of the ordinance amendment to support 
enforcement of the stop conditions. 
 



CITY OF O’FALLON, ILLINOIS 
ORDINANCE NO.     
 
 
 
AN ORDINANCE AMENDING 
THE CODE OF ORDINANCES  
OF THE CITY OF O’FALLON, 
CHAPTER 77, TRAFFIC  
SCHEDULES, SCHEDULE III, 
STOP/THROUGH STREET 
INTERSECTIONS  
 
 
 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF O’FALLON, 
ST. CLAIR COUNTY, ILLINOIS AS FOLLOWS: 
 
 
SECTION 1: STOP STREET DESIGNATIONS:  
 
An Ordinance to amend the Code of Ordinances of the City of O'Fallon, Chapter 77, Schedule “III” be 

amended to include the following: 

 
Stop Street(s) Intersections: 

 Stop Street Through Street Direction 
1) Yeats Court Dickinson Drive Southbound 
2) Yeats Court Dickinson Drive Northbound 
3) Bradstreet Drive Dickinson Drive Southbound 
4) Coleridge Court Dickinson Drive Southbound 

 

SECTION 2:  RESPONSIBILITIES: 

The City is responsible for the posting of said stop signs at named intersections above. 

  



Upon its passage and approval, this Ordinance shall be in full force and effect ten (10) days after 
its publication in pamphlet form as required by law.   
 

Passed by the City Council this ______ day of _______, 2016. 
 

*************************** 
 

 
ATTEST:      Approved by the Mayor this _____ day  

 
(seal)       of ________, 2016.  

 
          
__________________________   ______________________________ 
Philip A. Goodwin, City Clerk   Gary L. Graham, Mayor 

 
 
 

 
 



 

C o m m u n i t y  D e v e l o p m e n t  D e p a r t m e n t  
2 5 5  S o u t h  L i n c o l n  A v e n u e   O ’ F a l l o n ,  I L   6 2 2 6 9    P :  6 1 8 . 6 2 4 . 4 5 0 0  x  4    F : 6 1 8 . 6 2 4 . 4 5 3 4  

 
C : \ U s e r s \ m f a i r \ A p p D a t a \ L o c a l \ M i c r o s o f t \ W i n d o w s \ I N e t C a c h e \ C o n t e n t . O u t l o o k \ T 2 3 O Q M 6 Q \ 6 - 1 3 - 2 0 1 6 . d o c x  

 

DRAFT MINUTES 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE 

   5:30 PM Monday, June 13, 2016 
 
Minutes of a regular meeting of the Community Development Committee of the City of O'Fallon, held at the Public Safety 
Building, 285 N. Seven Hills Road, O’Fallon, Illinois. 
 
CALL TO ORDER: 6:25 PM 
 
I) Roll Call – Committee members: Jerry Albrecht, Gene McCoskey, David Cozad, Harlan Gerrish and Ray 

Holden. Other Elected Officials Present: Matt Smallhear, Rich Meile, Kevin Hagerty, Matthew Gilreath, Herb 
Roach, Robert Kueker and Ned Drolet. Staff: Walter Denton, James Cavins, Grant Litteken, Ted Shekell, Jeff 
Stehman and Justin Randall. Visitors: Ron Zelms, Rick Reckamp, Charlie Pitts, Chad Hartle, Tim Moore and 
Dave Dillow. 

II) Approval of Minutes from Previous Meeting – All ayes. Motion carried. 
III) Items Requiring Council Action 

A. Fezziwigs Redevelopment Agreement (1st Reading) – Justin Randall provided a brief overview of the 
redevelopment agreement for the improvements at 225 West 1st Street.  Ted Shekell informed the 
Committee there was a detailed budget of the approved costs for the improvements made to the 
building.  Shekell also discussed the TIF would only pay back 75% of the increase in assessed value.  
The committee discussed the redevelopment agreement and recommended approval with a vote of 5-0. 

B. Milburn Estate 1st Addition – Final Plat (1st Reading) – Justin Randall provided a brief overview of the 
final plat for Milburn Estates 1st Addition and explained to the Committee the improvement plans have 
been approved by the Community Development and Public Works Departments.  The committee 
discussed the final plat and recommended approval with a vote of 5-0. 

C. Parkview Meadows – Phase 1 – Final Plat (1st Reading) – Justin Randall provided a brief overview of the 
final plat for Phase 1 of Parkview Meadows and explained to the Committee the improvement plans have 
been approved by the Community Development and Public Works Departments.  The committee 
discussed the final plat and recommended approval with a vote of 5-0. 

D. Lincoln Park Villas – Planned Use (1st Reading) – Justin Randall provided a brief overview of the 
proposed planned use for Lincoln Park Villas, a 72-unit senior living facility near GCS Credit Union and 
the O’Fallon Public Library.  Chad Hartle, the applicant spoke about the issues of drainage and buffers 
between the development and the Woodgate subdivision to the west.  The committee discussed the 
planned use and recommended approval with a vote of 5-0. 

E. Text Amendment – Permitted Structures in the SR-3 Zone District (1st Reading) – Justin Randall 
provided an overview of the text amendment.  Randall indicated staff reviewed surrounding communities’ 
regulations and explained the current issue with modular homes in the SR-3 zone district.  Shekell added 
the typical prefabricated homes that come in panels would still be permitted but the modular style would 
not be allowed. The committee discussed the text amendment and recommended approval with a vote of 
5-0. 

IV) Other Business  
A. Jeff Stehman provided the Committee with an update on the dilapidated house and accessory structure 

at 115 Elm Street.  Stehman indicated the City now had a deed to the abandon property and would be 
coming back the Committee for authorization to tear down the building once a bid was selected. 



 

C o m m u n i t y  D e v e l o p m e n t  D e p a r t m e n t  
2 5 5  S o u t h  L i n c o l n  A v e n u e   O ’ F a l l o n ,  I L   6 2 2 6 9    P :  6 1 8 . 6 2 4 . 4 5 0 0  x  4    F : 6 1 8 . 6 2 4 . 4 5 3 4  

 

B. Residence of South Vine Street voiced concerns over a house located on Vine Street and its potential 
use for the expansion of an existing business on Lincoln Avenue.  Staff informed the citizens to provide 
any pictures they have of business related activities to the City and that City staff will increase monitoring 
the house for business activities. 

 
MEETING ADJOURNED: 7:15 PM 
 
NEXT MEETING: June 27, 2016 – Public Safety Building 
 
Prepared by: Justin Randall, Senior City Planner 



     
Public Safety Committee Minutes 

June 13, 2016 5:00 p.m. 
 

Minutes of a regular meeting of the Public Safety Committee of the City of O’Fallon, held 
in the Community Room, Public Safety Building, 285 N. Seven Hills Road, O’Fallon, Illinois, 
June 13, 2016.  Call to order 5:00 p.m.  
 
ROLL CALL: 
Members Present: Marsh, Hagarty, Drolet, Roach, Smallheer 
Members Not Present: Kueker (not present for roll call) 
Staff Liaison: Chief Van Hook - OPD, Chief Brent Saunders - OFD  
Other Aldermen Present Albrecht, Cozad, Gerrish, Gilreath, Holden, McCoskey, 

Meile   
Other Persons Present Walter Denton – City Administrator; Sandy Evans – Dir. Of 

Finance; Dan Bowman – Engineering Manager; Ted 
Shekell – Director Comm. Development; Mark Berry – 
OPD; James Cavins – OPD; Kirk Brueggeman – OPD; Rob 
Schmidtke – OPD; Keith Townsend – OPD; Jeff Wild – 
EMS; Jeremy Sherman – EMS; Kim Lamprecht – EMS; Mick 
Hunter – OPD; Marie Dackelmeister - OPD; Justin Randall 
– Sr. City Planner; Grant Litteken – Management Analyst; 
Carrie Hruby – SD # 90; Patty Cavins – SD # 90; Fred 
Boch – St. Clair County Board; Ron Zelms – Resident; Rick 
Reckamp – Resident; Brandi Paul – Resident; Vern Malare 
– Resident; Charles Pitts – Resident; Ron Cavins – 
Resident; John Drolet – Resident; Dave Witter – Resident; 
Matt Gileam – Resident; Misty McDonald - OPD 

Media Persons Present: Mark Hodapp – BND; Nick Miller – O’Fallon Weekly 
 
Chairwoman Marsh declared a quorum present and requested a Motion to approve the 
Minutes of May 09, 2016 Alderman Hagarty made a Motion to accept the minutes of May 
09, 2016 as presented and Alderman Smallheer seconded the Motion. All Ayes.   
 
New Business 
Item 1.  Ordinance for a Stop Sign – An ordinance to amend the Code of Ordinance 
of the City of O’Fallon, Chapter 77, Schedule “III” be amended to include Stop Street at 
the intersection of Hesse Way and North Madison, Westbound.  The sign was requested 
by Alderman Meile and Public Safety as determined that with the increased traffic there is 
a need for this sign to be added. 



 2 

Action:  Request to take to council for a vote to get an approval to sign the Chapter 77 
Schedule “III” to include a Stop Street at the intersection of Hesse Way and North 
Madison, Westbound. 
Motion: A motion was made by Alderman Drolet to take to council for an approval to sign 
the Chapter 77 Schedule “III” to include a Stop Street at the intersection of Hesse Way 
and North Madison, Westbound and seconded by Alderman Hagarty.  All ayes. 
Disposition:  Closed 
 
Item 2.  Resolution of Transfer of Monies from Reserve – A resolution authorizing 
the transfer of funds from general fund reserves to be used for equipment and building 
updates for the 9-1-1 consolidation center.  Due to the mandatory PSAP consolidation in 
the State of Illinois, St. Clair county will be tasked to reduce the number of PSAP’s from 
the current 8 down to 4 by the July 1, 2017 deadline.  Illinois has approved of the 4 
locations of those PSAP’s to be O’Fallon/ Fairview Heights, Belleville, East St. Louis and 
CENCOM.  As we move forward with the consolidation there is a need to purchase 
equipment, update dispatch communications center and re-outfit with 6 councils versus 
the current 4 councils.  It was asked if other departments in the area are interested in a 
consolidation with O’Fallon.  Chief Van Hook answered saying that he would rather wait 
until he had other departments seeking dispatching alternatives before he suggests any 
other consolidation. 
Action:  Request to take the resolution to council for a vote to get an approval to transfer 
funds from the general fund reserves to be used for equipment and building updates for 
the 9-1-1 consolidation center. 
Motion: A motion was made by Alderman Hagarty to take the resolution to council for a 
vote to get an approval to transfer funds from the general fund reserves to be used for 
equipment and building updates for the 9-1-1 consolidation center and seconded by 
Alderman Drolet.  All ayes. 
Disposition:  Closed 
 
Item 3.  Intergovernmental Agreement with Illinois Law Enforcement and 
Alarm System (ILEAS) – Authorizing the City of O’Fallon, Illinois to enter into a mutual 
aid agreement with the Illinois Law Enforcement Alarm System.  Although we have had 
mutual aid agreements in the past with ILEAS and have never asked for a resolution from 
the council, Public Safety would like to be consistent in how they request their 
intergovernmental agreements and have asked for this resolution to be included as with 
other intergovernmental agreements. 
Action: Request to take the intergovernmental agreement with ILEAS to council for a 
vote to get an approval to sign a mutual aid agreement. 
Motion: A motion was made by Alderman Roach to take to council for an approval to 
sign the mutual aid contract with ILEAS and seconded by Alderman Hagarty.  All ayes. 
Disposition:  Closed 
 
Item 4.  School Crossing Guard Program – Chief Van Hook started with a 
presentation from the Public Safety Department as to why the City has decided to dissolve 
the School Crossing guard program.  In 2009 a study was conducted by Chief John Betten 
and at that time it was decided to cut the crossing guard program from 12 to 7 guards 
and that other cuts could be forth coming.  The Public Safety Department would continue 
to monitor the program and make decisions based upon their finding.  In 2015 Captain 



 3 

Mick Hunter prepared another crossing guard study and determined based upon his 
findings, he recommended that the crossing guard program be dissolved.  This study was 
given to the City Council for their examination.  In 2016 Public Safety Analyst Mick Hunter 
updated his findings and it was decided to remove the crossing guards from the FY2017 
budgets.  After the decision was made letters were sent to all the School District’s in 
O’Fallon to allow them ample time to determine how to proceed with the crossing guard 
program.  School District #203 and #104 do not use crossing guards at their schools.  
School District #90 uses 6 of the 7 crossing guards. Chief Van Hook, Mayor Graham and 
City Administrator Walter Denton met the Superintendent Carrie Hruby to discuss some 
alternatives to the crossing guard program.  After the presentation the floor was open to 
discussion.  Alderman Smallheer asked if the crossing guards salaries were a budget line 
by themselves.  Chief Van Hook stated that they are not an independent line item, that 
they are under the part-time salaries of the Police Department under the General Funds.  
A question from the floor “Has there been discussion with the City to give the money to 
the School District and have the school administer the program?”  Chief Van Hook stated 
that he didn’t want to speak for the School District but we did discuss this option with the 
School District.  Superintendent Carrie Hruby said that she could speak on behalf of the 
district regarding the question.  Superintendent Hruby stated that the district has no 
interested in administering the program.  The district faces difficulties finding substitute 
teachers and teaching aids for the day to day operation.  Adding the resources to also try 
to staff the crossing guards would be impossible for the district.  Another question from 
the floor “Is there a need for the crossing guard program or maybe just certain 
intersections?”  Chief Van Hook stated that after hearing the discussion from the Alderman 
that the safety of the children is first and if it’s only 1 child or 100 children that cross and 
intersection the need for the guard is what the council wants.  Chief Van Hook stated that 
one of the difficulties of staffing the program is the hours.  We actually on have a need 
for crossing guards ½ hour in the morning and ½ hour in the evening, we have been 
paying up to 4 hours a day for some of the guards just to keep them on staff.  If we move 
forward with the program, we will only pay for the actual hours needed.  After the 
discussion it was determined that the item be brought back to City Council for a vote from 
the Alderman as to whether the program should be continued. 
Action: Request to take to council for a vote to pay for and administer the school crossing 
guard program through the Public Safety Department as status quo. 
Motion: A motion was made by Alderman Smallheer to take to council for an approval to 
pay for and administer the School Crossing Guard program through the Public Safety 
Department as status quo and seconded by Alderman Kueker.  Aye 4 (Hagarty, Roach, 
Kueker, Smallheer), No 2 (Marsh, Drolet) 
Disposition:  Closed 
 
Old Business 
Item 1.  Intergovernmental Agreement with Fairview Heights to provide 
Dispatch personnel for Fairview Heights Communications Center – Will have a 
second reading at the Council Meeting held on Monday June 20, 2016. 
 
Item 2.  Public Safety Employee Benefits Act – Will have a second reading at the 
Council Meeting held on Monday June 20, 2016. 
 



 4 

Item 3.  Chapter 75 Vehicle Conditions, Equipment & Loads – Will have a second 
reading at the Council Meeting held on Monday June 20, 2016. 
 
Item 4.  Chapter 77 Traffic Schedule – Will have a second reading at the Council 
Meeting held on Monday June 20, 2016. 
 
Item 5.  Chapter 70 General Provisions – Will have a second reading at the Council 
Meeting held on Monday June 20, 2016. 
 
Chairwoman Marsh asked if anyone had any other New Business not on the Agenda, 
hearing no New Business, Chairwoman Marsh called for a Motion to adjourn.  A Motion to 
adjourn was made by Alderman Smallheer and Alderman Drolet seconded the Motion.  All 
ayes. 

 
Meeting Adjourned: 6:19 p.m. 

   Next PS Meeting:  July 11, 2016 5:00 p.m. 
   Minutes Taken By:  Misty McDonald   



CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEMS 

To:  Mayor Graham and City Council 

From: Eric Van Hook, Director of Public Safety 
Walter Denton, City Administrator 

Date:  June 20, 2016 

Subject: Motion to reinstate the School Crossing Guard Program 

 
List of committees that have reviewed: The motion passed the Public Safety 
Committee by a 4-2 vote. 
 
Background: The School Crossing Guard program has been in place for at least 25 
years. In 2009, the City conducted a study that determined the program was costly and 
ineffective. After discussion with the school districts, the number of School Crossing 
Guard sites was reduced from 11 to 7. The school districts did not pick up the sites that 
were eliminated. 
 
A study was conducted in 2015 concluding that O’Fallon is the only community in the 
area that 100% funds and manages a School Crossing Guard program. The study 
found that of 15 area communities surveyed, School Crossing Guards are completely 
funded and managed by the school districts in 11 communities. In three communities, 
School Crossing Guards are funded partially or wholly by the City and administered by 
the school districts. One community shares the cost with the school district and the 
Police Department manages the program. The report recommended that the City 
discontinue the School Crossing Guard program because it is ineffective and inefficient. 
As an alternative, the study suggested the City could fund the program if it was 
administered by the school districts. Staff did not receive any feedback from the schools 
or aldermen on the conclusions of the report. 
 
In January, the school districts were informed that the City was not including the School 
Crossing Guard program in the FY2017 Annual Budget request. Staff did not receive 
any feedback from the School Districts regarding their desire to keep the program in 
place. School Crossing Guards impact four schools in District 90 (EK, Schaefer, Evans, 
and Fulton) and St. Clare School. Central School District does not have any School 
Crossing Guards. 
 
The FY2017 Annual Budget was approved by the City Council without money 
appropriated for School Crossing Guards. A letter was sent to the School Districts 



communicating the discontinuation of School Crossing Guards and no districts 
expressed interest in continuing the program. 
 
Members of the Public Safety Committee requested to discuss the issue and an 
updated report was prepared (attached). The report stated that the School Crossing 
Guard Program is ineffective as currently structured. There is a shortage of reliable 
School Crossing Guards and crossing sites were left unattended a third of the time. 
Since there is an expectation of School Crossing Guard coverage, this can cause the 
crossing sites to be less safe than if there were no guard program at all. 
 
City officials have met with School District 90 to explore methods to make all routes to 
schools safer for pedestrians. Sidewalks have been built to Central School and $1 
million in construction is planned this year to improve walkways to EK, Hinchcliffe, 
Schaefer, Carriel, and the OTHS Milburn Campus. 
 
Legal Considerations, if any: City Attorney Dale Funk advised that providing a City 
employee as a School Crossing Guard would create a liability on the part of the City 
should a School Crossing Guard carry out his/her ministerial duties in a negligent 
manner and in so doing result in injury/death to a pedestrian. In addition, if the City 
managed the School Crossing Guard program and failed to provide a guard at a 
required location, and as a result thereof a pedestrian was injured or killed, liability may 
fall upon the City. 
 
Budget Impact: The budget for School Crossing Guard salaries was $42,000 in 
FY2016. If the City wants to reinstate the program, it cannot be administered effectively 
with anything less than 100% coverage. This will involve a significant increase in 
manpower (including the use of sworn police officers) and could result in a financial 
increase of $50,000-$60,000. 
 
Staff recommendation: Staff recommends the discontinuation of the School Crossing 
Guard program and allow the City to work with school officials to enhance safety 
measures around all O’Fallon schools. 

























 
 
 
 

MEMO 
 
 
 
 
 
 
        To:   City Clerk, Phil Goodwin 
             Finance Committee: 
             Mike Bennett, Chair 
  Jerry Albrecht – Vice Chairman 

Ned Drolet 
Bob Kueker 
Gene McCoskey 
Herb Roach 
Matt Smallheer 

     
              
From:  Patricia Diess   
Date:  June 17, 2016 
Subject:  Invoices for June 20, 2016 
Amount:  $559,066.87 
Warrant:  #352 
                 
   
 
 

Attached, for the Finance Committee’s and the City Council’s approval, is the 

bills list for June 20, 2016 in the amount of $555,319.87 as well as $2522.50 for 

Parks Seasonal Payments and $1,225.00 for Parks Refunds.  If you have any 

questions or should need further information; please let me know.    

 
 
Copy:  Sandy Evans 
  City Council 
 Mayor Graham 
 
 
 
 



 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

CITY OF O’FALLON 
 

 
BILL LIST FOR June 20, 2016 

Warrant #352 
   
  

The Mayor and the City Council of the City of O'Fallon, Illinois, hereby approve the 

attached list of bills and authorize the Director of Finance to forward payment on the  

21st of June, 2016.  The Office of Finance is hereby authorized to borrow from any fund 

having an excess cash balance to pay the bills for any fund having a cash deficit. 

 
 
 
        ________________________ 
        Gary Graham, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_____________________________________ 
Philip Goodwin, City Clerk 
 
 
 
 
 



1

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28
29
30
31
32
33
34
35
36
37
38
39
40
41
42
43

A B C D E

Invoice Due Date.Date mm-dd-yyyy (Multiple Items)

Invoice Amount
Vendor Name Invoice Number Invoice Description Date mm-dd-yyyyTotal

4imprint Inc 4678961 PD-Balloon's 05/26/2016 $177.47
4imprint Inc Total $177.47

Absopure Water Co 55726270 Strts-Lease Payment 05/31/2016 $5.00
55732760 WWTP-Lease Payment 05/31/2016 $5.00
86035716 Strts-Drinking Water 06/01/2016 $18.75

Absopure Water Co Total $28.75
Ace Hardware of O'Fallon 69178 Pks/Rec-Casters, Cable 05/02/2016 $53.96

69182 Strts-Speed Square 05/02/2016 $9.99
69208 Pks/Rec-Plant Racks @ Hort Bldg 05/03/2016 $9.99
69212 Pks/Rec-Screws 05/03/2016 $29.99
69223 Swr-Asst'd Fasteners, Concrete Mix, Coupler, Adapter, Pipe 05/04/2016 $146.34
69226 Wtr-Spray Paint, Batteries, Paintbrush 05/04/2016 $140.26
69234 Pool-Key Kwikset, Key Schlage 05/04/2016 $11.34
69246 Wtr-Tube, Hook, Rink Key Split 05/04/2016 $20.85
69247 Pks/Rec-Irrigation Repair Supplies 05/04/2016 $32.06
69249 PD-Key Kwikset 05/04/2016 $1.89
69254 Swr-Concrete Mix 05/05/2016 $107.88
69260 CDD-Electrical Tape 05/05/2016 $1.29
69262 Pks/Rec-Paint Roller, Key Stem 4Way, String Refill 05/05/2016 $28.83
69273 Strts-Rapid Micro Comfort 05/05/2016 $26.99
69277 Sportspark,Pks/Rec-Rose RX Drench, Fungicide, Tiedown, Hose 05/06/2016 $169.90
69281 Pks/Rec-Paint Roller 05/06/2016 $4.29
69285 Swr-Concrete Mix 05/06/2016 $53.94
69304 Cemetery-Coupler, Tee 05/07/2016 $5.28
69306 Cemetery-Coupler, Tee, Elbow 05/07/2016 $1.49
69323 Pks/Rec-Surge Protector 05/09/2016 $21.99
69345 Pks/Rec-Hex Nut, Asst'd Fasteners 05/10/2016 $1.81
69352 Pks/Rec-Asst'd Fasteners 05/10/2016 $28.78
69366 PD-Velcro 05/10/2016 $31.99
69382 Sportspark-Hex Bushing, Air Tool, Ultra Fully Synthetic 05/11/2016 $67.95
69387 PD-Asst'd Fasteners 05/11/2016 $0.23
69388 PD-Asst'd Fasteners 05/11/2016 $0.37
69433 Pks/Rec-Spraypaint, Magnets, Carabiner Hook, Ring Key Split 05/12/2016 $27.07
69436 Strts-Ignition Module, Sharpening 05/12/2016 $66.99
69441 Sportspark-Batteries, Rain Gauge, Pressure Gauge. Valve Ball 05/12/2016 $37.04
69485 Pool-Split Lockwasher 05/16/2016 $6.99
69498 Wtr-{rp[ame Tank Refill 05/16/2016 $29.99
69521 Strts-Simple Green Cleaner, Asst'd Fasteners 05/17/2016 $16.69

AP Warrant FY 2016



2

44
45
46
47
48
49
50
51
52
53
54
55
56
57
58
59
60
61
62
63
64
65
66
67
68
69
70
71
72
73
74
75
76
77
78
79
80
81
82
83
84
85
86

A B C D E
69522 PD-Marker 05/17/2016 $2.49
69551 Pool-Paint Scrapers, Paintbrush, Razor, Roller Frame, Tray 05/18/2016 $33.93
69558 Pks/Rec-Carr Screw, Fin Hx Nut, Lock Washer, Fender Wash 05/18/2016 $47.96
69562 Pool-Flat Washer 05/18/2016 $5.99
69563 Pks/Rec-Water Keys for Hoses 05/18/2016 $11.96
69566 Strts-Asst'd Fasteners 05/18/2016 $11.16
69586 Pool-Pool Sink 05/19/2016 $54.49
69618 Pool-Ext Tube 05/20/2016 $4.99
69620 Swr-Tiedown Ratchet, Glass Cleaner, Wheel Cleaner, Protectant 05/20/2016 $150.88
69626 Pool-Key Schlage 05/20/2016 $1.89
69631 Pool-Asst'd Fasteners 05/20/2016 $1.10
69654 Pks/Rec-Power Tools, Power Bit, Drill Bit 05/23/2016 $45.47
69673 Strts-Asst'd Fasteners, Rigid Strap 05/23/2016 $5.12
69696 Strts-Asst'd Fasteners 05/24/2016 $12.08
69699 Pks/Rec-Key Schlage 05/24/2016 $1.89
69715 IT-Drill Bit 05/25/2016 $24.99
69718 Pool-Hand Truck Covert 05/25/2016 $74.99
69738 Sportspark-Paint Mixer Spiral 05/26/2016 $9.99
69753 EMS-Velcro, Asst'd Fasteners 05/26/2016 $33.61
69756 Pks/Rec-High Perform Engine Oil, Trimmer,  Nail, Edger Blades 05/27/2016 $1,091.85
69766 Wtr-Elbow, PVC Pipe, Adapter, Check Valve, PVC Cement, Cleaner 05/27/2016 $50.86
69814 PD-Wasp & Hornet Killer 05/31/2016 $11.98
69818 Sportspark-Paint Supplies for Street Lines 05/31/2016 $17.18
69831 Pks/Rec-Bolts 05/31/2016 $19.92
CH-May 2016 Disc CH-May 2016 Discount 05/31/2016 -$107.36
PW-May16 Disc PW-May 2016 Discount 05/31/2016 -$81.28

Ace Hardware of O'Fallon Total $2,732.58
Advance Auto Parts 5549 Strts-AC Pump 05/23/2016 $234.72

Advance Auto Parts Total $234.72
Advertiser Press Co 11569 CDD-Res Occ Permit 05/23/2016 $158.00

Advertiser Press Co Total $158.00
Allegra Print & Imaging 4744 CDD-Orange Fluor Labels 05/31/2016 $241.41

4787 PD-Warning Notices 06/06/2016 $524.60
4788 PD-Abatement Forms, Missing Person Doc Form, Design 06/03/2016 $149.24

Allegra Print & Imaging Total $915.25
Al's Automotive Supply Inc 05HF1314 FD-Hose Clamp, Barricade Carb 05/06/2016 $12.58

05HF1617 FD-Resistor Copper Plug, Oil Filter, Oil 05/06/2016 $68.58
05HF6519 FD-Miniature Lamps 05/12/2016 $3.20
05HG2202 FD-Wiper Arm, Freight 05/18/2016 $28.66
05HG7098 FD-11 Inch Specialty Blade 05/23/2016 $9.30
05HG8487 FD-11 Inch Specialty Blade 05/24/2016 $9.30
05HG9771 FD-Diesel Exh Fluid 05/25/2016 $24.82
05HH0017 FD-Wiper Blade, High Beam Headlight, Halogen Capsules, Lamps 05/25/2016 $49.52



3

87
88
89
90
91
92
93
94
95
96
97
98
99

100
101
102
103
104
105
106
107
108
109
110
111
112
113
114
115
116
117
118
119
120
121
122
123
124
125
126
127
128
129

A B C D E
Al's Automotive Supply Inc 05HH1380 FD-High Performance Thread 05/26/2016 $10.44

Al's Automotive Supply Inc Total $216.40
Alsup Traditional Yang Style Tai Chi 6261 Pks/Rec-Tai Chi 06/13/2016 $129.50

Alsup Traditional Yang Style Tai Chi Total $129.50
AMD Paper Service 0601-073116 EconDev-Subscription Renewal 06/01/2016 $33.10

AMD Paper Service Total $33.10
Ameren Illinois 0501-060116 Strts-Lighting Charges 06/06/2016 $43.25

Ameren Illinois Total $43.25
AmerenIP 0418-051716 Monthly Utilities 06/06/2016 $61,771.32

AmerenIP Total $61,771.32
American Legal Publishing Co 110657 Admin-May 2016 S-3 Folio/Internet Editing 05/31/2016 $27.30

110658 Admin-May 2016 S-3 Editing 05/31/2016 $294.00
American Legal Publishing Co Total $321.30

American Water Works Assn 7001209063 Wtr-Membership Renewal/Shewmaker, Frank 05/28/2016 $200.00
American Water Works Assn Total $200.00

Anderson Hospital 20687 EMS-Heartsaver CPR/AED/First Aid 06/01/2016 $70.00
20689 EMS-Heartsaver CPR/AED/First Aid 06/02/2016 $65.00
20695 Heartsaver First Aid CPR AED 06/07/2016 $85.00
20696 EMS-Heartsaver CPR AED 06/02/2016 $60.00

Anderson Hospital Total $280.00
Anderson Pest Solutions 3850277 Rock Springs, KCCC-Pest Control 06/01/2016 $107.00

3850278 Parks Maint Bldg-Storage Garage Pest Control 06/01/2016 $40.00
3850279 PD/EMS-Pest Control 06/01/2016 $167.32
3850290 PD-Firing Range Pest Control 06/01/2016 $48.35

Anderson Pest Solutions Total $362.67
Aramark Refreshment Svcs 311163050 PD/EMS-Mat Service 06/02/2016 $37.20

Aramark Refreshment Svcs Total $37.20
Aramark Uniform Services 311187960 PD/EMS-Mat Service 06/09/2016 $37.20

Aramark Uniform Services Total $37.20
Arrow International Inc 93942974 EMS-Needles 05/18/2016 $557.47

Arrow International Inc Total $557.47
At Home 053116 CDD-Refund for Overpayment of Occupancy Permit 05/31/2016 $12.00

At Home Total $12.00
AT&T 0505-060416 Swr-Local Phone Charges 06/04/2016 $132.04

4184902306 IP Flex VoIP Circuits 05/28/2016 $1,904.50
AT&T Total $2,036.54

Auffenberg Dealer Group 455619 PD-Svc on 2014 Ford Explorer 05/09/2016 $155.59
Auffenberg Dealer Group Total $155.59

Azavar Audit Solutions Inc 11978 Mar 2016 Contingency Payment 06/01/2016 $3,146.18
Azavar Audit Solutions Inc Total $3,146.18

B & P Trophy House 6189 Admin-Name Plate 06/14/2016 $10.00
B & P Trophy House Total $10.00

B C Signs 24464 Strts-No Parking Signs 06/13/2016 $60.00



4

130
131
132
133
134
135
136
137
138
139
140
141
142
143
144
145
146
147
148
149
150
151
152
153
154
155
156
157
158
159
160
161
162
163
164
165
166
167
168
169
170
171
172

A B C D E
B C Signs Total $60.00

Baker, Dominique 061915 EMS-Ambulance Run Refund 06/15/2016 $68.00
Baker, Dominique Total $68.00

Bank of Edwardsville, The 060916 CDD-Loan 1060302749 Pmt 06/09/2016 $542.68
061416 PD/EMS,FD-Loan 1065363649 Pmt 06/14/2016 $7,324.96

Bank of Edwardsville, The Total $7,867.64
Bank of O'Fallon 061416 FD-Loan 4950189010 Pmt 06/14/2016 $19,850.82

Bank of O'Fallon Total $19,850.82
Bel-O Cooling & Heating Inc 87872 FD-Labor, Contactor 04/14/2016 $405.00

87873 IT-Labor 05/18/2016 $90.00
87874 Wtr-Labor 05/18/2016 $90.00
87875 FD-Labor 05/18/2016 $90.00
87876 Pks/Rec-Labor 05/04/2016 $720.00
87877 Swr-Labor 05/19/2016 $90.00
87878 Pks/Rec-Replace Blower Motor 05/19/2016 $535.00
87879 Wtr-Labor, Capacitor 05/18/2016 $165.00
87888 Fac-Labor, Refrigerant, Filters 05/25/2016 $730.00
87889 Sportspark-Labor (Ice Machine Service) 05/25/2016 $180.00
87893 Strts-Labor 05/18/2016 $90.00
88026 FD-Filters 06/01/2016 $240.00
88131 IT-Install Wall Units 06/08/2016 $10,986.00
88152 WWTP-Refrigerant, Materials, Labor 06/06/2016 $860.00

Bel-O Cooling & Heating Inc Total $15,271.00
Bernreuter Sod Farms 16872 Cemetery-Fescue Sod 05/24/2016 $378.00

Bernreuter Sod Farms Total $378.00
BG Services Inc 198954-IN FD-All Weather DFC w/Lubricity 06/01/2016 $138.00

BG Services Inc Total $138.00
Bound Tree Medical LLC 38438058 EMS-Medical Supplies 05/31/2016 $768.56

82155880 EMS-Medical Supplies 05/23/2016 $394.76
82161276 EMS-Medical Supplies 05/27/2016 $124.95
82161277 EMS-Medical Supplies 05/27/2016 $44.79
82164489 EMS-Medical Supplies 06/01/2016 $768.56

Bound Tree Medical LLC Total $2,101.62
Brockhahn, Andrew L FY16-HS FY2016 Healthy Spending Reimb 03/21/2016 $75.00

Brockhahn, Andrew L Total $75.00
Bruckert, Gruenke & Long PC 5824 TIF - Rasp 06/02/2016 $90.00

5825 Central City TIF 06/02/2016 $540.00
5826 Central Park TIF 06/02/2016 $67.50
5827 Greenmount Medical Campus TIF 06/02/2016 $90.00
5828 Hwy 50 & Troy Rd Project 06/02/2016 $67.50
5830 PD-Traffic Docket minus $120.00 Overpayment 05/31/2016 $30.00

Bruckert, Gruenke & Long PC Total $885.00
Brueckman, Diane 060716 Pks/Rec-Garden Club Monthly Speaker 06/07/2016 $50.00



5

173
174
175
176
177
178
179
180
181
182
183
184
185
186
187
188
189
190
191
192
193
194
195
196
197
198
199
200
201
202
203
204
205
206
207
208
209
210
211
212
213
214
215

A B C D E
Brueckman, Diane Total $50.00

Butler Supply Co 12380888 Pks/Rec-Ballast for Lights 05/26/2016 $56.22
12387329 CityHall-Lights 06/03/2016 $241.20

Butler Supply Co Total $297.42
CDW Government Inc DDB6156 IT-MS EA Visio Pro 05/20/2016 $113.74

DDC0837 IT-MS EA Visio Pro 05/20/2016 $113.74
DDW6245 EMS-Laptop Repl 05/25/2016 $3,550.00

CDW Government Inc Total $3,777.48
Charter Communications 104221-052316 FD-TV Service 05/23/2016 $60.53

11158-060716 Spectrum Business Voice Services 06/07/2016 $4,359.08
322138-060816 IT-Spectrum Business Voice 06/08/2016 $59.98
76569-060116 FD-TV Service 06/01/2016 $38.39
99975-060116 Strts,Wtr-TV Service 06/01/2016 $14.76

Charter Communications Total $4,532.74
Chick-fil-A Inc 053016 Sportspark-Concession Foods 05/30/2016 $1,652.39

Chick-fil-A Inc Total $1,652.39
Choice1 Health Care Services LLC 5310 EMS-Test Strips 05/09/2016 $149.70

Choice1 Health Care Services LLC Total $149.70
Christ Truck Svc Inc 16193 Pks/Rec-Yards, Delivery Chgs 04/01/2016 $352.50

16449 Sportspark-12 1/2 Yds Mulch 05/04/2016 $352.50
16544 Pks/Rec-12 1/2 Yds Mulch 05/16/2016 $352.50
16594 Swr-600 Block W Washington Swr Main Repl 05/20/2016 $445.00

Christ Truck Svc Inc Total $1,502.50
Cintas Corporation 731477868 Fire Station #4-Mat Service 05/25/2016 $59.17

731480896 Fire Station #4-Mat Service 06/01/2016 $59.17
731483914 Fire Station #4-Mat Service 06/08/2016 $59.17

Cintas Corporation Total $177.51
Claxton, Tim 060816 Travel Reimb Request/New World Conference Meals 06/08/2016 $17.05

Claxton, Tim Total $17.05
Cletes Auto Repair 86405 PD-Towing for Case 16-11379 05/17/2016 $125.00

86476 PD-Svc on 2014 F150 Truck, Unit 19 05/23/2016 $440.56
86626 PD-Svc on 2016 Explorer, Unit 26 06/03/2016 $52.28
86627 PD-Towing for Case 16-12442 05/30/2016 $125.00
86691 PD-Svc on 2012 Dodge Charger, Unit 46 06/07/2016 $104.55

Cletes Auto Repair Total $847.39
Collinsville Ice & Fuel Co 43170 Pks/Rec-Infield Dirt 05/01/2016 $400.00

Collinsville Ice & Fuel Co Total $400.00
Comm Squad 1186 Lib-Floor Box Cover, Blank Cover, Labor 05/25/2016 $332.80

Comm Squad Total $332.80
Commerce Bank AD052616-1 Pks/Rec-Survey Monkey 05/03/2016 $26.00

AD052616-2 Pks/Rec-Adobe ID Creative 05/11/2016 $29.99
AD052616-3 EconDev-Fitbit 05/20/2016 $129.95
BS052616-1 FD-New World Conference Meals 04/27/2016 $42.19



6

216
217
218
219
220
221
222
223
224
225
226
227
228
229
230
231
232
233
234
235
236
237
238
239
240
241
242
243
244
245
246
247
248
249
250
251
252
253
254
255
256
257
258

A B C D E
Commerce Bank BS052616-10 FD-Licensing Fee's 05/23/2016 $196.00

BS052616-11 FD-Setina Push Bumper Grill Guard 05/25/2016 $338.77
BS052616-12 FD-Conference Lunch 05/26/2016 $7.78
BS052616-2 Otterboxes, Splitter, Travel Hub, iPad Cover, Wall Surface 04/30/2016 $583.90
BS052616-3 FD-Lodging 05/03/2016 $112.00
BS052616-4 FD-Book Easels, Letters, Sharpies, Dry Erase 05/06/2016 $54.54
BS052616-5 FD-Common Boards, Studs, Nutdriver 05/06/2016 $131.86
BS052616-6 FD-Eagle Eye Mini Cam 05/09/2016 $169.99
BS052616-7 FD-Scan Disc's, USB Drives 05/10/2016 $112.43
BS052616-8 FD-Truck Box, SUV Drawer 05/11/2016 $590.07
BS052616-9 FD-Fuel 05/19/2016 $28.42
CS052616-1 FD-Qfit Annual Calivration 05/06/2016 $790.00
DB052616-1 Eng-Conference Lodging 04/29/2016 $893.04
DG052616-1 IT-Amazon Web Services Virtual Tape 05/03/2016 $832.50
DG052616-2 IT-Pager Duty Apr Bill 05/11/2016 $108.00
GG052616-1 Admin-Lodging for Citizen 05/11/2016 $87.69
HB052616-1 Wtr-APWA Branch Mailing 05/23/2016 $103.40
HB052616-2 Wtr-Operations Membership 05/24/2016 $83.00
HB052616-3 Clear Vertical Sealable Badge Holders 05/25/2016 $64.00
JF052616-1 Pks/Rec-GIS Training 05/02/2016 $297.48
JF052616-2 Pks/Rec-Clothing Allowance 05/05/2016 $161.48
JF052616-3 Pks/Rec-Cartography Seminar 05/09/2016 $1,283.55
JF052616-4 Pks/Rec,Sportspark-Water Keys, Lable Maker Tape, Uniforms 05/10/2016 $271.18
JS052616-1 CDD-Boots 05/02/2016 $71.99
JS052616-2 CDD-Office Supplies 05/02/2016 $44.99
JS052616-3 CDD-Clothing Allowance 05/12/2016 $98.76
JS052616-4 CDD-Clothing Allowance 05/12/2016 $36.00
JS052616-5 CDD-Residential Energy Inspector/Plans Examiner Tng 05/17/2016 $199.00
JT052616-1 Eng-APWA Illinois Chapter Conf Lodging 05/07/2016 $148.35
JW052616-1 EMS-Shiloh Flag 05/26/2016 $314.00
JW052616-2 SecuGen Hamster IV 05/09/2016 $610.35
JW052616-3 EMS-Flyers & Posters for EMS Week 05/10/2016 $89.75
JW052616-4 EMS-Drug Box for New Ambulance 05/20/2016 $207.04
KP052616-1 Sportspark,Pool-Credit, Utility Scoop, Med Scoop, Lid/Straw Disp 04/30/2016 $96.89
KP052616-2 Sportspark-Single Sided Key 05/07/2016 $4.00
KP052616-3 Sportspark,Pool-When I Work.com 05/09/2016 $77.56
KP052616-4 Pool-Wire Storage Bin 05/23/2016 $70.11
MAF052616-1 PD-License Plate Renewal 05/03/2016 $103.37
MAF052616-2 Admin-Conference Meals 05/25/2016 $87.20
MB052616-1 PD-Costume Rental for Cones with a Cop 05/03/2016 $92.38
MB052616-2 PD-Security Box, Trophy Cams, Cases 05/05/2016 $446.09
MJH052616-1 Pks/Rec-Office Supplies 05/18/2016 $1,201.56
MK052616-1 Lib-Shipping 04/26/2016 $199.65



7

259
260
261
262
263
264
265
266
267
268
269
270
271
272
273
274
275
276
277
278
279
280
281
282
283
284
285
286
287
288
289
290
291
292
293
294
295
296
297
298
299
300
301

A B C D E
MK052616-2 Lib-Office Supplies 04/28/2016 $89.97
MK052616-3 Lib-Office Supplies 05/06/2016 $293.18
MK052616-4 Lib-Computer Services 05/09/2016 $10.00
MK052616-5 Lib-Mgmt Teambuilding Lunch 05/16/2016 $30.40
MS052616-1 Pks/Rec-Turf Management Training 05/04/2016 $471.00
MS052616-1 Lib Lib-Subscription Renewal 04/26/2016 $200.00
MS052616-2 Lib Lib-Backup Service 05/01/2016 $5.00
MS052616-3 Lib Lib-Prime Membership 05/12/2016 $99.00
NM052616-1 Pks/Rec-Utility Tubs 04/30/2016 $24.95
NM052616-2 Pks/Rec-Soccer Uniforms 05/24/2016 $34.12
NM052616-3 Pool-Lifeguard Uniform Supplies 05/26/2016 $221.37
OPD052616-1 PD-Rubber Stamps for Evidence Room 05/06/2016 $17.90
OPD052616-2 PD-Phone Minutes for CID 05/11/2016 $10.30
OPD052616-3 PD-New Weapons Equip 05/17/2016 $945.23
PF052616-1 EconDev-IPMA Regional Conf 04/28/2016 $295.00
PPC052616-1 Pks/Rec-Body Protectors 04/28/2016 $203.88
RJ052616-1 Lib-Subscription 04/26/2016 $25.50
RJ052616-2 lib-materials 05/25/2016 $198.83
RJ052616-3 Lib-Hot Tea 04/27/2016 $1.92
RJ052616-4 Lib-Netflix Subscription 04/29/2016 $11.99
RJ052616-5 Lib-Program Refreshments 04/29/2016 $7.63
RJ052616-6 Lib-Program Lunch 05/03/2016 $62.18
SE052616-1 Admin-Wall Street Journal 05/07/2016 $32.99
SE052616-2 EconDev-Annual Subscription 05/10/2016 $109.08
SE052616-3 Admin-GFOA Meals 05/25/2016 $36.51
SE052616-4 Admin-Computer Bag 05/14/2016 $5.39
SG052616-1 Pks/Rec-Perm Uniforms 05/09/2016 $132.81
SG052616-2 Pks/Rec-Perm Uniforms 05/11/2016 $163.86
SG052616-3 Pks/Rec-Horticultural Tools 05/25/2016 $203.88
TC052616-1 FD-New World Conference Travel Expenses 04/27/2016 $300.58
TC052616-2 FD-Return Credit 05/06/2016 -$276.57
TC052616-3 FD-Bug Spray for Mutual Aid Search 05/24/2016 $15.44
TD052616-1 FD-Replacement Tablet/Claxton, Tim 04/28/2016 $1,279.97
TD052616-2 Wtr/Swr-Screen Cover for New Phone 05/18/2016 $16.49
TR052616-1 Lib-Brushes, Masking Tape, Paint Thinner, Paint 05/05/2016 $31.95
TR052616-2 Lib-Cleaning Supplies, Dry Erase 05/06/2016 $20.87
TR052616-3 lib-materials 05/07/2016 $50.00
TS052616-1 CDD-Registration for Enterpreneurial & Sm Business Dev Strategie 05/12/2016 $450.00
WD052616-1 EconDev-Conference Luncheon 05/05/2016 $10.36

Commerce Bank Total $17,571.21
Constant Contact Inc 4DTZGLUAB16816 EconDev-Prepayment Deposit 06/16/2016 $336.00

Constant Contact Inc Total $336.00
Contemporary Life Saving Tng LLC 1014153 FD-BLS HCP Cards 05/15/2016 $115.50



8

302
303
304
305
306
307
308
309
310
311
312
313
314
315
316
317
318
319
320
321
322
323
324
325
326
327
328
329
330
331
332
333
334
335
336
337
338
339
340
341
342
343
344

A B C D E
Contemporary Life Saving Tng LLC Total $115.50

Cost Recovery Corp 053116 Monthly Contingency Fees 05/31/2016 $1,577.83
Cost Recovery Corp Total $1,577.83

Creditron Corp  I11569 Wtr-Added New Stub Format & New Acctg Upload 04/12/2016 $1,200.00
Creditron Corp Total $1,200.00

Custom Car & Truck 98692 FD-Grey Seat Savers 06/02/2016 $189.95
Custom Car & Truck Total $189.95

Custom Screen Printing Inc 30873 Pks/Rec-Graphite Moisture Wicking Kixx Coaching Shirts 05/31/2016 $476.00
Custom Screen Printing Inc Total $476.00

Da Vinci Tree Inc 6140, 6143 Pks/Rec-Mini Camp App Builder, Mini Camp Robotics 06/10/2016 $4,748.00
Da Vinci Tree Inc Total $4,748.00

Datamax Office Systems 1184670 Contract CN6537-01 06/07/2016 $2.35
1187770 Contract CN1970-01 06/10/2016 $70.66
1191025 Contract CN9418-01 06/15/2016 $37.37

Datamax Office Systems Total $110.38
Datamax STL Leasing L306309033 IT Plotter Lease 06/05/2016 $254.56

L306707002 Lease 3-06707 06/05/2016 $177.06
Datamax STL Leasing Total $431.62

Dave Schmidt Truck Svc P44192 Strts-Relay 06/07/2016 $69.34
P44213 Strts-Resistor 06/13/2016 $198.78
T81416 Pks/Rec-Svc on 1995 Ford Carpenter 05/23/2016 $388.10
T81505 EMS-Svc on 2012 Ambulance 06/03/2016 $966.88

Dave Schmidt Truck Svc Total $1,623.10
Davis, Thomas Apr 2016 Reimb/Cell Phone Charges 05/04/2016 $45.00

Davis, Thomas Total $45.00
DELL XJXJC48D3 PD-Antenna, Docking Station 05/25/2016 $741.28

XJXKJ5JW1 Laptop, Docking Station and Monitors  for Network Analyst 05/31/2016 $30.49
DELL Total $771.77

DirecTV LLC 28732295095 FD-TV Service 06/10/2016 $178.99
DirecTV LLC Total $178.99

Dune Temporary Tattoos Inc 16-8006942 PD-Temporary Tattoos 05/16/2016 $171.00
Dune Temporary Tattoos Inc Total $171.00

Dutch Hollow Janitor 199911 EMS-Batteries 05/26/2016 $74.17
199937 EMS-Foam Cups, Towels 05/27/2016 $68.52

Dutch Hollow Janitor Total $142.69
Ed Roehr Safety Products 438839 PD-4 Pkt Uniform Shirt 11/02/2015 $150.00

Ed Roehr Safety Products Total $150.00
EJ Equipment Inc P01870 Swr-File Hose, Replacement, Fill Hose End 05/11/2016 $101.69

W00158 Swr-Labor/Materials to Chg Bad in Line Fuse for Omnibus Control 05/27/2016 $486.61
W01268 Swr-Repl Ribbon Cable, Reinstall Camera Module/Broken Air Valve 06/09/2016 $1,127.79

EJ Equipment Inc Total $1,716.09
Elite Ft Incorporated 629B Pks/Rec-19 Kids, Pd $60 each at 70/30 Split 06/13/2016 $798.00

Elite Ft Incorporated Total $798.00



9

345
346
347
348
349
350
351
352
353
354
355
356
357
358
359
360
361
362
363
364
365
366
367
368
369
370
371
372
373
374
375
376
377
378
379
380
381
382
383
384
385
386
387

A B C D E
Ellis, Justin 200002153 EMS-Instructor Course Level 1 02/01/2016 $395.00

Ellis, Justin Total $395.00
ERB Equipment/Mitchell 160297 Strts-Labor, Hauling, Battery Terminal, Battery Cable, Permits 06/06/2016 $974.58

ERB Equipment/Mitchell Total $974.58
Express Medical Care LLC 4394-Flaiz FD-Firefighter Physical/Flaiz, Raymond 05/27/2016 $171.00

Express Medical Care LLC Total $171.00
Fair, Maryanne 052616 Travel Reimb Request/Conference Travel Expenses 05/26/2016 $20.66

Fair, Maryanne Total $20.66
Fastenal Company ILBEL72681 PW-Safety Supplies 05/25/2016 $113.22

ILBEL72828 PW-Safety Supplies 05/31/2016 $217.08
Fastenal Company Total $330.30

FEDEX 5-426-87731 Admin-US Census Mailing 05/24/2016 $38.33
FEDEX Total $38.33

Feldhake, Patrick Charles FY17-HS FY2017 Healthy Spending Reimb 06/03/2016 $75.00
Feldhake, Patrick Charles Total $75.00

Fire Apparatus & Supply Team 16-193 FD-Nicad Battery for Survivor Light, Shipping 05/26/2016 $198.13
16-205 FD-O Ring, Shipping 06/01/2016 $26.76

Fire Apparatus & Supply Team Total $224.89
Fire Appliance 60112 EMS-Fire Extinguisher Brackets 05/26/2016 $61.60

Fire Appliance Total $61.60
FireCompanies.com 13655-71 FD-First Due Package 06/01/2016 $239.97

FireCompanies.com Total $239.97
Four Seasons Dist 4983 Pool-Food Concessions 06/03/2016 $197.75

49854 Sportspark-Food Concessions 06/03/2016 $3,155.05
Four Seasons Dist Total $3,352.80

Fource Group, The 34 Strategikc Plan/Economic Development 05/27/2016 $3,000.00
Fource Group, The Total $3,000.00

France Mechanical Corp 12850 PD/EMS-Service on RTU #4 05/31/2016 $555.86
France Mechanical Corp Total $555.86

FS Turf Solutions 21509 Sportspark-34 Bags Turface Pro League Red 06/03/2016 $464.10
FS Turf Solutions Total $464.10

Funk, Dale M 16-204B Dietrich Bank v. Ron Schantz 05/31/2016 $67.50
16-225B Old City Hall Matter 06/02/2016 $472.50
16-236 PD-Babatunde Oweseni Matter 06/02/2016 $67.50
Traffic #16-145 PD-Traffic/Misdemeanor Disposition 05/31/2016 $187.50

Funk, Dale M Total $795.00
Funk, Pam 060816 Travel Reimb Request/Conference Travel Expenses 06/08/2016 $79.81

Funk, Pam Total $79.81
Fussell, Lloyd W 0129-022816 Reimb/Cell Phone Charges 02/28/2016 $30.00

0229-032816 Reimb/Cell Phone Charges 03/28/2016 $30.00
0329-042816 Reimb/Cell Phone Charges 04/28/2016 $30.00

Fussell, Lloyd W Total $90.00
Garnto, Sterling 050916 Reimb/Roses, Annuals for Garden Club 05/09/2016 $1,972.39



10

388
389
390
391
392
393
394
395
396
397
398
399
400
401
402
403
404
405
406
407
408
409
410
411
412
413
414
415
416
417
418
419
420
421
422
423
424
425
426
427
428
429
430

A B C D E
Garnto, Sterling C64186 Reimb/Lime for Community Garden 05/26/2016 $58.40

Garnto, Sterling Total $2,030.79
Gimpel, Brian FY17-HS FY2017 Healthy Spending Reimb 06/10/2016 $75.00

Gimpel, Brian Total $75.00
Gonzalez Companies LLC 4946 Strts-Westbrook Stormwater Improvements Phase 1 06/08/2016 $447.25

4947 Swr-Red Zone HDCCTV & Capacity Analysis 06/08/2016 $2,198.47
Gonzalez Companies LLC Total $2,645.72

Gonzalez Office Products 200375226-1 Admin-Post It Notes 06/09/2016 $20.76
Gonzalez Office Products Total $20.76

Gov't Finance Officers Assn 080116-073117 Admin-GFOA Membership Renewal 06/07/2016 $250.00
Gov't Finance Officers Assn Total $250.00

Grand Rental Station 67111 Strts-Walkbehind Saw, Bobcat Rental 06/10/2016 $950.00
67284 Strts-Walkbehind Saw, Wrenches 06/10/2016 $55.00

Grand Rental Station Total $1,005.00
Green Machine Lawn & Landscaping, The 061316-#8A Municipal Mowing Contract/C1 Sites 06/13/2016 $1,032.00

061316-#8B Municipal Mowing Contract/C2 Sites 06/13/2016 $2,306.00
061316-#8C Strts-Weed Removal, Bed Cleanout 06/13/2016 $1,395.00

Green Machine Lawn & Landscaping, The Total $4,733.00
Greenscape Lawncare & Maintenance 2016-200 CDD-Lawn Service @ 525 Jeffrey Pine 05/18/2016 $60.00

2016-201 CDD-Lawn Service @ 704 S Hilgard 05/18/2016 $60.00
2016-202 CDD-Lawn Service @ 125 Booster 05/18/2016 $60.00
2016-203 CDD-Lawn Service @ 126 Booster 05/18/2016 $60.00
2016-204 CDD-Lawn Service @ 1911 Crestview 05/18/2016 $60.00
2016-205 CDD-Lawn Service @ 818 W Lakeshore 05/18/2016 $60.00
2016-206 CDD-Lawn Service @ 902 Indian Springs 05/18/2016 $60.00
2016-207 CDD-Lawn Service @ 212 Wellesley 05/18/2016 $60.00
2016-208 CDD-Lawn Service @ 228 Meddows 05/18/2016 $60.00
2016-209 CDD-Lawn Service @ 115 Elm 05/18/2016 $60.00
2016-210 CDD-Lawn Service @ 112 Booster 05/18/2016 $60.00
2016-211 CDD-Lawn Service @ 507 E Washington 05/18/2016 $60.00
2016-212 CDD-Lawn Service @ 115 Elm 05/18/2016 $60.00
2016-213 CDD-Lawn Service @ 753 Forest Green 05/18/2016 $60.00
2016-214 CDD-Lawn Service @ 810 Meadowlark 05/18/2016 $60.00

Greenscape Lawncare & Maintenance Total $900.00
Guardian Tracking LLC 2016-0317 PD-Annual Subscription for Internet Access 06/01/2016 $2,700.00

Guardian Tracking LLC Total $2,700.00
H & G/Schultz Door 250159 PD-Door Service 05/23/2016 $598.00

H & G/Schultz Door Total $598.00
Hach Company 9951223 Wtr-Lab Supplies 05/27/2016 $560.29

9951795 Wtr,WWTP-Lab Supplies 05/31/2016 $455.25
Hach Company Total $1,015.54

Hansley, Nicole M 6186 Pks/Rec-Mini Camp, Theater Camp 06/13/2016 $630.00
Hansley, Nicole M Total $630.00



11

431
432
433
434
435
436
437
438
439
440
441
442
443
444
445
446
447
448
449
450
451
452
453
454
455
456
457
458
459
460
461
462
463
464
465
466
467
468
469
470
471
472
473

A B C D E
HD Supply Waterworks Ltd F582217 Swr-Solvent Weld, Adapter, Swr Repair Coupling 05/26/2016 $52.75

F613268 Wtr-Swivel Anchor Coupling, Valve Box 06/03/2016 $909.55
F623066 Swr-Coupling, Bushings, Swr T-Wye 06/07/2016 $237.43

HD Supply Waterworks Ltd Total $1,199.73
Heros in Style 149791 PD-Uniforms/Callahan, B minus Overpayment Cr 05/25/2016 $141.50

150109 PD-Uniforms/Broadston, C 06/06/2016 $41.40
Heros in Style Total $182.90

Hillebrand, Joyce 386960 Reimb/Sweet Potato Slips for Community Garden 05/24/2016 $18.94
Hillebrand, Joyce Total $18.94

HMG Engineers Inc 7308-103 WWTP-2016 Shiloh Wastewater Rate & Surcharges Update 06/06/2016 $360.00
HMG Engineers Inc Total $360.00

Home Depot, The 1013457 Pool,Sportspark-Sink, Pool Concessions 05/17/2016 $497.17
2412579 Sportspark-Resist Cable 05/26/2016 $77.91
2773677 Pks/Rec-Impact Wrench 05/06/2016 $328.32
2972128 Pool,Sportspark,Pks/Rec-Pressure Washer, Drill 05/26/2016 $736.93
4011913 FD,Fac,Pks/Rec-Stakes, Brooms, Dustpan, Cinch Strap, Pliers Sets 05/04/2016 $233.80
6012887 Sportspark-Table Anchors 05/12/2016 $24.15
7012772 CityHall-Annual Beds and Planters 05/11/2016 $32.41
7013969 Sportspark-Irrigation Repairs 05/21/2016 $38.92
8013825 Pool-Faucet 05/20/2016 $223.28
8192187 Pool-Return Credit 05/20/2016 -$128.00
9011291 Cemetery-Shed Floor Fan 04/29/2016 $205.82
9023564 Pool-Pool Faucet 05/19/2016 $136.97
9023567 Pool-Metal Hole Saw, Dbl Roller Catch 05/19/2016 $71.93
9192144 EMS-Storage for New Ambulance 05/19/2016 $123.40

Home Depot, The Total $2,603.01
Hughes Customat Inc 71042 Strts,Wtr-Mat Service 05/31/2016 $44.61

71043 IT-Mat Service 05/31/2016 $16.16
71046 Swr-Mat Service 05/31/2016 $36.81

Hughes Customat Inc Total $97.58
I Scream U Scream 643466 Sportspark-Concession Foods 05/26/2016 $353.00

643467 Sportspark-Concession Foods 05/30/2016 $500.00
643468 Sportspark-Concession Foods 06/01/2016 $369.00
643469 Sportspark-Concession Foods 06/03/2016 $175.00
643470 Sportspark-Concession Foods 06/10/2016 $875.00
817751 Pool-Concession Foods 06/07/2016 $87.50

I Scream U Scream Total $2,359.50
IL American Water Co 0602-070116 FD/EMS-Monthly Utilities 06/02/2016 $25.30

IL American Water Co Total $25.30
IL Dept of Agriculture LC1630009000-Ebe Strts-Commercial Not-for-Hire Applicator License/Ebert, Matthew 06/07/2016 $20.00

LC163000900-Sege Strts-Commercial Not-for-Hire Applicator License/Seger, Erick 06/07/2016 $20.00
SG1633870000-Atl Strts-Commercial Not-for-Hire Applicator License/Atkins, Rudi 06/07/2016 $20.00

IL Dept of Agriculture Total $60.00



12

474
475
476
477
478
479
480
481
482
483
484
485
486
487
488
489
490
491
492
493
494
495
496
497
498
499
500
501
502
503
504
505
506
507
508
509
510
511
512
513
514
515
516

A B C D E
IL EPA 051616-#4 WWTP-New Headworks UV Disinfection 05/16/2016 $112,881.72

IL EPA Total $112,881.72
IL Rural Water Association 19018 Supporting Membership 05/17/2016 $437.75

IL Rural Water Association Total $437.75
Int'l Assn of Fire Chiefs 060816-Claxton FD-Membership Dues 06/08/2016 $209.00

060816-Saunders FD-Membership Dues 06/08/2016 $259.00
Int'l Assn of Fire Chiefs Total $468.00

ISCO Industries Inc 3013522 Swr-600 Block W Washington Swr Main Repl 06/06/2016 $4,656.84
ISCO Industries Inc Total $4,656.84

Itron  413199 Wtr/Swr-Hardware Maintenance (Jun-Aug 2016) 05/12/2016 $2,268.11
Itron Total $2,268.11

Johnson, Clayton 120215 EMS-Ambulance Run Refund 06/15/2016 $95.46
Johnson, Clayton Total $95.46

Knysak Signs Inc 4893 EMS-Letter & Stripe 2016 Ford Ambulance $4355 05/18/2016 $2,600.00
Knysak Signs Inc Total $2,600.00

Kone Inc 949305602 CityHall-Elevator Maintenance 06/01/2016 $471.75
Kone Inc Total $471.75

L W Contractors Inc 13991 Swr-600 Block W Washington Swr Main Repl 05/31/2016 $3,060.00
L W Contractors Inc Total $3,060.00

L-3 Communications Mobile-Vision Inc 240982-IN PD/EMS-In Car Video System 05/26/2016 $5,083.00
240990-IN PD/EMS-Extended Maint Agreement 05/26/2016 $3,949.00

L-3 Communications Mobile-Vision Inc Total $9,032.00
LaRosa's Flowers 634-053116 PD/EMS-Flowers (Effie Lombard, Marilyn Harrison) 05/31/2016 $113.90

LaRosa's Flowers Total $113.90
Liberty Store, The 0611 PW-Uniform Allowance 06/11/2016 $5,863.50

531 PW-Clothing Allowance 05/28/2016 $5,277.55
Liberty Store, The Total $11,141.05

Lickenbrock & Sons Inc 43876 Strts-Aluminum Bars, Steel Plate 05/17/2016 $47.86
Lickenbrock & Sons Inc Total $47.86

Lifeguard Store, The INV421572 Pool-Lifeguard Swimming Suits 05/26/2016 $236.55
Lifeguard Store, The Total $236.55

Lowenbaum Partnership LLC 81825 PD-AFSCME Review 05/31/2016 $2,793.75
Lowenbaum Partnership LLC Total $2,793.75

Maclair Asphalt Sales LLC 714 MFT-Cold Patch 06/01/2016 $378.55
743 MFT-Cold Patch 06/06/2016 $306.23

Maclair Asphalt Sales LLC Total $684.78
Market Basket of O'Fallon LLC 134708 Fac-State Street Round-a-bout Plant Materials 05/11/2016 $159.36

Market Basket of O'Fallon LLC Total $159.36
Maxson Services 7918 PD/EMS-Repair Kitchen Faucet in Community Room 05/16/2016 $135.00

7933 Cleaned Out Slow Men's Lav Drain in IT Office 05/25/2016 $130.00
Maxson Services Total $265.00

McWhorter, Chelsie 061416 Travel Reimb RequestFire College 06/14/2016 $295.11
McWhorter, Chelsie Total $295.11



13

517
518
519
520
521
522
523
524
525
526
527
528
529
530
531
532
533
534
535
536
537
538
539
540
541
542
543
544
545
546
547
548
549
550
551
552
553
554
555
556
557
558
559

A B C D E
Meineke Car Care Center 25386 Pks/Rec-Catalytic Converter Repairs, #106 05/27/2016 $816.00

Meineke Car Care Center Total $816.00
Menard Inc 4593 Strts-South Yale Stormwater Repair 06/08/2016 $64.68

4609 Strts-South Yale Stormwater Repair Credit 06/08/2016 -$49.97
4684 Strts-South Yale Stormwater Repair 06/09/2016 $653.00

Menard Inc Total $667.71
Meridian Health Plan 011616-Denzmore EMS-Ambulance Run Refund/Denzmore, Yeal 06/15/2016 $184.40

Meridian Health Plan Total $184.40
Midtown Home Improvements 053116 Reimb/Overpayment of Occupancy Permit 05/31/2016 $5.00

Midtown Home Improvements Total $5.00
Midwest Pool & Court Co 62541 Pool-Chemicals 05/21/2016 $869.70

Midwest Pool & Court Co Total $869.70
Motorola Solutions Inc 13113259 EMS-Single Band, Microphone, Antenna, Dash Mount, Etc 05/27/2016 $3,822.45

Motorola Solutions Inc Total $3,822.45
MTI Distributing Inc 1063763-00 Sports Park Ground Maintenance Equipment 05/27/2016 $8,396.08

1063775-00 Sports Park Ground Maintenance Equipment 05/27/2016 $25,133.67
1063779-00 Pks/Rec-Carrier System, Steel/Coco Drag Mats 05/27/2016 $1,714.93
1063844-00 Park Turf Maintenance Equipment 05/27/2016 $53,907.73
1063846-00 Pks/Rec-Leaf Mulching Kit 05/27/2016 $1,144.07
1065214-00 Sportspark-Vanguard Gas Engine 05/23/2016 $1,785.23
1068497-00 Pks/Rec-Tires, Hydraulic Motor, Spring Torsion 06/02/2016 $1,434.43
XJXKNT3M5 Park Turf Maintenance Equipment 06/01/2016 $1,593.39

MTI Distributing Inc Total $95,109.53
Municipal Clerks of Illinois 060916 Admin-Seminar Registration/Goodwin & Fair 06/09/2016 $190.00

Municipal Clerks of Illinois Total $190.00
Municipal Emergency Svcs IN1036553 FD-Globe Classic Coat, Pant 06/03/2016 $3,087.21

Municipal Emergency Svcs Total $3,087.21
MVI Inc 6001878 Wtr/Swr-SCADA Services 05/31/2016 $2,600.00

MVI Inc Total $2,600.00
National Trust for Historic Preservation 060716 CDD-Membership Renewal 06/07/2016 $155.00

National Trust for Historic Preservation Total $155.00
News Democrat 0502-052916 Wtr-Advertising 05/29/2016 $153.99

News Democrat Total $153.99
Nungesser, Quentin 200002023 EMS-Instructor Course Level 1 01/20/2016 $395.00

Nungesser, Quentin Total $395.00
O'Fallon Progress Inc 0502-052916 EconDev,CDD-Advertising 05/29/2016 $292.26

O'Fallon Progress Inc Total $292.26
O'Fallon Tire Center 13187 Sportspark-Jacobsen Zero Turn Tires 05/11/2016 $307.35

13210 Pks/Rec-Tires 06/08/2016 $52.50
O'Fallon Tire Center Total $359.85

Old Dominion Brush Co 89948-IN Strts-Main Broom, Gutter Broom, Hex Nut Tymco Gutter 05/18/2016 $727.40
90280-IN Strts-Actuator, Bushing 05/26/2016 $1,078.48

Old Dominion Brush Co Total $1,805.88



14

560
561
562
563
564
565
566
567
568
569
570
571
572
573
574
575
576
577
578
579
580
581
582
583
584
585
586
587
588
589
590
591
592
593
594
595
596
597
598
599
600
601
602

A B C D E
O'Reilly Auto Parts 1151-161590 FD-Add A Circuit 04/13/2016 $13.98

1151-169347 Strts-Ceramic Pads, Truck/Turned 05/27/2016 $63.46
1151-169432 Sportspark-Gear Puller, Thread Lock, Battery 05/27/2016 $71.45
1151-169473 Strts-Megacrimps 05/27/2016 $27.73
1151-170024 Strts-Megacrimps 05/31/2016 $27.16
1151-170387 Strts-Hyd Hose, Megacrimps 06/02/2016 $200.69
1151-170953 FD-Trim, Leather Cleaner, Wash Mitts, Sunshade 06/05/2016 $51.83
1151-171094 Sportspark-Pwr Rtd Belt, Brake Cleaner, Degreaser 06/06/2016 $28.70
1151-171116 Sportspark-O Ring 06/06/2016 $1.95
1151-171177 Strts-Air Filters, Oil Filters 06/06/2016 $49.07
1151-171413 Strts-Ceramic Pad, New Mstr Cyl 06/07/2016 $125.74
1151-171485 Strts-Car/Turned 06/08/2016 $20.00
1151-171593 Strts-Brake Fluid 06/08/2016 $4.69
1151-171711 Strts-Battery Core 06/09/2016 -$18.00
1151-171736 FD-Tire Seal, Hitch Ball, Connector Kit, Quick Links 06/09/2016 $35.36
1151-172097 EMS-Coupler Lock, Pin & Clip 06/11/2016 $18.98
1151-172103 EMS-Coupler Lock Return Credit 06/11/2016 -$11.99

O'Reilly Auto Parts Total $710.80
Overhead Door Company of STL SVC/493503 PD-2 Sided Activate Switch Decal 05/23/2016 $169.46

SVC/493505 Pks/Rec-Door Service 05/23/2016 $45.90
SVC/493506 CityHall-Doors Service 05/23/2016 $45.90
SVC/494005 EMS-Libricate Door & Misc Supplies 05/25/2016 $228.30
SVC/494006 PD-Libricate Door & Misc Supplies 05/25/2016 $253.20
SVC/494561 EMS-Miller Edge Non Monitor 05/31/2016 $989.00
SVC/495420 EMS-Weatherstrip Reverse Angle, External Antenna 06/08/2016 $1,190.25

Overhead Door Company of STL Total $2,922.01
Packard, Rachael A 6316 Pks/Rec-Vinyasa Yoga 06/13/2016 $140.00

Packard, Rachael A Total $140.00
Paragon Micro Inc 696837 PD-Adobe Acrobat Standard DC 2015 05/19/2016 $251.99

698622 IT-APC BackUps 05/26/2016 $161.97
699413 PD/EMS,FD-Vision Tek Radeon HD 06/02/2016 $238.99

Paragon Micro Inc Total $652.95
Pass Security LLC 339857 PD-System Monitoring (Firing Range) 06/01/2016 $93.00

Pass Security LLC Total $93.00
Pepsi Cola Inc 24752209 Pool-Concession Drinks 06/01/2016 $55.95

24752210 Sportspark-Concession Drinks 06/01/2016 $2,595.89
27672110 Sportspark-Concession Drinks 06/07/2016 $4,414.16

Pepsi Cola Inc Total $7,066.00
Petty Cash 060916-McDonald EMS-Postage 06/09/2016 $1.20

060916-Wild EMS-Licensing Fee 06/09/2016 $25.00
061016-McDonald PD-Refreshments for Police Chief for the Day 06/10/2016 $5.00
467349 CityHall-Lunch Mtgs/Evans, Sandy 05/11/2016 $25.00
467350 CityHall-Apr Mileage Reimb/Fair Maryanne 05/13/2016 $19.44



15

603
604
605
606
607
608
609
610
611
612
613
614
615
616
617
618
619
620
621
622
623
624
625
626
627
628
629
630
631
632
633
634
635
636
637
638
639
640
641
642
643
644
645

A B C D E
Petty Cash 467352 CityHall-SWICMA Luncheon/Litteken, Grant 05/18/2016 $10.00

467353 CityHall-SWICMA Luncheon/Litteken, Grant 06/03/2016 $10.00
467354 CityHall-SWICMA Luncheon/Denton, Walter 06/03/2016 $10.00
467355 CityHall-Mayor's Meeting/True, Ed 06/03/2016 $25.00
467356 CityHall-May Mileage Reimb/Fair, Maryanne 06/07/2016 $16.20

Petty Cash Total $146.84
Pitney Bowes Inc 1000735816 Upstairs-Ink, Tape Strips 05/27/2016 $314.34

1000735817 Upstairs-Moistener Repl Kit 05/27/2016 $19.99
Pitney Bowes Inc Total $334.33

Pitney Bowes Purchase Power 060716 Downstairs-Postage 06/07/2016 $1,000.00
060916A Wtr/Swr-A/D Bill Mailing 06/09/2016 $1,991.26
060916B Wtr/Swr-A/D Bill Mailing 06/09/2016 $1,138.78
061016 Wtr/Swr-B/C Penalty Mailing 06/09/2016 $647.06
061416 Wtr/Swr-Postage Overage Fee, Permit Overage Fee 06/14/2016 $67.60

Pitney Bowes Purchase Power Total $4,844.70
Poelkers Garage 28495 EMS-Truck Inspections 05/20/2016 $165.00

Poelkers Garage Total $165.00
Porter Paints 941702064639 Sportspark-Traffic Paint for Parking Lot Lines 06/03/2016 $70.30

Porter Paints Total $70.30
Post Pack & Ship OFCMAY2016 Swr-Shipping 06/01/2016 $30.76

OFDMAY2016 FD-Shipping 06/01/2016 $34.11
Post Pack & Ship Total $64.87

Powell, Brian 349777 Reimb/Alterations 05/16/2016 $60.00
349781 Reimb/Alterations 05/11/2016 $60.00

Powell, Brian Total $120.00
Prestige Commercial Services Inc 3083 Swr-June Cleaning Fee 06/02/2016 $305.00

3084 KCCC,Rock Springs-June Cleaning Fee 06/02/2016 $1,590.00
3085 WWTP-June Cleaning Fee 06/02/2016 $60.00
3086 Strts,Wtr-June Cleaning Fee 06/02/2016 $580.00
3087 IT-June Cleaning Fee's 06/02/2016 $445.00
3088 PD/EMS-June Cleaning Fee 06/02/2016 $4,090.00
3089 FD-June Cleaning Fee 06/02/2016 $150.00
3090 Depot-June Cleaning Fee 06/02/2016 $301.00
3091 Annex-June Cleaning Fee 06/02/2016 $155.00
3092 CityHall-June Cleaning Fees 06/02/2016 $1,590.00

Prestige Commercial Services Inc Total $9,266.00
R P Lumber Co Inc 1603-046391 Swr-Lumber, Star Ceramic Deck, Mason Line 03/15/2016 $44.38

1604-234654 Pool-Clay Alum Facia, Steel Clay Trim 04/26/2016 $67.96
1605-368026 Strts-Premix Concrete 05/24/2016 $71.82
1606-410832 Strts-Portland Cement 06/03/2016 $25.98
1606-427397 Strts-Plywood 06/07/2016 $53.97
1606-433646 Strts-Plywood 06/08/2016 $21.99
1606-437562 Pks/Rec-Fir for Pavilion #4 06/09/2016 $59.99



16

646
647
648
649
650
651
652
653
654
655
656
657
658
659
660
661
662
663
664
665
666
667
668
669
670
671
672
673
674
675
676
677
678
679
680
681
682
683
684
685
686
687
688

A B C D E
R P Lumber Co Inc 1606-444497 Strts-Plywood 06/10/2016 $43.98

1606-446763 Strts-Lumber 06/10/2016 $10.78
R P Lumber Co Inc Total $400.85

Ray Lindsey Co 2016769 WWTP-Ballast 05/24/2016 $450.00
Ray Lindsey Co Total $450.00

Ray O'Herron Co Inc 1631789-IN PD-Securiblank 9mm Loud 06/02/2016 $227.76
1633402-IN FD-DC Outlet Plug, Faceplate, Microphone Bracket, Etc 06/09/2016 $320.00

Ray O'Herron Co Inc Total $547.76
Red-E-Mix LLC 774230 Strts-Flatwork, Load Charge 05/20/2016 $269.50

774685 Strts-Flatwork, Load Charge 06/01/2016 $326.00
Red-E-Mix LLC Total $595.50

Restoff, Joseph 070215 EMS-Ambulance Run Refund 06/15/2016 $20.00
Restoff, Joseph Total $20.00

Revison Systems 060516 IT-Seven Hills WT 4.9 BH Ethernet Svc Visit 06/05/2016 $150.00
Revison Systems Total $150.00

Rhutasel and Associates 12528 Strts-Presidential Streets Const 06/07/2016 $1,495.00
Rhutasel and Associates Total $1,495.00

Ronnoco Coffee LLC 1001600827 PD/EMS-Coffee 06/03/2016 $178.89
1001600912 Swr-Coffee 06/03/2016 $42.39
1001600916 Wtr,Strts-Coffee 06/03/2016 $42.39
1001602119 Sportspark-Concession Drinks 06/03/2016 $819.61

Ronnoco Coffee LLC Total $1,083.28
Safety-Kleen Systems Inc 70276566 Strts-Solvent 06/02/2016 $480.00

Safety-Kleen Systems Inc Total $480.00
Sandy's Back Porch Garden Center Inc 051116 Plant Materials for State St Round-a-bout 05/11/2016 $153.75

Sandy's Back Porch Garden Center Inc Total $153.75
Schaefer, Ron 052716 Reimb/Repairs for Damage Done by City 05/27/2016 $900.00

Schaefer, Ron Total $900.00
Schnable, Danielle 6186 Pks/Rec-Mini Camp, Theater Camp 06/13/2016 $630.00

Schnable, Danielle Total $630.00
Service Express Inc 211485 IT-Server Maintenance Agreement 05/31/2016 $3,311.70

Service Express Inc Total $3,311.70
Sherbut-Carson-Claxton LLC 8961 Swr-Lincoln Farm Lift Station Improvements 06/10/2016 $449.00

8962 Swr-Augusta/Smiley Sanitary Swr Repl 06/10/2016 $3,825.00
Sherbut-Carson-Claxton LLC Total $4,274.00

Shred-It USA LLC 9410861165 PD/EMS-Professional Shredding 05/27/2016 $93.72
Shred-It USA LLC Total $93.72

Shur Clean Carpet Care May 2016 CityHall, Depot, Pks, FD-Mat Service 06/10/2016 $204.00
Shur Clean Carpet Care Total $204.00

Simons Auto Repair Inc 87552 Pks/Rec-Fuse, Diagnose Clogged Cat Convertor, #106 05/27/2016 $75.53
Simons Auto Repair Inc Total $75.53

Sirchie Fingerprint Laboratories 256407-IN PD-Evid Bags, EZ Tape Dispenser, BioHazard Label 06/01/2016 $46.04
Sirchie Fingerprint Laboratories Total $46.04



17

689
690
691
692
693
694
695
696
697
698
699
700
701
702
703
704
705
706
707
708
709
710
711
712
713
714
715
716
717
718
719
720
721
722
723
724
725
726
727
728
729
730
731

A B C D E
Spectra Graphics Inc 29097 Pks/Rec,Sportspark-Seasonal Uniforms 06/03/2016 $313.50

29099 Pks/Rec,Sportspark-Perm Uniforms 06/03/2016 $78.00
29102 Pks/Rec-Garden Club Shirts 06/03/2016 $118.00

Spectra Graphics Inc Total $509.50
St Clair County Collector 062116A EconDev-Parcel No 03-24.0-400-018 06/16/2016 $29.88

062116B EconDev-Parcel No 04-28.0-100-008 06/16/2016 $9.92
062116C EconDev-Parcel No 04-18.0-206-001 06/16/2016 $25.78

St Clair County Collector Total $65.58
St Clair County Treasurer 2016PS2874 PD-Profile Stickers 06/01/2016 $11.02

2016RR2873 PD-Barcoded Traffic Tickets 06/11/2016 $66.28
St Clair County Treasurer Total $77.30

St Clair Service Co 11925 PD/EMS-Diesel Gold 06/07/2016 $152.04
St Clair Service Co Total $152.04

State Industrial Products Corp 97809167 WWTP-Drain Maint Program 06/01/2016 $469.00
97809171 WWTP-Treatment Program 06/01/2016 $400.00

State Industrial Products Corp Total $869.00
Stericycle Inc 4006340181 EMS-Compliance Solutions 06/01/2016 $195.54

Stericycle Inc Total $195.54
Steven Mueller Florist May 2016 Admin-Monthly Floral Charges 05/31/2016 $66.00

Steven Mueller Florist Total $66.00
Streakwave Wireless Inc 580081 8-Port Network switches 06/08/2016 $351.30

Streakwave Wireless Inc Total $351.30
SW Electric Cooperative Inc 060616 Strts-Witte Farms Lighting 06/06/2016 $389.64

SW Electric Cooperative Inc Total $389.64
Sweetwash Ltd 052616 PD,FD-Car Washes 05/26/2016 $555.00

Sweetwash Ltd Total $555.00
Taser International SI1439387 PD-Battery Pack 05/23/2016 $295.01

SI1440492 PD-Cartridge 06/03/2016 $1,161.96
Taser International Total $1,456.97

Teklab Inc 186742 WWTP-Coliform, Total-Membrane Filter 06/01/2016 $13.50
186787 WWTP-Prairie Farms BOD/TSS 06/02/2016 $2,046.00
186897 WWTP-Pet Dairy Weekly 06/06/2016 $599.20
187102 WWTP-Pet Dairy Weekly 06/13/2016 $482.31

Teklab Inc Total $3,141.01
Terminix 355379720 FD-Pest Control/528 W Hwy 50 05/12/2016 $45.00

355379721 FD-Pest Control/106 E Washington St 05/12/2016 $42.00
355379854 FD/EMS-Pest Control/102 Oak St 05/12/2016 $38.00

Terminix Total $125.00
Thieleman, Jo 132421 Reimb/Easement Recording Fees 06/10/2016 $87.75

Thieleman, Jo Total $87.75
Thomson West 834093627 WEST INFORMATION CHARGES 05/31/2016 $296.15

Thomson West Total $296.15
Thouvenot, Wade & Moerchen Inc 55352 Strts-Seven Hills Rd Sidewalk 05/31/2016 $1,600.00



18

732
733
734
735
736
737
738
739
740
741
742
743
744
745
746
747
748
749
750
751
752
753
754
755
756
757
758
759
760
761
762
763
764
765
766
767
768
769
770
771
772
773
774

A B C D E
Thouvenot, Wade & Moerchen Inc Total $1,600.00

Trane US Inc 36662167 CityHall-A/V Room AC Unit 06/02/2016 $1,984.00
Trane US Inc Total $1,984.00

TransUnion Risk and Alternative Data So  0501-053116 PD-TLOxp Charges & Credits 05/31/2016 $119.75
TransUnion Risk and Alternative Data Solutions Inc Total $119.75

Trent, William J 6217-6218 Pks/Rec-Cha Cha (Beginner/Advanced) 06/13/2016 $245.00
Trent, William J Total $245.00

Truck Centers Inc F110334886-01 Strts-A/C Control Knob 06/03/2016 $11.48
F110335896-01 Strts-Door Pull Handles 06/10/2016 $93.89

Truck Centers Inc Total $105.37
TurfWerks MI00376 Sportspark-Jacobsen Mower Parts 05/26/2016 $509.29

TurfWerks Total $509.29
Tyler Technologies 49524 Wtr/Swr-Contract Services/Shannon, Stephanie 04/21/2016 $1,477.65

49761 Wtr/Swr-Contract Services/Wheeler, Steven 04/30/2016 $1,683.61
Tyler Technologies Total $3,161.26

USA Blue Book 927453 Wtr-Dickson Chart/Franch Village 04/15/2016 $100.01
927463 Wtr-Dickson Chart/Franch Village 04/15/2016 $101.74
970861 Wtr-Chlorine Pump 06/06/2016 $1,200.08
975454 Wtr-Chlorine Injection 06/10/2016 $572.44

USA Blue Book Total $1,974.27
Utility Pipe Sales Co Inc EV045208 Wtr-Hinged Brass Saddles 05/31/2016 $2,739.50

EV045209 Wtr-Coupling, Flare Corp Plug 05/31/2016 $2,087.50
EV045318 Wtr-Meter Setters w/Ball Valve 06/07/2016 $4,478.75

Utility Pipe Sales Co Inc Total $9,305.75
Vermeer of Missouri & Illinois P69934 Wtr-Fluted Reamer, Freight 05/25/2016 $764.50

Vermeer of Missouri & Illinois Total $764.50
Vertical GeoSolutions Inc 1194 IT-GIS Analyst Support 06/06/2016 $1,200.00

Vertical GeoSolutions Inc Total $1,200.00
Warning Lites of Southern Illinois LLC 5063 Strts-Speed Limit Signs 05/26/2016 $195.30

Warning Lites of Southern Illinois LLC Total $195.30
Weil-Lombardo Trailers Inc 11917 Pks/Rec-Hitch Lock Hort Trailer 05/27/2016 $66.95

Weil-Lombardo Trailers Inc Total $66.95
Whelen Engineering Co Inc 982796 FD-Body Mount Grommet, Vertex Super-LED Split 06/01/2016 $176.58

Whelen Engineering Co Inc Total $176.58
White, Brad 0608016 Travel Reimb Request/IFSI Conference 06/08/2016 $551.68

White, Brad Total $551.68
Wild, Jeff 060616 Reimb/Airfare to EMS WOrld Expo 2016 07/06/2016 $166.98

Wild, Jeff Total $166.98
Winsupply O'Fallon IL Co 195106 01 Pool-Pump Packing 05/20/2016 $250.00

Winsupply O'Fallon IL Co Total $250.00
Wireless USA 4012665 EMS-Equipment 06/03/2016 $820.00

Wireless USA Total $820.00
Wood Bakery 28340 Admin-Cookies for Scouts 06/09/2016 $3.75



19

775
776
777
778
779
780
781
782
783
784
785
786

A B C D E
Wood Bakery Total $3.75

Woody's Municipal Supply Co 47497 Strts-Connecting Bands 05/26/2016 $33.86
Woody's Municipal Supply Co Total $33.86

Worldpoint ECC Inc 5574229 EMS-Training Manuals/Supplies 06/02/2016 $992.38
Worldpoint ECC Inc Total $992.38

Wright Express 45599713 Monthly Fuel Charges 05/31/2016 $18,075.62
Wright Express Total $18,075.62

Wunder, Dan FY17-HS FY2017 Healthy Spending Reimb 06/13/2016 $75.00
Wunder, Dan Total $75.00

Zoll Medical Corporation 23866071 EMS-Child Cuff, Adult Cuff 06/06/2016 $112.05
Zoll Medical Corporation Total $112.05
Grand Total $555,319.37


	CityCouncilAgendaCoded
	CITY COUNCIL MEETING
	I. CALL TO ORDER
	III.   ROLL CALL
	IV.   APPROVAL OF MINUTES – June 6, 2016
	A. Residents of O’Fallon – This portion of the City Council meeting is reserved for any resident wishing to address Council. The Illinois Open Meetings Act (5 ILCS 120/1) mandates NO action shall be taken on matters not listed on this agenda, but Coun...

	VII. RESOLUTIONS –
	ITEM 1 – Resolution authorizing the Mayor to sign an Illinois Department of Transportation (IDOT) local agency agreement for Federal participation for the construction of the Hinchcliffe, Schaefer and Kampmeyer Elementary School Sidewalks Project in t...

	VIII.  ORDINANCES


	Council Minutes June 6
	Item 1 - Sidewalks Staff Report
	Item 1 Sidewalks Resolution
	Item 1 - IDOT Form
	BLR 05310C-98-309-15 (3).pdf
	O'Fallon 150007000SW Location Map.pdf
	Slide Number 1

	Addendum 2 - Placeholder Appropriation Resolution.pdf
	Addendum 3 - Jurisdiction and Maintenance Agreement.pdf

	Item 2 - Fund Transfer Staff Report
	Item 2 - Fund Transfer  9-1-1
	Item 2 - Fund Transfer 9-1-1
	Item 3 - ILEAS Staff Report
	Item 3 - ILEAS Mutual Aid
	Item 3 - ILEAS Agreement
	Item 4 - Hesse Staff Report
	Item 4 - Hesse Stop Sign Ord
	Item 4 - Hesse Stop Sign Map
	Item 5 - Fezziwigs Staff Report
	Item 5 Fezziwigs Redevelopment
	Item 5 - Fezziwigs MetroInflatables Agreement
	REDEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT
	PREAMBLE
	WHEREAS, the municipality has the authority to promote health safety and welfare, including to prevent the spread of blight and deterioration and inadequate public facilities by promoting the development of and private investment in industry, busines...
	WHEREAS, the City desires to encourage the Developer to renovate the existing building for a retail business in the City of O’Fallon (which renovation is hereinafter referred to as the “Project”); and

	Item 6 - Milburn Estates Staff Report
	Item 6 - Milburn Estates 1st
	Item 6 - Milburn Estates Attachments
	Item 7 - Parkview Meadows Staff Report
	Item 7 - Parkview Meadows Phase 1
	Item 7 - Parkview Attachments
	Item 8 - Lincoln Park Staff Report
	Item 8 - Lincoln Park Villas PUD
	Item 8 - Lincoln Attachment
	Item 9 - Chapter 158 Zoning Staff Report
	Item 9 - Chapter 158 SR-3 Zoning
	Item 10 - Rules Staff Report
	Item 10  - Rules Ordinance
	Item 11 - Stop Sign Staff Report
	Item 11 - Stop Sign Ordinance
	CD Minutes June 13
	PS Minutes June 13
	PS Crossing Guards Staff Report
	PS Crossing Guard Memo with Addendums
	Warrant 6-21-16
	warrant letter memo
	MEMO
	To:   City Clerk, Phil Goodwin
	CITY OF O’FALLON

	The Mayor and the City Council of the City of O'Fallon, Illinois, hereby approve the attached list of bills and authorize the Director of Finance to forward payment on the  21st of June, 2016.  The Office of Finance is hereby authorized to borrow from...
	________________________
	Gary Graham, Mayor
	ATTEST:
	_____________________________________

	Warrant Report 6-21-16
	Sheet1



	Return to Agenda: 


